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This pricing supplement relates to the Dorsey Wright MLP Index ETNs due December 10, 2036 (the “notes”) that Bank
of Montreal may issue from time to time. The return on the notes is linked to the performance of the DWA MLP
Select™ Index (the “Index”), as described in this pricing supplement. The notes are unsecured and unsubordinated
obligations of Bank of Montreal. The notes do not guarantee any return of principal at maturity, call or upon early
redemption.

The notes may pay a quarterly coupon, as described below.  The payment at maturity is linked to the Index level,
minus the Accrued Tracking Fee (which is subtracted on a daily basis) plus the final Coupon Amount, if any.  The
payment upon a call is linked to the Index level, minus the Accrued Tracking Fee (which is subtracted on a daily
basis) plus the applicable Coupon Amount, if any.  The payment upon early redemption is linked to the Index level as
of the Redemption Measurement Date minus the Redemption Fee Amount, plus the Adjusted Coupon Amount, if
any.  Investors should be willing to forgo fixed periodic interest payments and, if the Index level declines or does not
increase in an amount at least equal to the percentage of the principal amount represented by the Accrued Tracking
Fee, less any Coupon Amounts and/or Adjusted Coupon Amount, as applicable, and the Redemption Fee Amount, if
applicable, be willing to lose some or all of their principal.

An investment in the notes involves significant risks and is not appropriate for every investor.  Investors should
regularly monitor their holdings of the notes to ensure that they remain consistent with their investment strategies. 
Any payment on the notes is subject to the credit risk of Bank of Montreal.

Issuer: Bank of Montreal
Initial
Trade
Date:

December 19, 2016

Initial
Issue Date: December 22, 2016

Term: 20 years, subject to your right to require us to redeem your notes on any Redemption Date, our call right
or our right to extend the Maturity Date, each as described below.

Maturity
Date:

The third Index Business Day following the last Index Business Day in the Final Measurement Period,
which is scheduled to be December 10, 2036.  The Maturity Date is subject to adjustment as described
herein and under “Specific Terms of the Notes — Market Disruption Events.”

Principal
Amount: $50 per note

Listing:
The notes are listed on the Nasdaq Global Market under the ticker symbol “BMLP”.  If an active secondary
market develops, we expect that investors will purchase and sell the notes primarily in this secondary
market.

Coupon
Amount:

For each note you hold on the applicable Coupon Record Date, you will receive on each Coupon Payment
Date an amount in cash equal to the Coupon Amount, if any.  As further described in “Specific Terms of
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the Notes — Coupon Payment,” the Coupon Amount will equal the sum of the cash distributions that a
hypothetical holder of the Index constituents would have been entitled to receive in the relevant period,
reduced by the Accrued Tracking Fee.  The final Coupon Amount will be included in the payment at
maturity.

Investing in the notes involves risks, including those described in the “Risk Factors” section beginning on page PS-11 of
this pricing supplement, and the “Risk Factors” section beginning on page S-1 of the prospectus supplement and on page
8 of the prospectus.
Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of
the notes or passed upon the accuracy or the adequacy of this pricing supplement, the accompanying prospectus
supplement and prospectus.  Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.
The notes will be our unsecured obligations and will not be savings accounts or deposits that are insured by the United
States Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, the Deposit Insurance Fund, the Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation
or any other governmental agency or instrumentality or other entity. The notes will not be subject to conversion into
our common shares or the common shares of any of our affiliates under subsection 39.2(2.3) of the Canada Deposit
Insurance Corporation Act (the “CDIC Act”).

BMO CAPITAL MARKETS

(cover continued on next page)
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Coupon
Payment Date:

The 15th Index Business Day following each Coupon Valuation Date, provided that the final Coupon
Payment Date will be the Maturity Date.  The first Coupon Payment Date was April 5, 2017.

Index:

The DWA MLP Select™ Index.  The Index includes 15 master limited partnerships (“MLPs”) based on
the proprietary Dorsey Wright Relative Strength Ranking Methodology.  By comparing the price
relationship between each MLP, the Index seeks to determine which MLPs are currently showing
outperformance relative to their peers within the Index universe.  At each monthly rebalancing, each
MLP is equally weighted within the Index.

Reference
Holder Value:

On the Initial Trade Date, the Reference Holder Value of each note was equal to the Principal
Amount of $50. On each subsequent Index Business Day, the Reference Holder Value of each note
will be equal to (a) the product of (i) the Reference Holder Value as of the close of the immediately
preceding Index Business Day multiplied by (ii) the Index Factor for that Index Business Day.

Indicative Note
Value:

On the Initial Trade Date, the Indicative Note Value of each note was equal to the Principal Amount
of $50.  On each subsequent Index Business Day, the Indicative Note Value of each note will be
equal to (a) the Reference Holder Value for that Index Business Day minus (b) the Accrued Tracking
Fee.

Investor Fee:

On any Index Business Day that is a date of determination, the product of (a) the Indicative Note
Value as of the close of the immediately preceding Index Business Day, (b) the Investor Fee
Percentage and (c) the quotient of (i) the number of calendar days from and including the
immediately preceding Index Business Day to such date of determination divided by (ii) 360.  The
Investor Fee will be calculated on each Index Business Day and accrue daily.

Investor Fee
Percentage: 0.85% per annum

Payment at
Maturity/Cash
Settlement
Amount:

For each note, unless earlier called or redeemed, you will receive at maturity a cash payment equal to
(a) the product of (i) the Reference Holder Value as of the close of the Index Business Day
immediately preceding the Calculation Date multiplied by (ii) the Index Factor for the last Index
Business Day in the Final Measurement Period plus (b) the final Coupon Amount minus (c) the
Accrued Tracking Fee as of such last Index Business Day, plus (d) the Stub Reference Distribution
Amount as of the last Index Business Day, if any.

Call Right:

On any Index Business Day on or after June 22, 2017 through and including the Maturity Date (the
“Call Settlement Date”), we may redeem all, but not less than all, of the issued and outstanding notes. 
To exercise our call right, we must provide notice to the holders not less than 18 calendar days prior
to the Call Settlement Date.  If we exercise our Call Right, you will receive a cash payment equal to
the Call Settlement Amount, which will be paid on the Call Settlement Date.

Call Settlement
Amount:

If we exercise our Call Right, for each note, you will receive on the Call Settlement Date a cash
payment equal to (a) the product of (i) the Reference Holder Value as of the Call Calculation Date
multiplied by (ii) the Index Factor for the last Index Business Day in the Call Measurement Period
plus (b) the Coupon Amount with respect to the Coupon Valuation Date immediately preceding the
Call Calculation Date if on the last Index Business Day in the Call Measurement Period the Coupon
Ex-Date with respect to such Coupon Amount has not yet occurred, plus (c) the Adjusted Coupon
Amount, if any, minus (d) the Accrued Tracking Fee as of such last Index Business Day plus (e) the
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Stub Reference Distribution Amount, if any, as of such last Index Business Day.

Early
Redemption:

Subject to your compliance with the procedures described under “Specific Terms of the Notes — Early
Redemption at the Option of the Holders,” upon early redemption, you will receive per note a cash
payment on the relevant Redemption Date equal to (a) Reference Holder Value as of the Redemption
Measurement Date plus (b) the Coupon Amount with respect to the Coupon Valuation Date
immediately preceding the Redemption Measurement Date if on the Redemption Measurement Date
the Coupon Ex-Date with respect to such Coupon Amount has not yet occurred, plus (c) the Adjusted
Coupon Amount, if any, minus (d) the Adjusted Tracking Fee Shortfall, if any, minus (e) the
Redemption Fee Amount.  We refer to this cash payment as the “Redemption Amount.”

Redemption
Fee Amount:

As of any Redemption Date, an amount per note in cash equal to the product of (a) 0.125% and (b) the
Indicative Note Value.

Index Factor:

On any Index Business Day, (a) the Index Closing Level on that day divided by (b) the Index Closing
Level on the immediately preceding Index Business Day, as determined by the Calculation Agent.  For
purposes of determining the Cash Settlement Amount or Call Settlement Amount, clause (a) of the
definition of Index Factor shall read “the arithmetic mean of the Index Closing Levels measured on each
Index Business Day during the Final Measurement Period or Call Measurement Period, as applicable,”
and clause (b) shall read “the Index Closing Level on the Index Business Day immediately preceding the
Calculation Date or Call Calculation Date, as applicable, in each case as determined by the Calculation
Agent.”

(cover continued on next page)
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Initial Index
Level: 883.255, which was the Index Closing Level on the Initial Trade Date.

Index Closing
Level:

On any Index Business Day, the closing level of the Index as reported on Bloomberg L.P. under the
symbol “DWAMLP <Index>”, subject to adjustment as described under “Specific Terms of the Notes —
Market Disruption Events.”

Calculation
Agent: BMO Capital Markets Corp.

Calculation
Date:

December 1, 2036, unless such day is not an Index Business Day, in which case the Calculation Date
will be the next Index Business Day.  The Calculation Date is subject to adjustment as described
under “Specific Terms of the Notes — Market Disruption Events.”

CUSIP No.: 063679104

ISIN No.: US0636791040

Additional Key
Terms: See “Summary – Additional Key Terms.”

Distribution:
The notes are not intended for purchase by any investor that is not a United States person, as that
term is defined for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and no dealer may make offers of the notes to
any such investor.

After the Initial Trade Date, we may sell from time to time a portion of the notes at market prices prevailing at the
time of sale, at prices related to market prices or at negotiated prices.  We will receive proceeds equal to 100% of the
price at which the notes are sold to the public less any commissions paid to BMO Capital Markets Corp. (“BMOCM”). 
BMOCM may charge normal commissions in connection with any purchase or sale of the notes.  Please see
“Supplemental Plan of Distribution (Conflicts of Interest)” for more information.

We may use this pricing supplement in the initial sale of the notes.  In addition, BMOCM or another of our affiliates
may use this pricing supplement in market-making transactions in the notes after their initial sale.  Unless we or our
agent informs you otherwise in the confirmation of sale or in a notice delivered at the same time as the confirmation of
sale, this pricing supplement is being used in a market-making transaction.

* This Amendment No. 3 to the pricing supplement dated December 19, 2016 (as amended, the “pricing supplement”) is
being filed principally for the purpose of reflecting the change of name of the notes to “Dorsey Wright MLP Index
ETNs due December 10, 2036.”
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You should read this pricing supplement together with the prospectus supplement dated April 27, 2017 and the
prospectus dated April 27, 2017.  This pricing supplement, together with the documents listed below, contains the
terms of the notes and supersedes all other prior or contemporaneous oral statements as well as any other written
materials including preliminary or indicative pricing terms, correspondence, trade ideas, structures for
implementation, sample structures, fact sheets, brochures or other educational materials of ours or the agent.  We urge
you to consult your investment, legal, tax, accounting and other advisers before you invest in the notes.  The contents
of any website referred to in this pricing supplement are not incorporated by reference in this pricing supplement, the
accompanying prospectus supplement or prospectus.

You may access these documents on the SEC website at www.sec.gov as follows (or if such address has changed, by
reviewing our filings for the relevant date on the SEC website):

·Prospectus supplement dated April 27, 2017:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/927971/000119312517142764/d381374d424b5.htm

·Prospectus dated April 27, 2017:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/927971/000119312517142728/d254784d424b2.htm

Our Central Index Key, or CIK, on the SEC website is 927971.  As used in this pricing supplement, “we,” “us” or “our”
refers to Bank of Montreal.

The notes described in this pricing supplement are not appropriate for all investors, and involve important legal and
tax consequences and investment risks, which should be discussed with your professional advisers.  You should be
aware that the regulations of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc., or FINRA, and the laws of certain
jurisdictions (including regulations and laws that require brokers to ensure that investments are suitable for their
customers) may limit the availability of the notes.  This pricing supplement and the accompanying prospectus
supplement and prospectus do not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy the notes in any
circumstances in which such offer or solicitation is unlawful.

ii
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SUMMARY

The following is a summary of terms of the notes, as well as a discussion of factors you should consider before
purchasing the notes.  The information in this section is qualified in its entirety by the more detailed explanations set
forth elsewhere in this pricing supplement and in the accompanying prospectus supplement and accompanying
prospectus. 

What are the notes?

The notes are senior unsecured medium-term notes issued by Bank of Montreal with a return linked to the
performance of the Index.  The Index is an equally weighted index of MLPs, ranked by relative price performance, as
measured by the Dorsey Wright Relative Strength Ranking Methodology.  The Index is a price return index.  For a
detailed description of the Index, see “The Index.”

We refer to the securities included in the Index as the “Index constituents” and the issuers of those securities as the
“constituent issuers.”

The notes do not guarantee any return of principal at, or prior to, maturity or call, or upon early redemption.  Instead,
at maturity, you will receive a cash payment equal to (a) the product of (i) the Reference Holder Value as of the close
of the Index Business Day immediately preceding the Calculation Date multiplied by (ii) the Index Factor for the last
Index Business Day in the Final Measurement Period plus (b) the final Coupon Amount minus (c) the Accrued
Tracking Fee as of such last Index Business Day, plus (d) the Stub Reference Distribution Amount as of such last
Index Business Day, if any.  We refer to this cash payment as the “Cash Settlement Amount.”  This amount will not be
less than zero.  You may lose some or all of your investment at maturity.  Because the Accrued Tracking Fee
(including any Tracking Fee Shortfall) reduces your final payment, the level of the Index will need to have increased
over the term of the notes by an amount at least equal to the percentage of the principal amount represented by the
Accrued Tracking Fee, less any Coupon Amounts and any Stub Reference Distribution Amount, in order for you to
receive an aggregate amount over the term of the notes equal to at least the principal amount of your notes.  If the
increase in the level of the Index, as measured during the Final Measurement Period, is insufficient to offset the
cumulative negative effect of the Accrued Tracking Fee, you will lose some or all of your investment at maturity. 
This loss may occur even if the Index Closing Level at any time during the Final Measurement Period is greater than
the Index Closing Level on the Initial Trade Date.

The Accrued Tracking Fee accrues on a daily basis at a rate of 0.85% per annum, applied to the Indicative Note Value
on each Index Business Day. The Indicative Note Value reflects the cumulative performance of the Index from the
Initial Trade Date of the notes. If the Indicative Note Value increases, the Accrued Tracking Fee will increase, and if
the Indicative Note Value decreases, the Accrued Tracking Fee will decrease.

For each note you hold on the applicable Coupon Record Date, you will receive on each Coupon Payment Date an
amount in cash equal to the excess, if any, of the Reference Distribution Amount, calculated as of the corresponding
Coupon Valuation Date, less the Accrued Tracking Fee, calculated as of the corresponding Coupon Valuation Date
(the “Coupon Amount”).  To the extent the Reference Distribution Amount on a Coupon Valuation Date is less than the
Accrued Tracking Fee on the corresponding Coupon Valuation Date, there will be no Coupon Amount payment made
on the corresponding Coupon Payment Date, and a Tracking Fee Shortfall, as described below, will be included in the
Accrued Tracking Fee for the next Coupon Valuation Date.  If there is a Tracking Fee Shortfall as of the last Coupon
Valuation Date, that amount will be taken into account in determining the Cash Settlement Amount.
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On any Index Business Day, the Index Factor will be calculated as (a) the Index Closing Level on that day divided by
(b) the Index Closing Level on the immediately preceding Index Business Day.  For purposes of determining the Cash
Settlement Amount or Call Settlement Amount, clause (a) of the definition of Index Business Day shall read “the
arithmetic mean of the Index Closing Levels measured on each Index Business Day during the Final Measurement
Period or Call Measurement Period, as applicable,” and clause (b) shall read “the Index Closing Level on the Index
Business Day immediately preceding the Calculation Date or Call Calculation Date, as applicable, in each case as
determined by the Calculation Agent.”

Unlike ordinary debt securities, the notes do not guarantee any return of principal at maturity or call, or upon early
redemption.  You are not guaranteed any coupon payment.

PS-1
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The notes are fully exposed to any decline in the level of the Index.  You may lose some or all of your investment if
the level of the Index declines from the Initial Trade Date to the Final Measurement Period or the Call Measurement
Period, or the applicable Redemption Measurement Date, as the case may be, or if the level of the Index does not
increase by an amount sufficient to offset the Accrued Tracking Fee and the Redemption Fee Amount, if applicable.

For a further description of how your payment at maturity or call, or upon early redemption, will be calculated, see
“Specific Terms of the Notes — Cash Settlement Amount at Maturity,” “— Call Right” and “— Early Redemption at the Option of
the Holders.”

Early Redemption

You may elect to require us to redeem your notes (subject to a minimum redemption amount of at least 50,000 notes)
on any Business Day commencing on the first Redemption Date (which was December 27, 2016) and ending on the
final Redemption Date (which will be the last scheduled Index Business Day prior to the Calculation Date or Call
Calculation Date, as applicable). If you elect to have your notes redeemed and have done so under the redemption
procedures described in “Specific Terms of the Notes —Early Redemption at the Option of the Holders — Redemption
Procedures,” you will receive a cash payment on the Redemption Date equal to the Redemption Amount, as defined
below. You must comply with the redemption procedures described below in order to redeem your notes. To satisfy
the minimum redemption amount, your broker or other financial intermediary may bundle your notes for redemption
with those of other investors to reach this minimum amount of 50,000 notes; however, there can be no assurance that
they can or will do so. We may from time to time in our sole discretion reduce this minimum requirement in whole or
in part. Any such reduction will be applied on a consistent basis for all holders of the notes at the time the reduction
becomes effective.

Upon early redemption, you will receive per note a cash payment on the relevant Redemption Date equal to (a) the
Reference Holder Value as of the Redemption Measurement Date plus (b) the Coupon Amount with respect to the
Coupon Valuation Date immediately preceding the Redemption Measurement Date if on the Redemption
Measurement Date the Coupon Ex-Date with respect to such Coupon Amount has not yet occurred, plus (c) the
Adjusted Coupon Amount, if any, minus (d) the Adjusted Tracking Fee Shortfall, if any, minus (e) the Redemption
Fee Amount.  We refer to this cash payment as the “Redemption Amount.”  This amount will not be less than zero.  You
may lose some or all of your investment upon early redemption.  Because the Adjusted Tracking Fee Shortfall, if any,
and the Redemption Fee Amount reduce your final payment, the level of the Index will need to have increased over
the term of the notes by an amount at least equal to the percentage of the principal amount represented by the Accrued
Tracking Fee and the Redemption Fee Amount, less any Coupon Amounts, and/or any Adjusted Coupon Amount, in
order for you to receive an aggregate amount over the term of the notes equal to at least the principal amount.  If the
increase in the level of the Index, as measured on the Redemption Measurement Date, is insufficient to offset such a
negative effect, you will lose some or all of your investment upon early redemption.  This loss may occur even if the
Index Closing Level on the Redemption Measurement Date is greater than the Initial Index Level.

Redemption Fee Amount:  0.125% of the Indicative Note Value.

Adjusted Coupon Amount: With respect to any applicable Redemption Measurement Date or Call Calculation Date,
as applicable, a coupon payment, if any, in an amount in cash equal to the excess, if any, of the Adjusted Reference
Distribution Amount, calculated as of the applicable Redemption Measurement Date or Call Calculation Date, as
applicable, less the Adjusted Tracking Fee, calculated as of such Redemption Measurement Date or Call Calculation
Date.
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For a detailed description of the redemption procedures applicable to an early redemption, see “Specific Terms of the
Notes —Early Redemption at the Option of the Holders — Redemption Procedures.”

PS-2
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Call Right

On any Index Business Day on or after June 22, 2017 through and including the Maturity Date (the “Call Settlement
Date”), we may at our option redeem all, but not less than all, of the issued and outstanding notes.  To exercise our Call
Right, we must provide notice to the holders of the notes not less than 18 calendar days prior to the Call Settlement
Date specified by us.  In the event we exercise this right, you will receive a cash payment equal to (a) the product of
(i) the Reference Holder Value as of the Call Calculation Date multiplied by (ii) the Index Factor for the last Index
Business Day in the Call Measurement Period plus (b) the Coupon Amount with respect to the Coupon Valuation
Date immediately preceding the Call Calculation Date if on the last Index Business Day in the Call Measurement
Period the Coupon Ex-Date with respect to such Coupon Amount has not yet occurred, plus (c) the Adjusted Coupon
Amount, if any, minus (d) the Accrued Tracking Fee as of such last Index Business Day plus (e) the Stub Reference
Distribution Amount, if any, as of such last Index Business Day.  We refer to this cash payment as the “Call Settlement
Amount.”  If we issue a call notice on any calendar day, the “Call Calculation Date” will be the last Business Day of the
week in which the call notice is issued, generally Friday, subject to a minimum five calendar day period commencing
on the date of the issuance of the call notice and ending on the related Call Calculation Date.  However, if we issue a
call notice on a Friday, the related Call Calculation Date will fall on the following Friday.

The Call Settlement Date will be the third Business Day following the last Index Business Day in the Call
Measurement Period.

Call Measurement Period: The five Index Business Days from and including the Call Calculation Date, subject to
adjustment as described under “Specific Terms of the Notes — Market Disruption Events.”

Understanding the Value of Notes

The initial offering price of the notes is determined at the inception of the notes. The initial offering price and the
intraday indicative value are not the same as the trading price, which is the price at which you may be able to sell your
notes in the secondary market, or the Redemption Amount, which is the amount that you will receive from us in the
event that you choose to have your notes repurchased by us.  An explanation of each type of valuation is set forth
below.

Initial Offering Price to the Public.  The initial offering price to the public is equal to the Principal Amount of the
notes.  The initial offering price reflects the value of the notes only on the Initial Trade Date.

Intraday Indicative Value. The intraday indicative value is meant to approximate the value of the notes at a particular
time. The term “indicative value” of the notes refers to the value at a given time equal to (i) the Reference Holder Value,
using, when calculating the Index Factor, the intraday Index value as of such time, plus (ii) assuming such time and
date is the Redemption Measurement Date, the Coupon Amount with respect to the Coupon Valuation Date if on such
Redemption Measurement Date the Coupon Ex-Date with respect to such Coupon Amount had not occurred plus (iii)
the Adjusted Coupon Amount, if any, as of such time and date.

The intraday indicative value is not the same as, and may differ from, the amount payable upon an early redemption,
call or at maturity and the trading price of the notes in the secondary market.  The intraday indicative value will be
published every 15 seconds on Bloomberg L.P. (including any successor, “Bloomberg”) under the ticker symbol
“BMLPIV <Index>” and under the ticker symbol “BMLPINAV.SG”  on Thomson Reuters (including any successor,
“Reuters”) each Index Business Day.
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Trading Price.  The market value of the notes at any given time, which we refer to as the trading price, is the price at
which you may be able to sell your notes in the secondary market, if one exists. The trading price may vary
significantly from the intraday indicative value, because the market value reflects investor supply and demand for the
notes.

PS-3
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Redemption Amount.  The Redemption Amount is the price per note that we will pay you to redeem the notes upon
your request. The Redemption Amount is calculated according to the formula set forth above. The Redemption
Amount may vary significantly from the intraday indicative value and the trading price of the notes.

Because the Redemption Amount is based on the Index Closing Level at the end of the Index Business Day after a
notice of redemption is received, you will not know the Redemption Amount you will receive at the time you elect to
request that we redeem your notes.

Ticker Symbols

The table below includes the ticker symbols under which information relating to the notes can be located.

Trading price: BMLP
Intraday indicative value: BMLPIV <Index>; BMLPINAV.SG
Intraday Index value: DWAMLP <Index>

Additional
Key Terms:

Accrued
Tracking
Fee:

(1)   The Accrued Tracking Fee with respect to the first Coupon Valuation Date is an amount equal to
the sum of the Investor Fees for each Index Business Day from and excluding the Initial Issue Date to
and including the first Coupon Valuation Date.

(2)   The Accrued Tracking Fee with respect to any Coupon Valuation Date after the first Coupon
Valuation Date is an amount equal to (a) the sum of the Investor Fees for each Index Business Day from
and excluding the immediately preceding Coupon Valuation Date to and including such Coupon
Valuation Date plus (b) the Tracking Fee Shortfall, if any, as of the immediately preceding Coupon
Valuation Date.

(3)   For the purpose of calculating the Indicative Note Value on any Index Business Day, the Accrued
Tracking Fee will be the sum of the Investor Fees for each Index Business Day from and excluding the
immediately preceding Coupon Valuation Date to and including the Index Business Day that is the date
of calculation.

(4)   The Accrued Tracking Fee as of the last Index Business Day in the Final Measurement Period is an
amount equal to (a) the sum of the Investor Fees for each Index Business Day from and excluding the
Calculation Date to and including the last Index Business Day in the Final Measurement Period plus (b)
the Tracking Fee Shortfall, if any, as of the last Coupon Valuation Date.

(5)   The Accrued Tracking Fee as of the last Index Business Day in the Call Measurement Period is an
amount equal to (a) the sum of the Investor Fees for each Index Business Day from and excluding the
Call Calculation Date to and including the last Index Business Day in the Call Measurement Period plus
(b) the Adjusted Tracking Fee Shortfall, if any.

PS-4
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Adjusted
Reference
Distribution
Amount:

As of any Redemption Measurement Date or the Call Calculation Date, as applicable, an amount equal
to the gross cash distributions that a Reference Holder would have been entitled to receive in respect of
the Index constituents held by such Reference Holder on the “record date” with respect to any Index
constituent for those cash distributions whose “ex-dividend date” occurs during the period from and
excluding the immediately preceding Coupon Valuation Date (or if the Redemption Measurement Date
occurs prior to the first Coupon Valuation Date, the period from and excluding the Initial Issue Date) to
and including such Redemption Measurement Date or Call Calculation Date.

Reference
Distribution
Amount:

(i) as of the first Coupon Valuation Date, an amount equal to the gross cash distributions that a
Reference Holder would have been entitled to receive in respect of the Index constituents held by such
Reference Holder on the “record date” with respect to any Index constituent for those cash distributions
whose “ex-dividend date” occurs during the period from and excluding the Initial Issue Date to and
including the first Coupon Valuation Date; and (ii) as of any other Coupon Valuation Date, an amount
equal to the gross cash distributions that a Reference Holder would have been entitled to receive in
respect of the Index constituents held by such Reference Holder on the “record date” with respect to any
Index constituent for those cash distributions whose “ex-dividend date” occurs during the period from and
excluding the immediately preceding Coupon Valuation Date to and including such Coupon Valuation
Date.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, with respect to a cash distribution for an Index constituent that is
scheduled to be paid prior to the applicable Coupon Ex-Date, if, and only if, the issuer of such Index
constituent fails to pay the distribution to holders of such Index constituent by the scheduled payment
date for such distribution, such distribution will be deemed to be zero for the purposes of calculating
the applicable Reference Distribution Amount.

Adjusted
Tracking Fee:

As of any Redemption Measurement Date or the Call Calculation Date, as applicable, an amount equal
to (a) the Tracking Fee Shortfall as of the immediately preceding Coupon Valuation Date plus (b) the
sum of the Investor Fees for each Index Business Day from and excluding the immediately preceding
Coupon Valuation Date (or if the Redemption Measurement Date occurs prior to the first Coupon
Valuation Date, the period from and excluding the Initial Issue Date) to and including such Redemption
Measurement Date or the Call Calculation Date.

Adjusted
Tracking Fee
Shortfall:

To the extent that the Adjusted Reference Distribution Amount, calculated on any Redemption
Measurement Date or the Call Calculation Date, as applicable, is less than the Adjusted Tracking Fee,
calculated on such Redemption Measurement Date or the Call Calculation Date, the difference between
the Adjusted Tracking Fee and the Adjusted Reference Distribution Amount.

PS-5
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Tracking Fee
Shortfall:

To the extent the Reference Distribution Amount on any Coupon Valuation Date is less than the
Accrued Tracking Fee on that Coupon Valuation Date, there will be no Coupon Amount payment
made on that Coupon Payment Date, and an amount equal to the difference between the Accrued
Tracking Fee and the Reference Distribution Amount (the “Tracking Fee Shortfall”) will be included in
the Accrued Tracking Fee for the next Coupon Valuation Date.  See “Specific Terms of the Notes —
Coupon Payment.”

Final
Measurement
Period:

The five Index Business Days from and including the Calculation Date.  The Final Measurement
Period is subject to adjustment as described under “Specific Terms of the Notes — Market Disruption
Events.”

Coupon
Valuation Date:

The 15th of March, June, September and December of each calendar year during the term of the notes
or if such date is not an Index Business Day, then the first Index Business Day following such date,
provided that the final Coupon Valuation Date will be the Calculation Date.  The first Coupon
Valuation Date was March 15, 2017.

Index Business
Day:

Any day on which the Primary Exchange and each Related Exchange are scheduled to be open for
trading.

Primary
Exchange:

With respect to each Index constituent or each component underlying a successor index, the primary
exchange or market of trading such Index constituent or such component underlying a successor
index.

Related
Exchange:

With respect to each Index constituent or each component underlying a successor index, each
exchange or quotation system where trading has a material effect (as determined by the Calculation
Agent) on the overall market for futures or options contracts relating to such Index constituent or
such component underlying a successor index.

PS-6
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Selected Risk Considerations

An investment in the notes involves risks.  Selected risks are summarized here, but we urge you to read the more
detailed explanation of risks described under “Risk Factors” beginning on page PS-11.

·

You may lose some or all of your principal — The notes are fully exposed to any decline in the level of the Index. 
Because the Accrued Tracking Fee reduces your final payment, the level of the Index, as measured by the Index
Closing Levels during the Final Measurement Period or Call Measurement Period, or the Index Closing Level on a
Redemption Measurement Date, as applicable, will need to increase by an amount at least equal to the percentage of
the Principal Amount represented by the Accrued Tracking Fee and Redemption Fee Amount, if applicable, less any
Coupon Amounts, any Stub Reference Distribution Amount and/or Adjusted Coupon Amount, as applicable, in order
for you to receive an aggregate amount over the term of the notes equal to at least the Principal Amount.  If the
increase in the level of the Index during the Final Measurement Period or Call Measurement Period, or on a
Redemption Measurement Date, is insufficient to offset the negative effect of the Accrued Tracking Fee and
Redemption Fee Amount, if applicable, less any Coupon Amounts, any Stub Reference Distribution Amount and/or
Adjusted Coupon Amount, as applicable, you will lose some or all of your investment at maturity or call, or upon
early redemption.  This loss may occur even if the Index Closing Levels during the Final Measurement Period or Call
Measurement Period, or the Index Closing Level on a Redemption Measurement Date, is greater than the Initial
Index Level.

·

Market risk — The return on the notes, which may be positive or negative, is linked to the return on the Index as
measured by the Index Factor, and which, in turn, is affected by a variety of market and economic factors, interest
rates in the markets and economic, financial, political, regulatory, judicial or other events that affect the markets
generally.

·

Credit of issuer — The notes are senior unsecured debt obligations of the issuer, Bank of Montreal, and are not, either
directly or indirectly, an obligation of any third party.  Any payment to be made on the notes, including any payment
at maturity, call or upon early redemption, depends on the ability of Bank of Montreal to satisfy its obligations as
they come due.  As a result, the actual and perceived creditworthiness of Bank of Montreal will affect the market
value, if any, of the notes prior to maturity, call or early redemption.  In addition, in the event Bank of Montreal was
to default on its obligations, you may not receive any amounts owed to you under the terms of the notes.

·Potential over-concentration in particular industries — MLPs included in the Index tend to be concentrated in the oil
and gas industries.  An investment in the notes will expose you to fluctuations in the oil and gas industries.

·

The Index has limited actual performance history — The Index was created in May 2015.  Because the Index is of
recent origin and limited actual historical performance data exists with respect to it, your investment in the notes may
involve a greater risk than investing in securities linked to one or more indices with a more established record of
performance.

·

Historical levels of the Index should not be taken as an indication of the future performance of the Index during the
term of the notes — It is impossible to predict whether the Index will rise or fall.  The actual performance of the Index
over the term of the notes, as well as the amount payable at maturity or upon early redemption or upon a call, may
bear little relation to the historical level of the Index.

·A trading market for the notes may not develop — Although the notes are listed on the Nasdaq Global Market, a trading
market for the notes may not develop.  Certain of our affiliates may engage in limited purchase and resale
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transactions in the notes, although they are not required to and may stop at any time.  We are not required to maintain
any listing of the notes on the Nasdaq Global Market or any other exchange.  In addition, we are not obliged to, and
may not, sell the full aggregate principal amount of the notes.  We may suspend or cease sales of the notes at any
time, at our discretion.  Therefore, the liquidity of the notes may be limited.

·

The intraday indicative value is not the same as the trading price of the notes in the secondary market —The
intraday indicative value of the notes is calculated by Solactive AG and published every 15 seconds on
each Index Business Day during normal trading hours on Bloomberg under the ticker symbol “BMLPIV
<Index>” and under the ticker symbol “BMLPINAV.SG” on Reuters so long as no Market Disruption Event
has occurred or is continuing and will be disseminated over the consolidated tape, or other major market
vendor.  The intraday indicative value at any time is based, in part, on the most recent Reference Holder
Value, using, when calculating the Index Factor, the intraday Index value as of such time, which could
adversely affect the value of the notes.  See “Intraday Value of the Index and the Notes — Intraday
Indicative Note Values.”  The trading price of the notes at any time is the price at which you may be able
to sell your notes in the secondary market at such time, if one exists.  The trading price of the notes at any
time may vary significantly from the intraday indicative value of such notes at such time.

PS-7
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·

Paying a premium purchase price over the intraday indicative value of the notes could lead to significant losses in the
event one sells such notes at a time when such premium is no longer present in the market place or the notes are
called — Paying a premium purchase price over the intraday indicative value of the notes could lead to significant
losses in the event one sells such notes at a time when such premium is no longer present in the market place or the
notes are called, in which case investors will receive a cash payment in an amount based on the Index Closing Levels
of the notes during the Call Measurement Period.  We may, without providing you notice or obtaining your consent,
create and issue notes in addition to those offered by this pricing supplement having the same terms and conditions as
the notes.  However, we are under no obligation to sell additional notes at any time, and we may suspend issuance of
new notes at any time and for any reason without providing you notice or obtaining your consent.  If we limit, restrict
or stop sales of additional notes, or if we subsequently resume sales of such additional notes, the price and liquidity
of the notes could be materially and adversely affected, including an increase or decline in the premium purchase
price of the notes over the intraday indicative value of the notes.  Before trading in the secondary market, you should
compare the intraday indicative value with the then-prevailing trading price of the notes.

·

Potential conflicts — We and our affiliates play a variety of roles in connection with the issuance of the notes, including
acting as an agent of the issuer for the offering of the notes, making certain calculations and determinations that may
affect the value of the notes and hedging our obligations under the notes.  Any profit in connection with such hedging
activities will be in addition to any other compensation that we and our affiliates receive for the sale of the notes,
which creates an additional incentive to sell the notes to you.  Our affiliates will, among other things, calculate the
arithmetic average of the Index Closing Levels and the Redemption Fee Amount, where applicable, make
determinations with respect to Market Disruption Events, splits and reverse splits of the notes and the replacement of
the Index with a successor index.  Any exercise by us of our Call Right could present a conflict between your interest
in the notes and our interests in determining whether to call the notes.  We have no obligation to ensure that investors
will not lose all or a portion of their investment in the notes upon a call.  In performing these activities, our economic
interests and those of our affiliates are potentially adverse to your interests as an investor in the notes.

·
Call right — We may elect to redeem all outstanding notes at any time on or after June 22, 2017, as described under
“Specific Terms of the Notes — Call Right.”  If we exercise our Call Right, the Call Settlement Amount may be less than
the Principal Amount of your notes.

·

Minimum redemption amount — You must elect to redeem at least 50,000 notes for us to repurchase your notes, unless
we determine otherwise or your broker or other financial intermediary bundles your notes for redemption with those
of other investors to reach this minimum requirement, and there can be no assurance that they can or will do so. 
Therefore, the liquidity of the notes may be limited.

·

Your redemption election is irrevocable — You will not be able to rescind your election to redeem your notes after your
redemption notice is received by us.  Accordingly, you will be exposed to market risk if the level of the Index
decreases after we receive your offer and the Redemption Amount is determined on the Redemption Measurement
Date.  You will not know the Redemption Amount at the time that you submit your irrevocable redemption notice.

·Owning the notes is not the same as owning any of the Index constituents — The return on the notes may not reflect the
return you would realize if you actually owned any of the Index constituents.

·Uncertain tax treatment — Significant aspects of the tax treatment of the notes are uncertain.  You should consult your
own tax advisor about your own tax situation.
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The notes may be a suitable investment for you if:

·      You seek an investment with a return linked to the
performance of the Index, which will provide exposure to
MLPs concentrated in the oil and gas industries.

·      You believe the level of the Index will increase during
the term of the notes by an amount sufficient to offset the
Accrued Tracking Fee and any Redemption Fee Amount,
less any Coupon Amounts, any Stub Reference
Distribution Amount and/or any Adjusted Coupon
Amount.

·      You are willing to accept the risk that you may lose
some or all of your investment.

·      You are willing to hold securities that may be
redeemed early by us, under our call right, on or after June
22, 2017.

·      You are willing to receive a lower amount of
distributions than you would if you owned the Index
constituents directly.

·      You are willing to accept the risk of fluctuations in
the energy and natural resources industries, in general, and
the risks inherent in a concentrated investment in oil and
gas MLPs, in particular.

·      You understand that the trading price of the notes at
any time may vary significantly from the intraday
indicative value of the notes at such time and that paying a
premium purchase price over the intraday indicative value
of the notes could lead to significant losses in the event
you sell the notes at a time when such premium is no
longer present in the market place or the notes are called.

·      You are willing to actively and frequently monitor
your investment in the notes.

·      You are willing to accept the risk that the price at
which you are able to sell the notes may be significantly
less than the amount you invested.

·      You do not seek a pre-determined amount of current
income from your investment.

The notes may not be a suitable investment for you if:

·      You believe that the level of the Index will decline
during the term of the notes or the level of the Index will
not increase by an amount sufficient to offset the Accrued
Tracking Fee and any Redemption Fee Amount, less any
Coupon Amounts, any Stub Reference Distribution
Amount and/or any Adjusted Coupon Amount.

·      You are not willing to accept the risk that you may
lose some or all of your investment.

·      You are not willing to hold securities that may be
redeemed early by us, under our call right, on or after June
22, 2017.

·      You are not willing to be exposed to the risk of
fluctuations in the energy and natural resources industries,
in general, and the risks inherent in a concentrated
investment in oil and gas MLPs, in particular.

·      You do not understand that the trading price of the
notes at any time may vary significantly from the intraday
indicative value of the notes at such time and that paying a
premium purchase price over the intraday indicative value
of the notes could lead to significant losses in the event you
sell the notes at a time when such premium is no longer
present in the market place or the notes are called.

·      You are not willing to actively and frequently monitor
your investment in the notes.

·      You are not willing to accept the risk that the price at
which you are able to sell the notes may be significantly
less than the amount you invested.

·      You prefer the lower risk and therefore accept the
potentially lower returns of fixed-income investments with
comparable maturities and credit ratings.

·      You seek an investment for which there will be an
active secondary market.

·      You are not comfortable with the creditworthiness
of Bank of Montreal as issuer of the notes.
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·      You are not seeking an investment for which there
will be an active secondary market.

·      You are comfortable with the creditworthiness of
Bank of Montreal, as issuer of the notes.
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About the Index

The level of the Index is calculated by Nasdaq, Inc. (the “Index Calculation Agent”) and disseminated by Nasdaq, Inc.
(“Nasdaq”) approximately every fifteen seconds (assuming the level of the Index has changed within such
fifteen-second interval) from 9:30 a.m. to 5:15 p.m., New York City time. A daily Index level is published at
approximately 4:00 p.m., New York City time, on each Exchange Business Day.  Index information, including the
Index level, is available from Bloomberg L.P. (“Bloomberg”) under the symbol “DWAMLP <Index>”.  The historical
performance of the Index is not indicative of the future performance of the Index or the level of the Index during the
Final Measurement Period or on the applicable Redemption Measurement Date or Call Calculation Date, as the case
may be.

Tax Consequences

For important information about tax consequences, please see the section entitled “Supplemental Tax Considerations.”

Conflicts of Interest

BMOCM is an affiliate of Bank of Montreal and, as such, has a “conflict of interest” in this offering within the meaning
of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. (“FINRA”) Rule 5121.  Consequently, the offering is being
conducted in compliance with the provisions of Rule 5121.

PS-10
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RISK FACTORS

Your investment in the notes will involve certain risks.  The notes are not secured debt and do not guarantee any
return of principal at, or prior to, maturity, call or upon early redemption.  As described in more detail below, the
trading price of the notes may vary considerably before the Maturity Date, due to, among other things, fluctuations in
the energy and natural resources markets in which the constituent issuers operate and other events that are difficult to
predict and beyond our control.  Investing in the notes is not equivalent to investing directly in the Index constituents
or any securities of the constituent issuers.  In addition, your investment in the notes entails other risks not associated
with an investment in conventional debt securities.  In addition to the risk factors beginning on page S-1 of the
prospectus supplement and page 8 of the prospectus, you should consider carefully the following discussion of risks
before you decide that an investment in the notes is suitable for you.

Risks Relating to the Notes Generally

The notes do not guarantee the return of your investment.

The notes may not return any of your investment.  The amount payable at maturity, call or upon early redemption, will
reflect the performance of the Index minus the Accrued Tracking Fee and, in the case of an early redemption, the
Redemption Fee Amount.  These amounts will be determined as described in this pricing supplement.  Because the
Accrued Tracking Fee and the Redemption Fee Amount, if applicable, reduce your final payment, the Index Closing
Levels, as measured during the Final Measurement Period or Call Measurement Period, or the Index Closing Level on
a Redemption Measurement Date, as applicable, will need to have increased over the term of the notes by an amount
at least equal to the percentage of the principal amount represented by the Accrued Tracking Fee, less any Coupon
Amounts, any Stub Reference Distribution Amount and/or Adjusted Coupon Amount, as applicable, and the
Redemption Fee Amount, if applicable, in order for you to receive an aggregate amount over the term of the notes
equal to at least the principal amount of your notes.  If the increase in the Index Closing Levels, as measured during
the Final Measurement Period or Call Measurement Period, or the Index Closing Level on a Redemption
Measurement Date, as applicable, is insufficient to offset the cumulative negative effect of the Accrued Tracking Fee
and the Redemption Fee Amount, if applicable, you will lose some or all of your investment at maturity, call or upon
early redemption.  This loss may occur even if the Index Closing Level during the Final Measurement Period or Call
Measurement Period, or the Index Closing Level on a Redemption Measurement Date, is greater than the Initial Index
Level.

Even if the Index Closing Levels during the Final Measurement Period or Call Measurement Period, or the Index
Closing Level on a Redemption Measurement Date, as applicable, are greater than the Initial Index Level, you may
receive less than the principal amount of your notes due to the Accrued Tracking Fee and the Redemption Fee
Amount, if applicable.

If any distributions that a Reference Holder would be entitled to receive from the Index constituents are not sufficient
to cover the Accrued Tracking Fee (equivalent to 0.85% per annum multiplied by the applicable Indicative Note
Value, accruing on a daily basis from and including the most recent Coupon Valuation Date, the Calculation Date or
the Call Calculation Date, as applicable), the amount of the Accrued Tracking Fee (including the Tracking Fee
Shortfall or the Adjusted Tracking Fee Shortfall, as applicable) will reduce the payment, if any, you will receive at
maturity, call or upon early redemption.  In addition, if you elect to require us to redeem your notes prior to maturity,
you will be charged a Redemption Fee Amount equal to 0.125% of the applicable Indicative Note Value.  If the Index
Closing Levels during the Final Measurement Period or Call Measurement Period, or the Index Closing Level on a
Redemption Measurement Date, as applicable, are insufficient to offset the cumulative negative effect of any Accrued
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Tracking Fee and any Redemption Fee Amount, if applicable, you will receive less than the principal amount of your
investment at maturity, call or upon early redemption of your notes.

The notes are subject to the credit risk of Bank of Montreal.

The notes are subject to the credit risk of Bank of Montreal, and our credit ratings and credit spreads may adversely
affect the market value of the notes.  The notes are senior unsecured debt obligations of the issuer, Bank of Montreal,
and are not, either directly or indirectly, an obligation of any third party.  Investors are dependent on Bank of
Montreal’s ability to pay all amounts due on the notes at maturity, call or upon early redemption or on any other
relevant payment dates, and therefore investors are subject to our credit risk and to changes in the market’s view of our
creditworthiness.  If we were to default on our payment obligations, you may not receive any amounts owed to you
under the notes and you could lose your entire investment.

PS-11
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Our credit ratings are an assessment of our ability to pay our obligations, including those on the notes.  Consequently,
actual or anticipated changes in our credit ratings may affect the market value of the notes.  However, because the
return on the notes is dependent upon certain factors in addition to our ability to pay our obligations on the notes, an
improvement in our credit ratings will not reduce the other investment risks related to the notes.  Therefore, an
improvement in our credit ratings may or may not have a positive effect on the market value of the notes.

The notes are subject to our Call Right, which does not allow for participation in any future performance of the Index. 
The exercise of our Call Right may adversely affect the value of, or your ability to sell, your notes.  We may call the
notes prior to the Maturity Date.

We have the right to call the notes on any Index Business Day beginning on June 22, 2017 through, and including, the
Maturity Date.  You will only be entitled to receive a payment on the relevant Call Settlement Date equal to the Call
Settlement Amount.  The Call Settlement Amount may be less than the stated principal amount of your notes.  You
will not be entitled to any further payments after the Call Date, even if the Index level increases substantially after the
Call Measurement Period.  In addition, the issuance of a notice of our election to exercise our call right may adversely
impact your ability to sell your notes, and/or the price at which you may be able to sell your notes prior to the Call
Settlement Date.  We have no obligation to ensure that investors will not lose all or a portion of their investment in the
notes pursuant to a call; consequently, a potential conflict between our interests and those of the note holders exists
with respect to our Call Right.

If we exercise our right to call the notes prior to maturity, your payment on the Call Settlement Date may be less than
the indicative value at the time we gave the notice of our election to call the notes.

As discussed above, we have the right to call the notes on any Index Business Day beginning on June 22, 2017
through, and including, the Maturity Date.  The Call Settlement Amount will be payable on the Call Settlement Date
and we will provide at least 18 calendar days’ notice prior to the Call Settlement Date of our election to exercise the
call of the notes.  The Call Settlement Amount per note will be based principally on the Index Closing Levels on each
Index Business Day during the Call Measurement Period.  The Call Measurement Period will be a period of five
consecutive Index Business Days from, and including, the Call Calculation Date.  The Call Calculation Date will be a
date specified in our call notice, subject to postponement if such date is not an Index Business Day or in the event of a
Market Disruption Event.  It is possible that the market prices of the relevant Index Constituents, and, as a result, the
Index Closing Level and the indicative value of the notes, may vary significantly between when we provide the notice
of our intent to call the notes and the Call Calculation Date, including potentially as a result of our trading activities
during this period, as described further under “We or our affiliates may have economic interests that are adverse to
those of the holders of the notes as a result of our hedging and other trading activities.”  As a result, you may receive a
Call Settlement Amount that is significantly less than the indicative value at the time of the notice of our election to
call the notes and may be less than your initial investment in the notes.

You are not guaranteed a coupon payment.

You will not receive a coupon payment on a Coupon Payment Date if the Reference Distribution Amount, calculated
as of the corresponding Coupon Valuation Date, is less than the Accrued Tracking Fee, calculated as of the
corresponding Coupon Valuation Date.  The resulting Tracking Fee Shortfall, which is the difference between the
Accrued Tracking Fee and the Reference Distribution Amount, will be included in the Accrued Tracking Fee for the
next Coupon Valuation Date.  This process will be repeated to the extent necessary until the Reference Distribution
Amount for a Coupon Valuation Date is greater than the Accrued Tracking Fee for the corresponding Coupon
Valuation Date.  The Tracking Fee Shortfall as of the final Coupon Valuation Date, if any, will be included in the
calculation of the Accrued Tracking Fee as of the last Index Business Day in the Final Measurement Period.
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Similarly, you will not receive a coupon payment on a Redemption Date or Call Settlement Date if the Adjusted
Reference Distribution Amount, calculated as of the Redemption Measurement Date or Call Calculation Date, as
applicable, is less than the Adjusted Tracking Fee and Redemption Fee Amount, calculated as of the Redemption
Measurement Date, or the Adjusted Tracking Fee calculated as of the Call Calculation Date.  The resulting Adjusted
Tracking Fee Shortfall, which is the difference between the Adjusted Tracking Fee and the Adjusted Reference
Distribution Amount, will be included in the calculation of the Redemption Amount or the Accrued Tracking Fee as
of the last Index Business Day in the Call Measurement Period, as applicable.

Because of the effect of the Tracking Fee Shortfall or the Adjusted Tracking Fee Shortfall, as applicable, you may
receive a Coupon Amount on any Coupon Payment Date, Call Settlement Date or Redemption Date that is less than
the Reference Distribution Amount or Adjusted Reference Distribution Amount, as applicable.

The Index Closing Level used to calculate the payment at maturity, call or upon a redemption may be less than the
Index Closing Level on the Maturity Date, Call Settlement Date or at other times during the term of the notes.

The Index Closing Level on the Maturity Date, Call Settlement Date or at other times during the term of the notes,
including dates near the Final Measurement Period or the Call Measurement Period, as applicable, could be higher
than any of the Index Closing Levels during the Final Measurement Period or Call Measurement Period, as applicable,
because the Index Factor is calculated based on the arithmetic mean of the Index Closing Levels measured on each
Index Business Day in the Final Measurement Period or the Call Measurement Period, as applicable.  This difference
could be particularly large if there is a significant increase in the Index Closing Level after the Final Measurement
Period or the Call Measurement Period, as applicable, or if there is a significant decrease in the Index Closing Level
around the Final Measurement Period or the Call Measurement Period, as applicable, or if there is significant volatility
in the Index Closing Levels during the term of the notes.

There are restrictions on the minimum number of notes you may request that we redeem and the dates on which you
may exercise your right to have us redeem your notes.

If you elect to require us to redeem your notes, you must request that we redeem at least 50,000 notes on any Business
Day commencing on the first Redemption Date (which was December 27, 2016) through and including the Final
Redemption Date. If you own fewer than 50,000 notes, you will not be able to elect to require us to redeem your
notes. Your request that we redeem your notes is only valid if we receive your Redemption Notice by email no later
than 2:00 p.m., New York City time, on the applicable Redemption Notice Date and a completed and signed
Redemption Confirmation by 5:00 p.m., New York City time, that same day. If we do not receive such notice and
confirmation, your redemption request will not be effective and we will not redeem your notes on the corresponding
Redemption Date.

The daily redemption feature is intended to induce arbitrageurs to counteract any trading of the notes at a premium or
discount to their indicative value.  There can be no assurance that arbitrageurs will employ the redemption feature in
this manner.

Because of the timing requirements of the Redemption Notice and the Redemption Confirmation, settlement of the
redemption will be prolonged when compared to a sale and settlement in the secondary market.  Because your request
that we redeem your notes is irrevocable, this will subject you to loss if the level of the Index decreases after we
receive your request.  Furthermore, our obligation to redeem the notes prior to maturity may be postponed upon the
occurrence of a Market Disruption Event.
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If you want to sell your notes but are unable to meet the minimum redemption requirements, you may sell your notes
into the secondary market at any time, subject to the risks described below.  A trading market for the notes may not
develop.  Also, the price you may receive for the notes in the secondary market may differ from, and may be
significantly less than, the Redemption Amount.
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You will not know the Redemption Amount at the time you elect to request that we redeem your notes.

You will not know the Redemption Amount you will receive at the time you elect to request that we redeem your
notes.  Your notice to us to redeem your notes is irrevocable and must be received by us no later than 2:00 p.m., New
York City time, on the applicable Redemption Notice Date and a completed and signed confirmation of such
redemption must be received by us no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the same day.  The Redemption
Measurement Date is the Index Business Day following the applicable Redemption Notice Date.  You will not know
the Redemption Amount until after the Redemption Measurement Date, and we will pay you the Redemption Amount,
if any, on the Redemption Date, which is the third Business Day following the applicable Redemption Measurement
Date.  As a result, you will be exposed to market risk in the event the level of the Index fluctuates after we confirm the
validity of your notice of election to exercise your right to have us redeem your notes, and prior to the relevant
Redemption Date.

You have no partnership interests in any of the constituent issuers or rights to receive any securities.

Investing in the notes is not equivalent to investing in the Index constituents or any securities of the constituent issuers
and it will not make you a holder of any partnership interest in any of the constituent issuers.  Neither you nor any
other holder or owner of the notes will have any voting rights, any right to receive distributions or any other rights
with respect to the Index constituents.  The Cash Settlement Amount, the Call Settlement Amount, or Redemption
Amount, if any, will be paid in U.S. dollars, and you will have no right to receive delivery of any interests in the Index
constituents.

Market disruptions may adversely affect your return.

The Calculation Agent may, in its sole discretion, determine that the markets have been affected in a manner that
prevents the Calculation Agent from determining the Index levels during the Final Measurement Period or the Call
Measurement Period, or on the Redemption Measurement Date, as applicable, and prevents the Calculation Agent
from calculating the amount that we are required to pay you, if any.  These events may include disruptions or
suspensions of trading in the markets as a whole.  If the Calculation Agent, in its sole discretion, determines that any
of these events prevents us or any of our affiliates from properly hedging our obligations under the notes, it is possible
that the determination of the Index Closing Level will be postponed and your return will be adversely affected. 
Moreover, if the final Averaging Date (as defined under “Specific Terms of the Notes — Market Disruption Events”) is
postponed to the last possible day and the Index Closing Level is not available on that day if such day is not an Index
Business Day, the Calculation Agent or one of its affiliates will determine the Index Closing Level on such last
possible day.  See “Specific Terms of the Notes — Market Disruption Events” for more information.

Significant aspects of the tax treatment of the notes are uncertain and may be less favorable than a direct investment in
the Index constituents.

The tax treatment of the notes is uncertain.  We do not plan to request a ruling from the Internal Revenue Service or
from any Canadian authorities regarding the tax treatment of the notes, and the Internal Revenue Service or a court
may not agree with the tax treatment described in this pricing supplement.  Although the U.S. federal income tax
treatment of any Coupon Amounts is uncertain, we intend to take the position that any such Coupon Amounts
constitute taxable ordinary income to a U.S. holder at the time received or accrued in accordance with the holder’s
regular method of accounting.

Since the Index constituents are the type of financial assets described under Section 1260 of the Internal Revenue
Code, while the matter is not entirely clear, there exists a substantial risk that an investment in the notes is a
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“constructive ownership transaction” to which Section 1260 of the Internal Revenue Code applies.  If Section 1260 of
the Internal Revenue Code applies, all or a portion of any long-term capital gain recognized by a holder in respect of
the notes will be recharacterized as ordinary income and certain interest charges may apply.  See the section entitled
“U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations—Potential Application of Section 1260 of the Internal Revenue Code” in this
pricing supplement.

The Internal Revenue Service has issued a notice indicating that it and the Treasury Department are actively
considering whether, among other issues, the holder of an instrument such as the notes should be required to accrue
ordinary income (in addition to any Coupon Amount) on a current basis.  The outcome of this process is uncertain and
could apply on a retroactive basis.
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In addition, an investment in the notes may result in a holder owing more U.S. federal income tax than would have
resulted if such holder had instead made a direct investment in the Index constituents.  In particular, the terms of the
notes will require a U.S. holder to treat the Coupon Amount as ordinary income, notwithstanding the fact that an
actual holder of the Index constituents may be allocated an amount of income that is less than the distributions it
receives, and all or a portion of such allocations may be treated as long-term capital gain.  Further, a direct investment
in the Index constituents may provide certain tax benefits or deductions that are not available to a holder of the notes.
As a result of either or both of the above, a holder of the notes could be required to pay more U.S. federal income tax
(and/or pay such tax at an earlier time) than a holder of a similar investment in the Index constituents.

Please read carefully the section entitled “Supplemental Tax Considerations” in this pricing supplement.  You should
consult your tax advisor about your own tax situation.

A 30% U.S. federal withholding tax will be withheld on any Coupon Amounts paid to non-U.S. holders and certain
additional adverse U.S. federal tax consequences may apply to non-U.S. holders that acquire the notes.

While the U.S. federal income tax treatment of the notes (including proper characterization of the Coupon Amounts
for U.S. federal income tax purposes) is uncertain, U.S. federal income tax at a 30% rate (or at a lower rate under an
applicable income tax treaty) will be withheld in respect of any Coupon Amounts (including, for the purposes of this
discussion, any Adjusted Coupon Amounts and/or Stub Reference Distribution Amounts) paid to a non-U.S. holder
unless such payments are effectively connected with the conduct by the non-U.S. holder of a trade or business in the
United States (in which case, to avoid withholding, the non-U.S. holder will be required to provide a Form W-8ECI). 
We will not pay any additional amounts in respect of such withholding.

In addition, we intend to treat all non-U.S. holders as being subject to withholding on “dividend equivalent” payments
made on the notes. We expect that the Coupon Amounts will be in excess of any potential “dividend equivalent”
payments on the notes. Therefore, we do not expect the notes to require, and we do not intend to withhold, additional
withholding tax on account of any “dividend equivalent” payments. However, although unlikely, the potential exists for
“dividend equivalent” payments on the notes to exceed the Coupon Amounts paid. If that were the case, a non-U.S.
holder of the notes may be liable for additional U.S. federal income tax equal to 30% of the difference between the
Coupon Amount and the “dividend equivalent” payment.

Additionally, the notes could be treated as “United States real property interests” under Section 897 of the Internal
Revenue Code.  If the notes were so treated, certain adverse U.S. federal income tax consequences may apply to a
non-U.S. holder upon the sale, repurchase or maturity of the notes (including treatment of any gain recognized in
respect of the notes as income effectively connected with the conduct of a U.S. trade or business and the imposition of
a 15% U.S. withholding tax on gross proceeds).

Please read carefully the section entitled “Supplemental Tax Considerations – Non-U.S. Holders” in this pricing
supplement.  You should consult your tax advisor about your own tax situation.

Risks Relating to Liquidity and the Secondary Market

The intraday indicative value and the Reference Holder Value are not the same as the closing price or any other
trading price of the notes in the secondary market.

The Reference Holder Value as of any time during an Index Business Day reflects the product of the Reference
Holder Value for the preceding Index Business Day and the Index Factor as of that Index Business Day, without any
adjustments to reflect the Investor Fee, any Accrued Tracking Fee, Coupon Amount and/or Adjusted Coupon Amount

Edgar Filing: BANK OF MONTREAL /CAN/ - Form 424B2

33



as of that time.  The intraday indicative value at a given time reflects the product of the Reference Holder Value and
the Index Factor (calculated using the intraday Index level at the time of determination instead of the Index Closing
Level from the previous Index Business Day) as of that time, with adjustments to reflect any Coupon Amount and
Adjusted Coupon Amount, if any, as of that time using the intraday Index value.  See “Intraday Value of the Index and
the Notes — Intraday Indicative Note Values.”
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The trading price of the notes at any time is the price at which you may be able to sell your notes in the secondary
market at such time, if one exists.  The trading price of the notes at any time may vary significantly from the intraday
indicative value of the notes at such time.  Paying a premium purchase price over the intraday indicative value of the
notes could lead to significant losses in the event the investor sells such notes at a time when such premium is no
longer present in the market place or the notes are called, in which case investors will receive a cash payment based on
the Index Closing Levels of such notes during the Call Measurement Period.  See “— There is no assurance that your
notes will be listed or continue to be listed on a securities exchange, and they may not have an active trading market”
below.  We may, without providing you notice or obtaining your consent, create and issue notes in addition to those
offered by this pricing supplement having the same terms and conditions as the notes.  However, we are under no
obligation to sell additional notes at any time, and we may suspend issuance of new notes at any time and for any
reason without providing you notice or obtaining your consent.  If we limit, restrict or stop sales of additional notes, or
if we subsequently resume sales of such additional notes, the price and liquidity of the notes could be materially and
adversely affected, including an increase or decline in the premium purchase price of the notes over the intraday
indicative value of the notes.  Before trading in the secondary market, you should compare the intraday indicative
value with the then-prevailing trading price of the notes.
Publication of the intraday indicative value may be delayed, particularly if the publication of the intraday Index value
is delayed.  See “Intraday Value of the Index and the Notes—Intraday Indicative Note Values.”

There is no assurance that your notes will be listed or continue to be listed on a securities exchange, and they may not
have an active trading market.

The notes are listed on the Nasdaq Global Market under the ticker symbol “BMLP.” No assurance can be given as to the
continued listing of the notes for their term or of the liquidity or trading market for those notes. There can be no
assurance that a secondary market for the notes will be maintained. We are not required to maintain any listing of the
notes any securities exchange.

If the notes are delisted, the notes will no longer trade on a national securities exchange. Trading in delisted notes, if
any, would be on an over-the-counter basis. If the notes are removed from their primary source of liquidity, it is
possible that holders may not be able to trade their notes at all. We cannot predict with certainty what effect, if any, a
delisting would have on the trading price of the notes. If a holder had paid a premium over the intraday indicative
value of the notes and wanted to sell the notes at a time when that premium has declined or is no longer present, the
investor may suffer significant losses and may be unable to sell the notes in the secondary market.

The notes could be delisted by the Nasdaq Global Market in the event that there is a material change in the Index that
causes the Index to no longer meet the Nasdaq Global Market’s listing requirements.  See “Specific Terms of the
Notes—Discontinuation of or Adjustments to the Index; Alteration of Method of Calculation.”

The liquidity of the market for the notes may vary materially over time, and may be limited if you do not hold at least
50,000 notes.

As stated on the cover of this pricing supplement, we sold a portion of the notes following the Initial Trade Date, and
the remainder of the notes may be offered and sold from time to time, through BMOCM, our affiliate, as agent, to
investors and dealers acting as principals. Certain affiliates of BMOCM may engage in limited purchase and resale
transactions in the notes, although they are not required to do so.  Also, the number of notes outstanding or held by
persons other than our affiliates could be reduced at any time due to early redemptions of the notes or due to our or
our affiliates’ purchases of notes in the secondary market.  Accordingly, the liquidity of the market for the notes could
vary materially over the term of the notes.  There may not be sufficient liquidity to enable you to sell your notes
readily and you may suffer substantial losses and/or sell your notes at prices substantially less than their intraday
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indicative value or Indicative Note Value, including being unable to sell them at all or only for a minimal price in the
secondary market.  You may elect to require us to redeem your notes, but such redemption is subject to the restrictive
conditions and procedures described in this pricing supplement, including the condition that you must request that we
redeem a minimum of 50,000 notes on any Redemption Date.
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We may sell additional notes at different prices but we are under no obligation to issue or sell additional notes at any
time, and if we do sell additional notes, we may limit or restrict such sales, and we may stop selling additional notes at
any time.

In our sole discretion, we may decide to issue and sell additional notes from time to time at a price that is higher or
lower than the stated principal amount, based on the indicative value of the notes at that time.  The price of the notes
in any subsequent sale may differ substantially (higher or lower) from the issue price paid in connection with any
other issuance of such notes.  Additionally, any notes held by us or an affiliate in inventory may be resold at
prevailing market prices.  However, we are under no obligation to issue or sell additional notes at any time, and if we
do sell additional notes, we may limit or restrict such sales, and we may stop selling additional notes at any time.  If
we start selling additional notes, we may stop selling additional notes for any reason, which could materially and
adversely affect the price and liquidity of such notes in the secondary market.

The value of the notes in the secondary market may be influenced by many unpredictable factors.

The market value of your notes may fluctuate between the date you purchase them and the relevant date of
determination.  You may also sustain a significant loss if you sell your notes in the secondary market.  Several factors,
many of which are beyond our control, will influence the market value of the notes.  We expect that, generally, the
Index level on any day will affect the value of the notes more than any other single factor.  The value of the notes may
be affected by a number of other factors that may either offset or magnify each other, including:

· the expected volatility in the Index and the prices of the Index constituents;
· the time to maturity of the notes;
· the market price and expected distributions on the Index constituents;
· interest and yield rates in the market generally;

·
supply and demand for the notes, including, but not limited to, inventory positions with BMOCM or any market
maker or other person or entity who is trading the notes (supply and demand for the notes will be affected by the total
issuance of notes, and we are under no obligation to issue additional notes to increase the supply);
· the amount of the Accrued Tracking Fee on the relevant date of determination;
· the Index constituents and changes to those Index constituents over time;
·whether the notes have been delisted from the Nasdaq Global Market;

·economic, financial, political, regulatory, judicial, military and other events that affect the Index constituents or thataffect markets generally and which may affect the Index Level; and
·our actual or perceived creditworthiness.

Some or all of these factors will influence the price you will receive if you choose to sell your notes prior to maturity.
The impact of any of the factors set forth above may enhance or offset some or all of any change resulting from
another factor or factors. If you sell the notes, you may receive significantly less than the amount that you paid for
them.

Risks Relating to Conflicts of Interest and Hedging

Our offering of the notes does not constitute an expression of our view about, or a recommendation of, the Index or
any of the Index constituents.

You should not take our offering of the notes as an expression of our views about how the Index or any of the Index
constituents will perform in the future or as a recommendation to invest (directly or indirectly, by taking a long or
short position) in the Index or any of the Index constituents, including through an investment in the notes.  As a global
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financial institution, we and our affiliates may, and often do, have positions (long, short or both) in the Index or one or
more of the Index constituents that conflict with an investment in the notes.  See “— We or our affiliates may have
economic interests that are adverse to those of the holders of the notes as a result of our hedging and other trading
activities” below and “Use of Proceeds and Hedging” in this pricing supplement for some examples of potential
conflicting positions we may have.  You should undertake an independent determination of whether an investment in
the notes is suitable for you in light of your specific investment objectives, risk tolerance and financial resources.
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We are not currently affiliated with any constituent issuer or the Index Sponsor.  However, we or our affiliates may
currently or from time to time in the future engage in business with a constituent issuer or the Index Sponsor. 
Nevertheless, neither we nor any of our affiliates independently verified the accuracy or the completeness of any
information about the Index Sponsor or any of the constituent issuers disclosed by the Index Sponsor, the Index
Calculation Agent or the constituent issuers.

We or our affiliates may have economic interests that are adverse to those of the holders of the notes as a result of our
hedging and other trading activities.

In anticipation of the sale of the notes, we expect to hedge our obligations under the notes through certain affiliates or
unaffiliated counterparties by taking positions in instruments the value of which is derived from the Index or one or
more Index constituents.  We may also adjust our hedge by, among other things, purchasing or selling instruments the
value of which is derived from the Index or one or more Index constituents at any time and from time to time, and
close out or unwind our hedge by selling any of the foregoing at any time and from time to time.  We cannot give you
any assurances that our hedging will not negatively affect the level of the Index or the performance of the notes.  See
“Use of Proceeds and Hedging” below for additional information about our hedging activities.

These hedging activities may present a conflict of interest between your interest as a holder of the notes and the
interests our affiliates have in executing, maintaining and adjusting hedge transactions.  These hedging activities could
also affect the price at which BMOCM is willing to purchase your notes in the secondary market.

Our hedging counterparties expect to make a profit.  Because hedging our obligations entails risk and may be
influenced by market forces beyond our control, this hedging may result in a profit that is more or less than expected,
or it may result in a loss.

It is possible that these hedging or trading activities could result in substantial returns for us or our affiliates while the
value of the notes declines.

Bank of Montreal or its affiliates may also engage in trading in the Index constituents and other investments relating
to the Index constituents, the constituent issuers or the Index on a regular basis as part of our general broker-dealer
and other businesses, for proprietary accounts, for other accounts under management or to facilitate transactions for
customers, including block transactions.  Any of these activities could adversely affect the market price of the Index
constituents and the Index level and, therefore, the market value of the notes.  Bank of Montreal or its affiliates may
also issue or underwrite other securities or financial or derivative instruments with returns linked or related to changes
in the performance of any constituent issuers, the Index constituents or the Index.  By introducing competing products
into the market place in this manner, Bank of Montreal or its affiliates could adversely affect the market value of the
notes.

We or our affiliates may have economic interests that are adverse to those of the holders of the notes as a result of our
business activities.

We or our affiliates may currently or from time to time engage in business with MLPs which are included in the
Index, including extending loans to, or making equity investments in, or providing advisory services to them,
including merger and acquisition advisory services.  In the course of this business, we or our affiliates may acquire
non-public information about the MLPs, and we will not disclose any such information to you.  Any prospective
purchaser of notes should undertake an independent investigation of each MLP which is included in the Index as in its
judgment is appropriate to make an informed decision with respect to an investment in the notes.

Edgar Filing: BANK OF MONTREAL /CAN/ - Form 424B2

39



Additionally, we or one of our affiliates may serve as issuer, agent or underwriter for additional issuances of other
securities or financial instruments with returns linked or related to changes in the Index level or the Index
constituents.  To the extent that we or one of our affiliates serves as issuer, agent or underwriter for such securities or
financial instruments, our or their interests with respect to such products may be adverse to those of the holders of the
notes.  By introducing competing products into the market place in this manner, we or one or more of our affiliates
could adversely affect the value of the notes.
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BMOCM and its affiliates may have published research, expressed opinions or provided recommendations that are
inconsistent with investing in or holding the notes, and may do so in the future.  Any such research, opinions or
recommendations could affect the value of the Index and of each of the Index constituents, and therefore the market
value of the notes.

BMOCM and its affiliates publish research from time to time on financial markets and other matters that may
influence the value of the notes, or express opinions or provide recommendations that are inconsistent with purchasing
or holding the notes.  BMOCM and its affiliates may have published or may publish research or other opinions that
call into question the investment view implicit in an investment in the notes.  Any research, opinions or
recommendations expressed by BMOCM or its affiliates may not be consistent with each other and may be modified
from time to time without notice.  Investors should make their own independent investigation of the merits of
investing in the notes, the Index, the constituent issuers and the Index constituents.

We or our affiliates may have economic interests that are adverse to those of the holders of the notes due to BMOCM’s
role as Calculation Agent.

BMOCM, one of our affiliates, will act as the Calculation Agent.  The Calculation Agent will make all determinations
relating to the notes, including the Index Closing Level, the Index Factor, the Coupon Amount, the Adjusted Coupon
Amount, if any, the Reference Distribution Amount, the Stub Reference Distribution Amount, if any, the Adjusted
Reference Distribution Amount, the Accrued Tracking Fee (including any Tracking Fee Shortfall and any Adjusted
Tracking Fee Shortfall), the Adjusted Tracking Fee, the Redemption Fee Amount, the Cash Settlement Amount, if
any, that we will pay you at maturity, the Coupon Ex-Dates, the Coupon Record Dates, and the Redemption Amount,
if any, that we will pay you upon early redemption, if applicable.  The Calculation Agent will also be responsible for
determining whether a Market Disruption Event has occurred, whether the Index has been discontinued and whether
there has been a material change in the Index.  In performing these duties, BMOCM may have interests adverse to the
interests of the holders of the notes, which may affect your return on the notes, particularly where BMOCM, as the
Calculation Agent, is entitled to exercise discretion.

Risks Relating to the Index

Dorsey Wright Associates, LLC (“DWA” or the “Index Sponsor”) and the Index Calculation Agent may adjust the Index
in a way that may affect its level, and neither the Index Sponsor nor Index Calculation Agent has any obligation to
consider your interests.

Nasdaq, as the Index Calculation Agent, is responsible for calculating and maintaining the Index in consultation with
the Index Sponsor.  The Index Sponsor and the Index Calculation Agent can add, delete or substitute the Index
constituents or make other methodological changes that could change the Index level.  You should realize that the
changing of Index constituents may affect the Index, as a newly added equity security may perform significantly
better or worse than the Index constituent or constituents it replaces.  Additionally, the Index Calculation Agent may
alter, discontinue or suspend calculation or dissemination of the Index.  Any of these actions could adversely affect
the value of the notes.  Neither the Index Sponsor nor the Index Calculation Agent has any obligation to consider your
interests in calculating or revising the Index.  See “The Index.”

We and our affiliates have no affiliation with the Index Sponsor or the Index Calculation Agent and are not
responsible for any of their public disclosure of information.

We and our affiliates are not affiliated with the Index Sponsor (except for licensing arrangements discussed under “The
Index — License Agreement”) and have no ability to control or predict its actions, including any errors in or
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discontinuation of public disclosure regarding methods or policies relating to the calculation of the Index.  If the Index
Sponsor discontinues or suspends the calculation of the Index, it may become difficult to determine the market value
of the notes and the payment at maturity, call or upon early redemption.  The Calculation Agent may designate a
successor index in its sole discretion.  If the Calculation Agent determines in its sole discretion that no successor index
comparable to the Index exists, the payment you receive at maturity, call or upon early redemption will be determined
by the Calculation Agent in its sole discretion.  See “Specific Terms of the Notes — Market Disruption Events” and “—
Calculation Agent.”  The Index Sponsor is not involved in the offer of the notes in any way and has no obligation to
consider your interest as an owner of the notes in taking any actions that might affect the market value of your notes.
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Neither the Index Calculation Agent nor the Index Sponsor is involved in the offering of the notes in any way and
neither of them have any obligation of any sort with respect to your notes.  We are not affiliated with the Index
Calculation Agent and it does not have any obligation to take your interests into consideration for any reason,
including when taking any actions that might affect the value of the notes.

We have derived the information about the Index Sponsor and the Index from publicly available information, without
independent verification.  Neither we nor any of our affiliates have undertaken any independent review of the publicly
available information about the Index Sponsor or the Index contained in this pricing supplement.  You, as an investor
in the notes, should make your own independent investigation into the Index Sponsor and the Index.

The Index Calculation Agent may, in its sole discretion, discontinue the public disclosure of the intraday Index value
and the end-of-day closing value of the Index.

The Index Calculation Agent is not under any obligation to continue to calculate the intraday Index value and
end-of-day official closing value of the Index, or to calculate similar values for any successor index.  If the Index
Calculation Agent discontinues such public disclosure, we may not be able to provide the intraday indicative values
related to the Index or the intraday indicative value of the notes.

An Index constituent may be replaced upon the occurrence of certain adverse events.

An exchange may delist an Index constituent.  Procedures have been established by the Index Sponsor to address such
an event.  Because there are only 15 Index constituents, there can be no assurance that the replacement or delisting of
the Index constituents, or any other force majeure event, will not have an adverse or distortive effect on the Index
level or the manner in which it is calculated and, therefore, may have any adverse impact on the value of the notes. 
An Index constituent may also be removed from the Index, as described under “The Index — Index Maintenance.”

The Index is based on a proprietary ranking methodology, which may not rank the constituent issuers in the same
manner as would other index providers or market participants.

The Dorsey Wright Relative Strength Ranking Methodology, which is summarized in “The Index,” is a proprietary
methodology that seeks to rank the constituent issuers by “relative strength,” based on the trading price of the Index
constituents, as measured over time.  Other index providers or market participants may not agree with that method, or
view it as the best way to rank MLPs.  Consequently, at any point in time, the Index constituents may not align with
an investor’s expectation of which MLPs should be included in the Index.  This methodology selects the Index
constituents solely through a review of their stock prices, as described in more detail below.  Factors such as earnings
performance and many other types of information that securities analysts and market professionals often use to make
investment decisions are not used in the construction of the Index.  The methodology may not be successful, and the
level of the Index may decrease over the term of the notes, even if the prices of securities of issuers in the relevant
industry generally increase.

The historical performance of the Index is not an indication of its future performance.

The historical performance of the Index should not be taken as an indication of its future performance.  While the
trading prices of the Index constituents will determine the Index level, it is impossible to predict whether the Index
level will fall or rise.  Trading prices of the Index constituents will be influenced by the complex and interrelated
economic, financial, regulatory, geographic, judicial, tax, political and other factors that can affect the capital markets
generally and the equity trading markets on which the Index constituents are traded, and by various circumstances that
can influence the levels of the Index constituents.
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The Index has limited actual historical information.

The Index was created in May 2015.  Because the Index is of recent origin and limited actual historical performance
data exists with respect to it, your investment in the notes may involve a greater risk than investing in securities linked
to one or more indices with a more established record of performance.

We are not currently affiliated with any of the constituent issuers.

We are not currently affiliated with any of the constituent issuers.  As a result, we have no ability, nor expect to have
the ability in the future, to control the actions of such constituent issuers, including actions that could affect the value
of the Index constituents or the value of your notes, and we are not responsible for any disclosure made by any other
company.  None of the money you pay us will go to any of the constituent issuers represented in the Index and none of
the constituent issuers will be involved in the offering of the notes in any way.  The constituent issuers will not have
any obligation to consider your interests as a holder of the notes in taking any corporate actions that might affect the
value of your notes.

In the event we become affiliated with any of the constituent issuers, we will have no obligation to consider your
interests as a holder of the notes in taking any action with respect to such constituent issuer that might affect the value
of your notes.

The constituent issuers are concentrated in the oil and gas industries.

As of the date of this pricing supplement, the constituent issuers are companies whose primary lines of business are
directly associated with the oil and gas sector.  The constituent issuers in the oil and gas industries are significantly
affected by a number of factors including:

·worldwide and domestic supplies of, and demand for, crude oil, natural gas, natural gas liquids, hydrocarbon productsand refined products;
·regulatory changes affecting pipeline fees and other regulatory fees in the energy sector;
·changes in the relative prices of competing energy products;

· the impact of environmental laws and regulations and technological changes affecting the cost of producing andprocessing, and the demand for, energy products;

· decreased supply of hydrocarbon products available to be processed due to fewer discoveries of new
hydrocarbon reserves, short- or long-term supply disruptions or otherwise;

·risks of regulatory actions and/or litigation, including as a result of leaks, explosions or other accidents relating toenergy products;
·changes in tax or other laws affecting master limited partnerships generally;

·uncertainty or instability resulting from an escalation or additional outbreak of armed hostilities or further acts ofterrorism in the United States, or elsewhere; and

· general economic and geopolitical conditions in the United States and
worldwide.

These or other factors or the absence of such factors could cause a downturn in the oil and gas industries generally or
regionally and could cause the value of some or all of the Index constituents to decline during the term of the notes.

Oil and gas MLP market risks may affect the trading value of the notes and the amount you will receive at maturity.
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We expect that the Index level will fluctuate in accordance with changes in the financial condition of the constituent
issuers and certain other factors.  The financial condition of the constituent issuers may become impaired or the
general condition of the oil and gas MLP market may deteriorate, either of which may cause a decrease in the Index
level and thus in the value of the notes.  The notes are susceptible to general market fluctuations and to volatile
increases and decreases in value, as market confidence in and perceptions regarding the constituent issuers change. 
Investor perceptions of the constituent issuers are based on various and unpredictable factors, including expectations
regarding government, economic, monetary, tax and fiscal policies, inflation and interest rates, economic expansion or
contraction, and global or regional political, economic, military and banking crises.  The level of the Index is expected
to fluctuate until the Maturity Date.
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HYPOTHETICAL EXAMPLES

Hypothetical Coupon Amount Calculation

The following table illustrates the hypothetical Coupon Amount payable on each quarterly Coupon Payment Date over
a hypothetical period of five quarters.  Each of the hypothetical Coupon Amounts set forth below is for illustrative
purposes only and may not be the actual Coupon Amount payable to a purchaser of the notes on any Coupon Payment
Date.  The actual Coupon Amount payable on any Coupon Payment Date will be determined by reference to the
Reference Distribution Amount calculated as of the corresponding Coupon Valuation Date and the Accrued Tracking
Fee (including any Tracking Fee Shortfall) calculated as of the corresponding Coupon Valuation Date, and may be
substantially different from any amounts set forth below.  The numbers appearing in the following table and examples
have been rounded for ease of analysis.

Quarter  Indicative
Note Value

Reference
Distribution
Amount as of the
applicable Coupon
Valuation Date

Accrued Tracking
Fee (excluding
Tracking Fee
Shortfall accrued
from Previous
Quarter) as of the
applicable Coupon
Valuation Date*

Accrued Tracking Fee
(including Tracking Fee
Shortfall accrued from
Previous Quarter) as of
the applicable Coupon
Valuation Date*

Coupon
Amount

Tracking Fee
Shortfall for
the Following
Quarter

Quarter 1 $50.00 $0.420 $0.1063 $0.1063 $0.3138 $0.0000

Quarter 2 $53.00 $0.0120 $0.1126 $0.1126 $0.0000 $0.1006

Quarter 3 $56.50 $0.5000 $0.1201 $0.2207 $0.2793 $0.0000

Quarter 4 $47.25 $0.2850 $0.1004 $0.1004 $0.1846 $0.0000

Quarter 5 $45.45 $0.0000 $0.0966 $0.0966 $0.0000 $0.0966

* Assuming that the total number of calendar days in each quarter is 90.
For additional information and key terms related to the Coupon Amount, please see “Specific Terms of the Notes —
Coupon Payment.”

Hypothetical Payment at Maturity or Call, or upon Early Redemption

The following examples illustrate how the notes would perform at maturity or call, or upon early redemption, in
hypothetical circumstances.  We have included examples in which the Index level increases at a constant rate of
7.52% per year through maturity (Example 1), as well as examples in which the Index level decreases at a constant
rate of 2.57% per year through maturity (Example 2).  In addition, Example 3 shows the Index level increasing by 6%
per year for the first 10 years and then decreasing by 5% per year for the next 10 years, whereas Example 4 shows the
reverse scenario of the Index level decreasing by 6% per year for the first 10 years, and then increasing by 5% per
year for the next 10 years.  For ease of analysis and presentation, the following examples assume that the term of the
notes is 20 years, no Coupon Amount was paid during the term of the notes, the Reference Distribution Amount for
each applicable period is zero, no Stub Reference Distribution Amount will be paid at maturity or call and no
Adjusted Coupon Amount will be paid upon call or early redemption.  These examples highlight the impact of the

Edgar Filing: BANK OF MONTREAL /CAN/ - Form 424B2

47



Accrued Tracking Fee on the payment at maturity or call, or upon early redemption, under different circumstances. 
Because the Accrued Tracking Fee takes into account the performance of the Index, the absolute level of the Accrued
Tracking Fee is dependent on the path taken by the Index level to arrive at its ending level.  The figures in these
examples have been rounded for convenience.  The Cash Settlement Amount figures for year 20 are as of the
hypothetical Calculation Date, and given the indicated assumptions, a holder will receive a payment at maturity or
call, or upon early redemption, in the indicated amount, according to the indicated formula.
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Example 1:  The Index level increases at a constant rate of 7.52% per year through maturity.

Assumptions
Investor Fee 0.85% per annum
Days 360
Principal Amount $50.00
Initial Index Level 883.255
Annual Index Return 7.52%
Cumulative Index Return 326.37%

YearIndex Level
Index Total
Return
Percentage

Average
Yearly Index
Factor

Yearly
Investor Fee

Cumulative
Investor Fee

Indicative Note
Value

A B C D E F G
B/Initial
Index Level

(1+Index
Return)

Indicative
Note Value
times
Investor Fee
Percentage

Total of E

0 883.255 0.00% $0.0000 $0.000 $50.00
1 949.676 7.52% 1.0752 $0.4250 $0.425 $53.34
2 1,021.091 15.61% 1.0752 $0.4533 $0.878 $56.89
3 1,097.877 24.30% 1.0752 $0.4836 $1.362 $60.69
4 1,180.438 33.65% 1.0752 $0.5158 $1.878 $64.74
5 1,269.207 43.70% 1.0752 $0.5502 $2.428 $69.05
6 1,364.651 54.50% 1.0752 $0.5869 $3.015 $73.66
7 1,467.273 66.12% 1.0752 $0.6261 $3.641 $78.57
8 1,577.612 78.61% 1.0752 $0.6679 $4.309 $83.81
9 1,696.248 92.05% 1.0752 $0.7124 $5.021 $89.40
10 1,823.806 106.49% 1.0752 $0.7599 $5.781 $95.37
11 1,960.956 122.01% 1.0752 $0.8106 $6.592 $101.73
12 2,108.420 138.71% 1.0752 $0.8647 $7.457 $108.51
13 2,266.973 156.66% 1.0752 $0.9224 $8.379 $115.75
14 2,437.450 175.96% 1.0752 $0.9839 $9.363 $123.47
15 2,620.746 196.71% 1.0752 $1.0495 $10.412 $131.71
16 2,817.826 219.03% 1.0752 $1.1195 $11.532 $140.49
17 3,029.727 243.02% 1.0752 $1.1942 $12.726 $149.86
18 3,257.562 268.81% 1.0752 $1.2738 $14.000 $159.86
19 3,502.531 296.55% 1.0752 $1.3588 $15.359 $170.52
20 3,765.921 326.37% 1.0752 $1.4494 $16.808 $181.89

Annualized Index Return 7.52%
Annual Note Total Return 6.67%
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Example 2:  The Index level decreases at a constant rate of 2.57% per year through maturity.

Assumptions
Investor Fee 0.85% per annum
Days 360
Principal Amount $50.00
Initial Index Level 883.255
Annual Index Return -2.57%
Cumulative Index Return -40.59%

YearIndexLevel

Index
Total
Return
Percentage

Average
Yearly Index
Factor

Yearly
Investor Fee

Cumulative
Investor Fee

Indicative Note
Value

A B C D E F G
B/Initial
Index
Level

(1+Index
Return)

Indicative
Note Value
times Investor
Fee
Percentage

Total of E

0 883.2550.00% $0.0000 $0.000 $50.00
1 860.555-2.57% 0.9743 $0.4250 $0.425 $48.29
2 838.439-5.07% 0.9743 $0.4105 $0.835 $46.64
3 816.891-7.51% 0.9743 $0.3964 $1.232 $45.04
4 795.897-9.89% 0.9743 $0.3829 $1.615 $43.50
5 775.443-12.21% 0.9743 $0.3698 $1.985 $42.02
6 755.514-14.46% 0.9743 $0.3571 $2.342 $40.58
7 736.097-16.66% 0.9743 $0.3449 $2.687 $39.19
8 717.179-18.80% 0.9743 $0.3331 $3.020 $37.85
9 698.748-20.89% 0.9743 $0.3217 $3.341 $36.56
10 680.790-22.92% 0.9743 $0.3107 $3.652 $35.31
11 663.294-24.90% 0.9743 $0.3001 $3.952 $34.10
12 646.247-26.83% 0.9743 $0.2898 $4.242 $32.93
13 629.638-28.71% 0.9743 $0.2799 $4.522 $31.81
14 613.457-30.55% 0.9743 $0.2703 $4.792 $30.72
15 597.691-32.33% 0.9743 $0.2611 $5.053 $29.67
16 582.330-34.07% 0.9743 $0.2522 $5.306 $28.65
17 567.364-35.76% 0.9743 $0.2435 $5.549 $27.67
18 552.783-37.42% 0.9743 $0.2352 $5.784 $26.73
19 538.577-39.02% 0.9743 $0.2272 $6.012 $25.81
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20 524.735-40.59% 0.9743 $0.2194 $6.231 $24.93

Annualized Index Return -2.57%
Annual Note Total Return -3.42%
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Example 3:  The Index level increases by 6% per year for the first 10 years, then decreases by 5% per year for the next
10 years.

Assumptions
Investor Fee 0.85% per annum
Days 360
Principal Amount $50.00
Initial Index Level 883.255
Annual Index Return (0-10) 6.00%
Annual Index Return (11-20) -5.00%
Cumulative Index Return 7.22%

YearIndexLevel

Index Total
Return
Percentage

Average
Yearly Index
Factor

Yearly Investor
Fee

Cumulative
Investor Fee

Indicative Note
Value

A B C D E F G
B/Initial Index
Level

(1+Index
Return)

Indicative Note
Value times
Investor Fee
Percentage

Total of E

0 883.255 0.00% $0.0000 $0.000 $50.00
1 936.250 6.00% 1.0600 $0.4250 $0.425 $52.58
2 992.425 12.36% 1.0600 $0.4469 $0.872 $55.28
3 1,051.97119.10% 1.0600 $0.4699 $1.342 $58.13
4 1,115.08926.25% 1.0600 $0.4941 $1.836 $61.12
5 1,181.99433.82% 1.0600 $0.5195 $2.355 $64.27
6 1,252.91441.85% 1.0600 $0.5463 $2.902 $67.58
7 1,328.08950.36% 1.0600 $0.5744 $3.476 $71.06
8 1,407.77459.38% 1.0600 $0.6040 $4.080 $74.72
9 1,492.24168.95% 1.0600 $0.6351 $4.715 $78.57
10 1,581.77579.08% 1.0600 $0.6678 $5.383 $82.62
11 1,502.68670.13% 0.9500 $0.7022 $6.085 $77.78
12 1,427.55261.62% 0.9500 $0.6612 $6.747 $73.23
13 1,356.17453.54% 0.9500 $0.6225 $7.369 $68.95
14 1,288.36645.87% 0.9500 $0.5861 $7.955 $64.91
15 1,223.94738.57% 0.9500 $0.5518 $8.507 $61.12
16 1,162.75031.64% 0.9500 $0.5195 $9.026 $57.54
17 1,104.61325.06% 0.9500 $0.4891 $9.515 $54.18
18 1,049.38218.81% 0.9500 $0.4605 $9.976 $51.01

Edgar Filing: BANK OF MONTREAL /CAN/ - Form 424B2

52



19 996.913 12.87% 0.9500 $0.4336 $10.410 $48.02
20 947.067 7.22% 0.9500 $0.4082 $10.818 $45.21

Annualized Index Return 0.35%
Annual Note Total Return -0.50%
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Example 4:  The Index level decreases by 6% per year for the first 10 years, then increases by 5% per year for the next
10 years.

Assumptions
Investor Fee 0.85% per annum
Days 360
Principal Amount $50.00
Initial Index Level 883.255
Annual Index Return (0-10) -6.00%
Annual Index Return (11-20) 5.00%
Cumulative Index Return -12.27%

YearIndexLevel

Index Total
Return
Percentage

Average Yearly
Index Factor

Yearly
Investor Fee

Cumulative
Investor Fee

Indicative Note
Value

A B C D E F G
B/Initial
Index Level

(1+Index
Return)

Indicative Note
Value times
Investor Fee
Percentage

Total of E

0 883.2550.00% $0.0000 $0.000 $50.00
1 830.260-6.00% 0.9400 $0.4250 $0.425 $46.58
2 780.444-11.64% 0.9400 $0.3959 $0.821 $43.38
3 733.617-16.94% 0.9400 $0.3688 $1.190 $40.41
4 689.600-21.93% 0.9400 $0.3435 $1.533 $37.64
5 648.224-26.61% 0.9400 $0.3200 $1.853 $35.07
6 609.331-31.01% 0.9400 $0.2981 $2.151 $32.66
7 572.771-35.15% 0.9400 $0.2776 $2.429 $30.43
8 538.405-39.04% 0.9400 $0.2586 $2.687 $28.34
9 506.101-42.70% 0.9400 $0.2409 $2.928 $26.40
10 475.734-46.14% 0.9400 $0.2244 $3.153 $24.59
11 499.521-43.45% 1.0500 $0.2090 $3.362 $25.61
12 524.497-40.62% 1.0500 $0.2177 $3.580 $26.68
13 550.722-37.65% 1.0500 $0.2267 $3.806 $27.78
14 578.258-34.53% 1.0500 $0.2362 $4.042 $28.94
15 607.171-31.26% 1.0500 $0.2460 $4.288 $30.14
16 637.530-27.82% 1.0500 $0.2562 $4.545 $31.39
17 669.406-24.21% 1.0500 $0.2668 $4.811 $32.69
18 702.877-20.42% 1.0500 $0.2779 $5.089 $34.05
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19 738.020-16.44% 1.0500 $0.2894 $5.379 $35.46
20 774.921-12.27% 1.0500 $0.3014 $5.680 $36.93

Annualized Index Return -0.65%
Annual Note Total Return -1.50%
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Hypothetical Examples

You may receive Coupon Amounts during the term of the notes, a Stub Reference Distribution Amount at maturity or
call, or an Adjusted Coupon Amount upon call or early redemption.  The hypothetical returns displayed in all of the
examples above do not reflect any Coupon Amounts you may be entitled to receive during the term of the notes, any
Stub Reference Distribution Amount you may be entitled to receive at maturity or call, or any Adjusted Coupon
Amount you may be entitled to receive upon call or early redemption.  If any Coupon Amounts are paid during the
term of the notes, any Stub Reference Distribution Amount is paid upon maturity or call, or any Adjusted Coupon
Amount is payable upon call or early redemption, the hypothetical Cash Settlement Amounts, Call Settlement
Amounts or Redemption Amounts displayed above would have been higher (as a portion of the Accrued Tracking Fee
would have been offset in calculating the Coupon Amounts or Adjusted Coupon Amount and/or the Cash Settlement
Amounts or Call Settlement Amounts would have been increased by the Stub Reference Distribution Amount).

We cannot predict the actual Index level on any Index Business Day or the market value of your notes, nor can we
predict the relationship between the Index level and the market value of your notes at any time prior to the Maturity
Date.  The actual amount that a holder of the notes will receive at maturity or call, or upon early redemption, as the
case may be, and the rate of return on the notes will depend on the actual Index Closing Levels during the Final
Measurement Period or Call Measurement Period, or the Index Closing Level on a Redemption Measurement Date, as
applicable, the Accrued Tracking Fee and any Redemption Fee Amount and whether any Coupon Amount is paid
during the term of the notes, any Stub Reference Distribution Amount is payable at maturity or call or any Adjusted
Coupon Amount is payable upon call or early redemption.  Moreover, the assumptions on which the hypothetical
returns are based are purely for illustrative purposes.  Consequently, the amount, in cash, to be paid in respect of your
notes, if any, on the Maturity Date, Call Settlement Date or the relevant Redemption Date, as applicable, may be very
different from the information reflected in the tables above.  The hypothetical examples above are provided for
purposes of information only.

The hypothetical examples are not indicative of the future performance of the Index on any Index Business Day, the
Index Closing Levels during the Final Measurement Period or Call Measurement Period, or the Index Closing Level
on a Redemption Measurement Date, as applicable, or what the value of your notes may be.  Fluctuations in the
hypothetical examples may be greater or less than fluctuations experienced by the holders of the notes.  The
information shown above is for illustrative purposes only and does not represent the actual future performance of the
notes.
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SPECIFIC TERMS OF THE NOTES

In this section, references to “holders” mean those who own the notes registered in their own names, on the books that
we or the trustee maintains for this purpose, and not those who own beneficial interests in the notes registered in street
name or in the notes issued in book-entry form through The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) or another depositary. 
Owners of beneficial interests in the notes should read the section entitled “Description of Debt Securities We May
Offer — Legal Ownership and Book-Entry Issuance” in the accompanying prospectus.

The notes are part of a series of debt securities entitled “Senior Medium-Term Notes, Series C” that we may issue from
time to time under the indenture more particularly described in the accompanying prospectus supplement. This pricing
supplement summarizes specific financial and other terms that apply to the notes. Terms that apply generally to all
Senior Medium-Term Notes, Series C are described in “Description of the Notes We May Offer” in the accompanying
prospectus supplement and “Description of Debt Securities We May Offer” in the accompanying prospectus. The terms
described in this document supplement those described in the accompanying prospectus supplement and prospectus
and, if the terms described here are inconsistent with those described there, the terms described here are controlling.

The notes are issued under our senior indenture dated as of January 25, 2010 between us and Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association, as trustee.

Please note that the information about the price to the public and the net proceeds to Bank of Montreal on the front
cover of this prospectus supplement relates only to the initial sale of the notes.  If you have purchased the notes in a
secondary market transaction after the initial sale, information about the price and date of sale to you will be provided
in a separate confirmation of sale.

We or our affiliates may, at any time and from time to time, purchase outstanding notes in the open market, by private
agreement or in other transactions.

Coupon Payment

For each note you hold on the applicable Coupon Record Date, you will receive on each Coupon Payment Date an
amount in cash equal to the excess, if any, of the Reference Distribution Amount less the Accrued Tracking Fee, each
calculated as of the corresponding Coupon Valuation Date (the “Coupon Amount”).

To the extent the Reference Distribution Amount on any Coupon Valuation Date is less than the Accrued Tracking
Fee on that Coupon Valuation Date, there will be no Coupon Amount payment made on that Coupon Payment Date,
and an amount equal to the difference between the Accrued Tracking Fee and the Reference Distribution Amount (the
“Tracking Fee Shortfall”) will be included in the Accrued Tracking Fee for the next Coupon Valuation Date.  This
process will be repeated to the extent necessary until the Reference Distribution Amount for a Coupon Valuation Date
is greater than the Accrued Tracking Fee for the corresponding Coupon Valuation Date.  The final Coupon Amount
will be included in the Cash Settlement Amount.

The “Coupon Payment Date” means the 15th Index Business Day following each Coupon Valuation Date, provided that
the final Coupon Payment Date will be the Maturity Date, subject to adjustment as described herein.  The first Coupon
Payment Date was April 5, 2017.

The “Coupon Record Date” means the ninth Index Business Day following each Coupon Valuation Date.
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The “Coupon Ex-Date,” with respect to a Coupon Amount, means the first Exchange Business Day on which the notes
trade without the right to receive that Coupon Amount.  Under current Nasdaq practice, the Coupon Ex-Date will
generally be the first Exchange Business Day prior to the applicable Coupon Record Date.

The “Coupon Valuation Date” means the 15th of March, June, September and December of each calendar year during
the term of the notes or if that date is not an Index Business Day, then the first Index Business Day following that
date.  However, the final Coupon Valuation Date will be the Calculation Date, subject to adjustment as described
herein.  The first Coupon Valuation Date was March 15, 2017.
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The “Reference Distribution Amount” means (i) as of the first Coupon Valuation Date, an amount equal to the gross
cash distributions that a Reference Holder would have been entitled to receive in respect of the Index constituents held
by such Reference Holder on the “record date” with respect to any Index constituent for those cash distributions whose
“ex-dividend date” occurs during the period from and excluding the Initial Issue Date to and including the first Coupon
Valuation Date; and (ii) as of any other Coupon Valuation Date, an amount equal to the gross cash distributions that a
Reference Holder would have been entitled to receive in respect of the Index constituents held by such Reference
Holder on the “record date” with respect to any Index constituent for those cash distributions whose “ex-dividend date”
occurs during the period from and excluding the immediately preceding Coupon Valuation Date to and including such
Coupon Valuation Date.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, with respect to cash distributions for an Index constituent that is scheduled to be paid
prior to the applicable Coupon Ex-Date, if, and only if, the issuer of such Index constituent fails to pay the distribution
to holders of such Index constituent by the scheduled payment date for such distribution, such distribution will be
deemed to be zero for the purposes of calculating the applicable Reference Distribution Amount.

The “Reference Holder” is, as of any date of determination, a hypothetical holder of a number of units of each Index
constituent equal to (i) the published unit weighting of that Index constituent as of that date, divided by (ii) the product
of (a) the Index Divisor as of that date and (b) the Initial Index Level divided by 50.

The “Index Divisor,” as of any date of determination, is the divisor used by the Index Calculation Agent to calculate the
level of the Index, as further described under “The Index — Calculation of the Index — Divisor Adjustments” herein.

“Record date” means, with respect to a distribution on an Index constituent, the date on which a holder of the Index
constituent must be registered as a unitholder of such Index constituent in order to be entitled to receive such
distribution.

“Ex-dividend date” means, with respect to a distribution on an Index constituent, the first Index Business Day on which
transactions in such Index constituent trade on the applicable Primary Exchange without the right to receive such
distribution.

The “Accrued Tracking Fee” is:

(1)with respect to the first Coupon Valuation Date, an amount equal to the sum of the Investor Fees for each IndexBusiness Day from and excluding the Initial Issue Date to and including the first Coupon Valuation Date; and

(2)

with respect to any Coupon Valuation Date after the first Coupon Valuation Date, an amount equal to (a)
the sum of the Investor Fees for each Index Business Day from and excluding the immediately preceding
Coupon Valuation Date to and including such Coupon Valuation Date plus (b) the Tracking Fee Shortfall,
if any, as of the immediately preceding Coupon Valuation Date.

If there is a Tracking Fee Shortfall on the last Coupon Valuation Date, it will be taken into account in determining the
Cash Settlement Amount, as described below.

Cash Settlement Amount at Maturity

The “Maturity Date” will be the third Index Business Day following the last Index Business Day in the Final
Measurement Period, which is scheduled to be December 10, 2036, unless that day is not an Index Business Day, in
which case the Maturity Date will be the following Index Business Day, subject to adjustment as described below
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under “— Market Disruption Events.” 

For each note, unless earlier called or redeemed, you will receive at maturity a cash payment equal to (a) the product
of (i) the Reference Holder Value as of the close of the Index Business Day immediately preceding the Calculation
Date multiplied by (ii) the Index Factor for the last Index Business Day in the Final Measurement Period plus (b) the
final Coupon Amount minus (c) the Accrued Tracking Fee as of such last Index Business Day, plus (d) the Stub
Reference Distribution Amount as of such last Index Business Day, if any.  We refer to this cash payment as the “Cash
Settlement Amount.”  This amount will not be less than zero.
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The “Principal Amount” of each note is $50.

You may lose some or all of your investment at maturity.  Because the Accrued Tracking Fee (including any Tracking
Fee Shortfall) reduces your final payment, the level of the Index will need to have increased over the term of the notes
in an amount at least equal to the percentage of the principal amount represented by the Accrued Tracking Fee, less
any Coupon Amounts and any Stub Reference Distribution Amount, in order for you to receive an aggregate amount
over the term of the notes equal to at least the principal amount of your notes.  If the increase in the level of the Index,
as measured during the Final Measurement Period, is insufficient to offset the cumulative negative effect of the
Accrued Tracking Fee, you will lose some or all of your investment at maturity.

The Accrued Tracking Fee as of the last Index Business Day in the Final Measurement Period is an amount equal to
(a) the sum of the Investor Fees for each Index Business Day from and excluding the Calculation Date to and
including the last Index Business Day in the Final Measurement Period plus (b) the Tracking Fee Shortfall, if any, as
of the last Coupon Valuation Date.

For purposes of determining the Cash Settlement Amount, the Index Factor shall be calculated as (a) the arithmetic
mean of the Index Closing Levels measured on each Index Business Day during the Final Measurement Period
divided by (b) the Index Closing Level on the Index Business Day immediately preceding the Calculation Date, as
determined by the Calculation Agent.

The “Initial Index Level” is 883.255, which is the Index Closing Level on the Initial Trade Date.

The “Final Measurement Period” means the five Index Business Days from and including the Calculation Date, subject
to adjustment as described under “— Market Disruption Events.”

The “Stub Reference Distribution Amount” means, as of the last Index Business Day in the Final Measurement Period
or Call Measurement Period, as applicable, an amount equal to the gross cash distributions that a Reference Holder
would have been entitled to receive in respect of the Index constituents held by such Reference Holder on the “record
date” with respect to any Index constituent, for those cash distributions whose “ex-dividend date” occurs during the
period from and excluding the first Index Business Day in the Final Measurement Period or Call Measurement Period,
as applicable, to and including the last Index Business Day in the Final Measurement Period or Call Measurement
Period, as applicable, provided, that for the purpose of calculating the Stub Reference Distribution Amount, the
Reference Holder will be deemed to hold 4/5ths, 3/5ths, 2/5ths and 1/5th of the shares of each Index constituent it
would otherwise hold on the second, third, fourth and fifth Index Business Day, respectively, in such Final
Measurement Period or Call Measurement Period.

The “Index Calculation Agent” means the entity that calculates and publishes the level of the Index, which is currently
Nasdaq.

The “Calculation Date” means December 1, 2036, unless such day is not an Index Business Day, in which case the
Calculation Date will be the next Index Business Day, subject to adjustments.

“Index Business Day” means any day on which the Primary Exchange and each Related Exchange are scheduled to be
open for trading.

“Primary Exchange” means, with respect to each Index constituent or each component underlying a successor index, the
primary exchange or market of trading such Index constituent or such component underlying a successor index.
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“Related Exchange” means, with respect to each Index constituent or each component underlying a successor index,
each exchange or quotation system where trading has a material effect (as determined by the Calculation Agent) on
the overall market for futures or options contracts relating to such Index constituent or such component underlying a
successor index.
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“Exchange Business Day” means any day on which the primary exchange or market for trading of the notes is scheduled
to be open for trading.

Early Redemption at the Option of the Holders

Subject to your compliance with the procedures described below, you may submit a request on any Business Day to
elect to require us to redeem your notes (subject to a minimum redemption amount of at least 50,000 notes) between
and including the Redemption Dates specified below.  If you so elect and have done so in compliance with the
redemption procedures described below, and subject to the postponements and adjustments described under “— Market
Disruption Events,” you will receive payment for the redeemed notes on the applicable Redemption Date.  You must
comply with the redemption procedures described below in order to redeem your notes.  For any applicable
redemption request, the “Redemption Notice Date” will be the date that the applicable Redemption Notice and
Redemption Confirmation (each as defined below) are delivered.  If such Redemption Notice or Redemption
Confirmation is delivered on a day that is not an Index Business Day, then the Redemption Notice Date shall be the
next Index Business Day.  To satisfy the minimum redemption amount, your broker or other financial intermediary
may bundle your notes for redemption with those of other investors to reach this minimum amount of 50,000 notes;
however, there can be no assurance that they can or will do so.  We may from time to time in our sole discretion
reduce this minimum redemption amount.  Any such reduction will be applied on a consistent basis for all holders of
the notes at the time the reduction becomes effective.

The notes will be redeemed and the holders will receive payment for their notes on the third Business Day following
the applicable Redemption Measurement Date (the “Redemption Date”).  The first Redemption Date was December 27,
2016 and the final Redemption Date will be the last scheduled Index Business Day prior to the Calculation Date or
Call Calculation Date, as applicable.  If a Market Disruption Event is continuing or occurs on the applicable scheduled
Redemption Measurement Date with respect to any of the Index constituents, such Redemption Measurement Date
may be postponed as described under “— Market Disruption Events.”

The applicable “Redemption Measurement Date” means the Index Business Day following the applicable Redemption
Notice Date, subject to adjustments as described under “— Market Disruption Events.”

If you exercise your right to have us redeem your notes, subject to your compliance with the procedures described
under “— Redemption Procedures,” you will receive for each applicable note a cash payment on the relevant Redemption
Date equal to

(a)the Reference Holder Value as of the Redemption Measurement Date, plus

(b)
the Coupon Amount with respect to the Coupon Valuation Date immediately preceding the Redemption
Measurement Date if on the Redemption Measurement Date the Coupon Ex-Date with respect to such Coupon
Amount has not yet occurred, plus

(c)the Adjusted Coupon Amount, if any, minus

(d)the Adjusted Tracking Fee Shortfall, if any, minus

(e)the Redemption Fee Amount.

The “Redemption Fee Amount” equals 0.125% of the Indicative Note Value.
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We refer to this cash payment as the “Redemption Amount.”  This amount will not be less than zero.

For purposes of determining the Redemption Amount, the Index Factor used in calculating the Reference Holder
Value as of the Redemption Measurement Date will be (a) the Index Closing Level on the Redemption Measurement
Date divided by (b) the Index Closing Level on the immediately preceding Index Business Day, as determined by the
Calculation Agent.
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We will inform you of such Redemption Amount on the first Business Day following the applicable Redemption
Measurement Date.

You may lose some or all of your investment upon early redemption.  Because the Adjusted Tracking Fee Shortfall, if
any, and Redemption Fee Amount reduce your final payment, the level of the Index will need to have increased over
the term of the notes by an amount at least equal to the percentage of the principal amount represented by the Adjusted
Tracking Fee Shortfall, if any, and the Redemption Fee Amount, less any Coupon Amounts and/or any Adjusted
Coupon Amount, in order for you to receive an aggregate amount upon redemption equal to at least the principal
amount of your notes.  If the increase in the level of the Index, as measured on the Redemption Measurement Date, is
insufficient to offset such a negative effect, you will lose some or all of your investment upon early redemption.

The “Adjusted Coupon Amount” with respect to any Redemption Measurement Date is an amount in cash equal to the
excess, if any, of the Adjusted Reference Distribution Amount, calculated as of the applicable Redemption
Measurement Date, less the Adjusted Tracking Fee, calculated as of such Redemption Measurement Date.  To the
extent the Adjusted Reference Distribution Amount is less than the Adjusted Tracking Fee, the Redemption Amount
will not include an Adjusted Coupon Amount, and the Adjusted Tracking Fee Shortfall will be included in the
calculation of the Redemption Amount.

The “Adjusted Reference Distribution Amount,” as of any Redemption Measurement Date, is an amount equal to the
gross cash distributions that a Reference Holder would have been entitled to receive in respect of the Index
constituents held by such Reference Holder on the “record date” with respect to an Index constituent for those cash
distributions whose “ex-dividend date” occurs during the period from and excluding the immediately preceding Coupon
Valuation Date (or if the Redemption Measurement Date occurs prior to the first Coupon Valuation Date, the period
from and excluding the Initial Issue Date) to and including such Redemption Measurement Date.

The “Adjusted Tracking Fee,” as of any Redemption Measurement Date, is an amount equal to (a) the Tracking Fee
Shortfall as of the immediately preceding Coupon Valuation Date plus (b) the sum of the Investor Fees for each Index
Business Day from and excluding the immediately preceding Coupon Valuation Date (or if the Redemption
Measurement Date occurs prior to the first Coupon Valuation Date, the period from and excluding the Initial
Settlement Date) to and including such Redemption Measurement Date.

The “Adjusted Tracking Fee Shortfall,” as of any Redemption Measurement Date, is the difference between the
Adjusted Tracking Fee and the Adjusted Reference Distribution Amount, to the extent that the Adjusted Reference
Distribution Amount, calculated as of such Redemption Measurement Date, is less than the Adjusted Tracking Fee,
calculated as of such Redemption Measurement Date.

Some of the defined terms used in this section have different applications when used in determining the Call
Settlement Amount.  For the definitions of the terms relevant to a call, please refer to “— Call Right.”

The Redemption Amount is meant to induce arbitrageurs to counteract any trading of the notes at a premium or
discount to their indicative value.  However, there can be no assurance that arbitrageurs will employ the repurchase
feature in this manner.

Redemption Procedures

To redeem your notes, you must instruct your broker or other person through whom you hold your notes to take the
following steps through normal clearing system channels:
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Ø

deliver a notice of redemption, which we refer to as a “Redemption Notice,” which is attached to this pricing
supplement as Annex A, to Bank of Montreal or its agent via email no later than 2:00 p.m. (New York City time) on
the Index Business Day preceding the applicable Redemption Measurement Date.  If we receive your Redemption
Notice by the time specified in the preceding sentence, we (or our agent) will respond by sending you a form of
confirmation of redemption, which is attached to this pricing supplement as Annex B, for your execution;

PS-32

Edgar Filing: BANK OF MONTREAL /CAN/ - Form 424B2

66



Ø
deliver the signed confirmation of redemption, which we refer to as the “Redemption Confirmation,” to us via e-mail
in the specified form by 5:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the same day.  We or our affiliate must acknowledge
receipt in order for your Redemption Confirmation to be effective;

Øinstruct your DTC custodian to book a delivery vs. payment trade with respect to your notes on the applicableRedemption Measurement Date at a price equal to the Redemption Amount; and

Øcause your DTC custodian to deliver the trade as booked for settlement via DTC at or prior to 10:00 a.m. (NewYork City time) on the applicable Redemption Date.

Different brokerage firms may have different deadlines for accepting instructions from their customers.  Accordingly,
as a beneficial owner of the notes, you should consult the brokerage firm through which you own your interest for the
relevant deadline.  If your broker delivers your notice of redemption after 2:00 p.m. (New York City time), or your
confirmation of redemption after 5:00 p.m. (New York City time), on the Index Business Day prior to the applicable
Redemption Measurement Date, your notice will not be effective, you will not be able to redeem your notes until the
following Redemption Date and your broker will need to complete all the required steps if you wish to redeem your
notes on any subsequent Redemption Date.  In addition, Bank of Montreal may request a medallion signature
guarantee or such assurances of delivery as it may deem necessary in its sole discretion.  All instructions given to
participants from beneficial owners of notes relating to the right to redeem their notes will be irrevocable.

Call Right

We have the right to redeem all, but not less than all, of the notes upon not less than 18 calendar days’ prior notice to
the holders of the notes. Such redemption will occur on any Index Business Day that we may specify on or after June
22, 2017 through and including the Maturity Date (the “Call Settlement Date”).  Upon early redemption in the event we
exercise this right, you will receive a cash payment equal to

(a)the product of (i) the Reference Holder Value as of the Call Calculation Date multiplied by (ii) the Index Factor forthe last Index Business Day in the Call Measurement Period plus

(b)
the Coupon Amount with respect to the Coupon Valuation Date immediately preceding the Call Calculation Date if
on the last Index Business Day in the Call Measurement Period the Coupon Ex-Date with respect to such Coupon
Amount has not yet occurred, plus

(c)the Adjusted Coupon Amount, if any, minus

(d)the Accrued Tracking Fee as of such last Index Business Day, plus

(e)the Stub Reference Distribution Amount as of such last Index Business Day, if any.

We refer to this cash payment as the “Call Settlement Amount.”  This amount will not be less than zero.

For purposes of determining the Call Settlement Amount, the Index Factor shall be calculated as (a) the arithmetic
mean of the Index Closing Levels measured on each Index Business Day during the Call Measurement Period divided
by (b) the Index Closing Level on the Index Business Day immediately preceding the Call Calculation Date, as
determined by the Calculation Agent.
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We will inform you of such Call Settlement Amount on the first Business Day following the last Index Business Day
in the Call Measurement Period.

The holders will receive payment for their notes on the third Business Day following the last Index Business Day in
the Call Measurement Period (the “Call Settlement Date”).  If a Market Disruption Event is continuing or occurs on the
scheduled Call Calculation Date with respect to any of the Index constituents, such Call Calculation Date may be
postponed as described under “— Market Disruption Events.”

The “Call Measurement Period” means the five Index Business Days from and including the Call Calculation Date,
subject to adjustments as described under “— Market Disruption Events.”
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If we issue a call notice on any calendar day, the “Call Calculation Date” will be the last Business Day of the week in
which the call notice is issued, generally Friday, subject to a minimum five calendar day period commencing on the
date of the issuance of the call notice and ending on the related Call Calculation Date.  If we issue a call notice on a
Friday, the related Call Calculation Date will fall on the following Friday.

You may lose some or all of your investment upon a call.  Because the Accrued Tracking Fee reduces your final
payment, the level of the Index will need to have increased over the term of the notes by an amount at least equal to
the percentage of the principal amount represented by the Accrued Tracking Fee, less any Coupon Amounts, any Stub
Reference Distribution Amount and/or any Adjusted Coupon Amount, in order for you to receive an aggregate amount
upon a call equal to at least the principal amount of your notes.  If the increase in the level of the Index, as measured
during the Call Measurement Period, is insufficient to offset such a negative effect, you will lose some or all of your
investment upon a call.  This loss may occur even if the Index Closing Level at any time during the Call Measurement
Period is greater than the Initial Index Level.

The Accrued Tracking Fee as of the last Index Business Day in the Call Measurement Period is an amount equal to

(a)the sum of the Investor Fees for each Index Business Day from and excluding the Call Calculation Date to andincluding the last Index Business Day in the Call Measurement Period plus

(b)the Adjusted Tracking Fee Shortfall (as defined below), if any.

The “Adjusted Coupon Amount,” with respect to the Call Calculation Date, is an amount in cash equal to the difference
between the Adjusted Reference Distribution Amount (as defined below), calculated as of the Call Calculation Date,
and the Adjusted Tracking Fee (as defined below), calculated as of such Call Calculation Date.  To the extent the
Adjusted Reference Distribution Amount is less than the Adjusted Tracking Fee, the Call Settlement Amount will not
include an Adjusted Coupon Amount, and the Adjusted Tracking Fee Shortfall (as defined below) will be included in
the calculation of the Accrued Tracking Fee as of the last Index Business Day in the Call Measurement Period.

The “Adjusted Reference Distribution Amount,” as of the Call Calculation Date, is an amount equal to the gross cash
distributions that a Reference Holder would have been entitled to receive in respect of the Index constituents held by
such Reference Holder on the “record date” with respect to an Index constituent for those cash distributions whose
“ex-dividend date” occurs during the period from and excluding the immediately preceding Coupon Valuation Date to
and including the Call Calculation Date.

The “Adjusted Tracking Fee,” as of the Call Calculation Date, is an amount equal to (a) the Tracking Fee Shortfall as of
the immediately preceding Coupon Valuation Date plus (b) the sum of the Investor Fees for each Index Business Day
from and excluding the immediately preceding Coupon Valuation Date to and including such Call Calculation Date.

The “Adjusted Tracking Fee Shortfall,” as of the Call Calculation Date, is the difference between the Adjusted Tracking
Fee and the Adjusted Reference Distribution Amount, to the extent that the Adjusted Reference Distribution Amount,
calculated as of such Call Calculation Date, is less than the Adjusted Tracking Fee, calculated as of such Call
Calculation Date.

Some of the defined terms used in this section have different applications when used in determining the Redemption
Amount.  For the definition of the terms relevant to early redemption, please refer to “—Early Redemption at the Option
of the Holders.”
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Calculation Agent

BMOCM will act as the Calculation Agent.  The Calculation Agent will make all determinations relating to the notes,
including the Index Factor, the Index Closing Level on any Index Business Day on which such Index Closing Level is
to be determined during the term of the notes, the Reference Holder Value, the Indicative Note Value, the Investor
Fee, the Coupon Amount, the Adjusted Coupon Amount, if any, the Reference Distribution Amount, the Stub
Reference Distribution Amount, if any, the Adjusted Reference Distribution Amount, the Accrued Tracking Fee
(including any Tracking Fee Shortfall and any Adjusted Tracking Fee Shortfall), the Adjusted Tracking Fee, the
Redemption Fee Amount, the Cash Settlement Amount, if any, that we will pay you at maturity, the Coupon
Ex-Dates, the Coupon Record Dates, the Redemption Amount, if any, that we will pay you upon redemption, if
applicable, and the Call Settlement Amount, if any, that we will pay you in the event that we call the notes.  The
Calculation Agent will also be responsible for determining whether a Market Disruption Event has occurred, whether
the Index has been discontinued and whether there has been a material change in the Index.  All determinations made
by the Calculation Agent will be at the sole discretion of the Calculation Agent and will, in the absence of manifest
error, be conclusive for all purposes and binding on you and on us.  The holder of the notes shall not be entitled to any
compensation from us for any loss suffered as a result of any determinations or calculations made by the Calculation
Agent.  We may appoint a different Calculation Agent from time to time after the date of this pricing supplement
without your consent and without notifying you.

The Calculation Agent will provide written notice to the trustee at its New York office, on which notice the trustee
may conclusively rely, of the amount to be paid at maturity or call, or upon early redemption, or on a Coupon
Payment Date on or prior to 12:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Business Day immediately preceding the
Maturity Date, any Redemption Date, any Call Settlement Date or any Coupon Payment Date, as applicable.

All dollar amounts related to determination of the Coupon Amount, the Adjusted Coupon Amount, if any, the
Reference Distribution Amount, the Stub Reference Distribution Amount, if any, the Adjusted Reference Distribution
Amount, the Accrued Tracking Fee (including any Tracking Fee Shortfall and any Adjusted Tracking Fee Shortfall),
the Adjusted Tracking Fee, the Reference Holder Value, the Indicative Note Value,  the Investor Fee, the Redemption
Amount and Redemption Fee Amount, if any, per security, the Call Settlement Amount, if any, per security, and the
Cash Settlement Amount, if any, per security, will be rounded to the nearest ten-thousandth, with five one
hundred-thousandths rounded upward (e.g., .76545 would be rounded up to .7655); and all dollar amounts paid on the
aggregate principal amount of notes per holder will be rounded to the nearest cent, with one-half cent rounded upward.

Market Disruption Events

To the extent a Market Disruption Event has occurred or is continuing on an Averaging Date (as defined below) or on
a Redemption Measurement Date, the Index Closing Level for such Averaging Date or Redemption Measurement
Date will be determined by the Calculation Agent or one of its affiliates on the first succeeding Index Business Day on
which a Market Disruption Event does not occur or is not continuing (the “Deferred Averaging Date”) irrespective of
whether, pursuant to such determination, the Deferred Averaging Date would fall on a date originally scheduled to be
an Averaging Date. If the postponement described in the preceding sentence results in the Index Closing Level being
calculated on a day originally scheduled to be an Averaging Date, for purposes of determining the Index Closing
Levels on the Index Business Days during the Final Measurement Period or Call Measurement Period, or on the
Redemption Measurement Date, as applicable, the Calculation Agent or one of its affiliates, as the case may be, will
apply the Index Closing Level for such Deferred Averaging Date (i) on the date(s) of the original Market Disruption
Event and (ii) such Averaging Date. For example, if the Final Measurement Period or Call Measurement Period, as
applicable, for purposes of calculating the Cash Settlement Amount or Call Settlement Amount, respectively, is based
on the arithmetic mean of the Index Closing Levels on June 7, 2019, June 8, 2019, June 9, 2019, June 10, 2019 and
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June 11, 2019 and there is a Market Disruption Event on June 7, 2019, but no other Market Disruption Event during
the Final Measurement Period or Call Measurement Period, as applicable, then the Index Closing Level on June 8,
2019 will be used twice to calculate the Cash Settlement Amount or Call Settlement Amount, respectively, and such
Cash Settlement Amount or Call Settlement Amount, as applicable, will be determined based on the arithmetic mean
of the Index Closing Levels on June 8, 2019, June 8, 2019, June 9, 2019, June 10, 2019 and June 11, 2019. 

If the Redemption Measurement Date for purposes of calculating a Redemption Amount is based on the Index Closing
Level on an Index Business Day and there is a Market Disruption Event on that Index Business Day, then the Index
Closing Level on the next Index Business Day will be used to calculate the Redemption Amount.
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In no event, however, will any postponement pursuant to the two immediately preceding paragraphs result in the final
Averaging Date or the Redemption Measurement Date, as applicable, occurring more than three Index Business Days
following the day originally scheduled to be such final Averaging Date or Redemption Measurement Date.  If the third
Index Business Day following the date originally scheduled to be the final Averaging Date, or the Redemption
Measurement Date, as applicable, is not an Index Business Day or a Market Disruption Event has occurred or is
continuing on such third Index Business Day, the Calculation Agent or one of its affiliates will determine the Index
Closing Level based on its good faith estimate of the Index Closing Level that would have prevailed on such third
Index Business Day but for such Market Disruption Event.

An “Averaging Date” means each of the Index Business Days during the Final Measurement Period or Call
Measurement Period, as applicable, subject to adjustment as described herein.

Any of the following will be a Market Disruption Event with respect to the Index, in each case as determined by the
Calculation Agent in its sole discretion:

(a)
the suspension, absence or material limitation of trading in a material number of the Index constituents for more
than two hours or during the one-half hour before the close of trading in the applicable Primary Exchange or
Primary Exchanges;

(b)
the suspension, absence or material limitation of trading in option or futures contracts relating to the Index or to a
material number of Index constituents on a Related Exchange for more than two hours of trading or during the
one-half hour before the close of trading in that market;

(c)the Index is not published; or

(d)

any other event, if the Calculation Agent determines in its sole discretion that the event materially interferes with
our ability or the ability of any of our affiliates to unwind all or a material portion of a hedge with respect to the
notes that we or our affiliates have effected or may effect as described in the section entitled “Use of Proceeds and
Hedging.”

The following events will not be Market Disruption Events with respect to the Index:

(a) a limitation on the hours or numbers of days of trading, but only if the limitation results from an announced
change in the regular business hours of the Primary Exchange or Related Exchange; or

(b)a decision to permanently discontinue trading in the option or futures contracts relating to the Index or any Indexconstituents.

For this purpose, an “absence of trading” in the primary securities market on which option or futures contracts related to
the Index or any Index constituents are traded will not include any time when that market is itself closed for trading
under ordinary circumstances.

Notwithstanding the occurrence of one or more of the events described above, which may, in the Calculation Agent’s
discretion, constitute a Market Disruption Event, the Calculation Agent in its discretion may waive its right to
postpone the determination of the Index Closing Level if it determines that one or more of the above events has not
and is not likely to materially impair its ability to determine the Index Closing Level on any date.

Discontinuance or Modification of the Index

If the Index Sponsor discontinues publication of the Index and the Index Sponsor or anyone else publishes a substitute
index that the Calculation Agent determines is comparable to the Index, then the Calculation Agent will permanently
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replace the original Index with that substitute index (the “successor index”) for all purposes, and all provisions described
in this pricing supplement as applying to the Index will thereafter apply to the successor index instead.  If the
Calculation Agent replaces the original Index with a successor index, then the Calculation Agent will determine the
Cash Settlement Amount, Redemption Amount or Call Settlement Amount, as applicable, by reference to the
successor index.
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If the Calculation Agent determines that the publication of the Index is discontinued and there is no successor index,
the Calculation Agent will determine the level of the Index and thus the Cash Settlement Amount, Redemption
Amount or Call Settlement Amount, as applicable, by a computation methodology that the Calculation Agent
determines will as closely as reasonably possible replicate the Index.

If the Calculation Agent determines that the Index, the Index constituents or the method of calculating the Index is
changed at any time in any respect, including whether the change is made by the Index Sponsor under its existing
policies or following a modification of those policies, is due to the publication of a successor index, is due to events
affecting the Index constituents or is due to any other reason and is not otherwise reflected in the level of the Index by
the Index Sponsor pursuant to the methodology described herein, then the Calculation Agent will be permitted (but
not required) to make such adjustments in the Index or the method of its calculation as it believes are appropriate to
ensure that the Index Closing Level used to determine the Cash Settlement Amount, Redemption Amount or Call
Settlement Amount, as applicable, is equitable.

A substitution of the Index for a successor index or a material change in the method of calculating the Index could
cause the notes to no longer satisfy the listing requirements and result in Nasdaq delisting the notes.  A delisting of the
notes would materially and adversely affect the liquidity of the trading market for the notes.

Events of Default and Acceleration

Under the heading “Description of Debt Securities We May Offer — Modification and Waiver of the Debt Securities —
Events of Default” in the accompanying prospectus is a description of events of default relating to debt securities
including the notes.

Payment upon an Event of Default

In case an event of default with respect to the notes shall have occurred and be continuing, the amount declared due
and payable per note upon any acceleration of the notes will be determined by the Calculation Agent and will be an
amount in cash equal to the Redemption Amount, calculated as if the date of acceleration were the Redemption
Measurement Date.  For purposes of this calculation the Repurchase Fee Amount shall be zero.

If the maturity of the notes is accelerated because of an event of default as described above, we will, or will cause the
Calculation Agent to, provide written notice to the trustee at its New York office, on which notice the trustee may
conclusively rely, and to DTC of the cash amount due with respect to the notes as promptly as possible and in no
event later than two Business Days after the date of acceleration.

Defeasance

The provisions described in the accompanying prospectus under the heading “Description of Debt Securities We May
Offer — Modification and Waiver of the Debt Securities — Defeasance” are not applicable to the notes.

Manner of Payment and Delivery

Any payment on or delivery of the notes at maturity or call, or upon early redemption, will be made to accounts
designated by you and approved by us, or at the corporate trust office of the trustee in New York City, but only when
the notes are surrendered to the trustee at that office.  We also may make any payment or delivery in accordance with
the applicable procedures of the depositary. 
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Modified Business Day

As described in “Description of the Notes We May Offer — Payment Mechanics — Payment When Offices Are Closed” in
the attached prospectus supplement, any payment on the notes that would otherwise be due on a day that is not a
Business Day may instead be paid on the next day that is a Business Day, with the same effect as if paid on the
original due date, except as described under “— Cash Settlement Amount at Maturity,” “— Call Right” and “— Early Redemption
at the Option of the Holders” above.
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Reissuances or Reopened Issues

We may, at our sole discretion, “reopen” or reissue the notes.  We issued the notes initially in an aggregate Principal
Amount of $50,000,000 on December 22, 2016 and issued additional notes in an aggregate Principal Amount of
$2,500,000 on January 19, 2018.  We will issue the notes initially in an amount having the aggregate offering price
specified on the cover of this pricing supplement.  However, we may issue additional notes in amounts that exceed the
amount on the cover at any time, without your consent and without notifying you.  The notes do not limit our ability to
incur other indebtedness or to issue other securities.  Also, we are not subject to financial or similar restrictions by the
terms of the notes.  For more information, please refer to “Description of the Notes We May Offer — General” in the
accompanying prospectus supplement and “Description of Debt Securities We May Offer — General” in the
accompanying prospectus.

These further issuances, if any, will be consolidated to form a single class with the originally issued notes and will
have the same CUSIP number and will trade interchangeably with the notes immediately upon settlement.  Any
additional issuances will increase the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding notes of the class, plus the
aggregate principal amount of any notes bearing the same CUSIP number that are issued pursuant to any future
issuances of notes bearing the same CUSIP number.  The price of any additional offering will be determined at the
time of pricing of that offering.

Clearance and Settlement

The DTC participants that hold the notes through DTC on behalf of investors will follow the settlement practices
applicable to equity securities in DTC’s settlement system with respect to the primary distribution of the notes and
secondary market trading between DTC participants.
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INTRADAY VALUE OF THE INDEX AND THE NOTES

Intraday Index Values

Each Index Business Day, the Index Calculation Agent will calculate and publish the intraday Index value every 15
seconds during normal trading hours on Bloomberg under the ticker symbol “DWAMLP <Index>”.  The actual Index
closing level may vary, and on a cumulative basis over the term of the notes may vary significantly, from the intraday
Index value.

Nasdaq, the Index Calculation Agent, is not affiliated with Bank of Montreal and does not approve, endorse, review or
recommend the Index or the notes.  The information used in the calculation of the intraday Index value will be derived
from sources the Index Calculation Agent deems reliable, but the Index Calculation Agent and its affiliates do not
guarantee the correctness or completeness of the intraday Index value or other information furnished in connection
with the notes or the calculation of the Index.  The Index Calculation Agent makes no warranty, express or implied, as
to results to be obtained by Bank of Montreal, holders of the notes, or any other person or entity from the use of the
intraday Index value or any data included therein.  The Index Calculation Agent makes no express or implied
warranties, and expressly disclaims all warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose with respect to
the intraday Index value or any data included therein.  The Index Calculation Agent, its employees, subcontractors,
agents, suppliers and vendors shall have no liability or responsibility, contingent or otherwise, for any injury or
damages, whether caused by the negligence of the Index Calculation Agent, its employees, subcontractors, agents,
suppliers or vendors or otherwise, arising in connection with the intraday Index value or the notes, and shall not be
liable for any lost profits, losses, punitive, incidental or consequential damages.  The Index Calculation Agent shall
not be responsible for or have any liability for any injuries or damages caused by errors, inaccuracies, omissions or
any other failure in, or delays or interruptions of, the intraday Index value from whatever cause.  The Index
Calculation Agent is not responsible for the selection of or use of the Index or the notes, the accuracy and adequacy of
the Index or information used by Bank of Montreal and the resultant output thereof.

The intraday calculation of the level of the Index will be provided for reference purposes only.  Published calculations
of the level of the Index from the Index Calculation Agent may occasionally be subject to delay or postponement. 
Any such delays or postponements will affect the current level of the Index and therefore the value of the notes in the
secondary market.  The intraday Index value published every 15 seconds will be based on the intraday prices of the
Index constituents.

Intraday Indicative Note Values

An intraday indicative value, which is our approximation of the value of the notes, will be calculated and published by
Solactive AG (based in part on information provided by the Index Calculation Agent) or a successor on Bloomberg
under the ticker symbol “BMLPIV <Index>” and under the ticker symbol “BMLPINAV.SG” on Reuters every 15 seconds
during normal trading hours.  The actual trading price of the notes may vary significantly from their intraday
indicative value.  In connection with the notes, we use the term “indicative value” to refer to the value at a given time
equal to (i) the Reference Holder Value, using, when calculating the Index Factor, the intraday Index value as of such
time, plus (ii) assuming such time and date is the Redemption Measurement Date, the Coupon Amount with respect to
the Coupon Valuation Date if on such Redemption Measurement Date the Coupon Ex-Date with respect to such
Coupon Amount had not occurred plus (iii) the Adjusted Coupon Amount, if any, as of such time and date.

The intraday indicative value is meant to approximate the value of the notes at a particular time.  There are four
elements of the formula: the Reference Holder Value per note, the Index Factor (using, instead of the Index Closing
Level for the date of determination, the intraday Index value at the time of determination), the Coupon Amount and
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the Adjusted Coupon Amount, if any, as described immediately above.  Because the Reference Holder Value for the
preceding Index Business Day is fixed and the intraday Index value, Coupon Amount and Adjusted Coupon Amount,
if any, are variable, the intraday indicative value translates the change in the Index level over time, as measured at the
date of measurement, into an approximation of the expected value of the notes, after taking the Coupon Amount and
Adjusted Coupon Amount, if any, into account.  The intraday indicative value may be useful as an approximation of
what price an investor in the notes would receive if the notes were to be redeemed or if they matured, each at the time
of measurement.  The intraday indicative value may be helpful to an investor in the notes when comparing it against
the notes’ trading price on the Nasdaq Global Market and the most recently published level of the Index.
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The intraday indicative value calculation will be provided for reference purposes only.  It is not intended as a price or
quotation, or as an offer to solicitation for the purpose, sale, or termination of your notes, nor will it reflect hedging or
other transactional costs, credit considerations, market liquidity or bid-offer spreads.  The levels of the Index provided
by the Index Calculation Agent will not necessarily reflect the depth and liquidity of the Index constituents.  For this
reason and others, the actual trading price of the notes may be different from their indicative value.  For additional
information, please see “Risk Factors — The intraday indicative value and the Reference Holder Value are not the same
as the closing price or any other trading price of the notes in the secondary market” in this pricing supplement.

The calculation of the intraday indicative value shall not constitute a recommendation or solicitation to conclude a
transaction at the level stated, and should not be treated as giving investment advice.

The publication of the intraday indicative value of the notes by Solactive AG may occasionally be subject to delay or
postponement.  If the intraday Index value is delayed, then the intraday indicative value of the notes will also be
delayed.  The actual trading price of the notes may be different from their intraday indicative value.  The intraday
indicative value of the notes published at least every 15 seconds during the Nasdaq Global Market’s Core Trading
Session, which is currently from 9:30 a.m. to 4 p.m., New York City time, will be based on the intraday values of the
Index, and may not be equal to the payment at maturity, call or redemption.

The indicative value calculations will have been prepared as of a particular date and time and will therefore not reflect
subsequent changes in market values or prices or in any other factors relevant to their determination.

If you want to sell your notes but are unable to meet the minimum redemption requirements, you may sell your notes
into the secondary market at any time, subject to the risks described under “Risk Factors — Risks Relating to Liquidity
and the Secondary Market — There is no assurance that you notes will be listed or continue to be listed on a securities
exchange, and they may not have an active trading market” and “— The value of the notes in the secondary market may be
influenced by many unpredictable factors.”  Also, the price you may receive for the notes in the secondary market may
differ from, and may be significantly less than, the Redemption Amount.

Neither the Nasdaq Global Market or Solactive AG, or their respective affiliates, are affiliated with Bank of Montreal
or BMOCM and do not approve, endorse, review or recommend Bank of Montreal, BMOCM or the notes.

The intraday indicative values of the notes calculated by Solactive AG are derived from sources deemed reliable, but
Solactive AG, its affiliates and its and their respective suppliers do not guarantee the correctness or completeness of
the notes, their values or other information furnished in connection with the notes.  Solactive AG and its affiliates
make no warranty, express or implied, as to results to be obtained by BMOCM, Bank of Montreal, the holders of the
notes, or any other person or entity from the use of the notes, or any date or values included therein or in connection
therewith.  Solactive AG and its affiliates make no express or implied warranties, and expressly disclaim all
warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose with respect to the notes, or any data or values
included therein or in connection therewith.

Split or Reverse Split of the Notes

We or the Calculation Agent may initiate a split or reverse split of the notes on any Index Business Day.  If we or the
Calculation Agent decides to initiate a split or reverse split, we will issue a notice to holders of the notes and a press
release announcing the split or reverse split, specifying the effective date of the split or reverse split.  The Calculation
Agent will determine the ratio of such split or reverse split, as the case may be, using relevant market indicia, and will
adjust the terms of the notes accordingly.  Any adjustment of the closing value will be rounded to 8 decimal places.
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In the case of a reverse split, we reserve the right to address odd numbers of notes (commonly referred to as “partials”)
in a manner determined by the Calculation Agent in its sole discretion, acting in good faith.  For example, if the notes
undergo a 1-for-4 reverse split, holders who own a number of notes on the relevant record date that is not evenly
divisible by 4 will receive the same treatment as all other holders for the maximum number of notes they hold that is
evenly divisible by 4, and we will have the right to compensate holders for their remaining or “partial” notes in a manner
determined by the Calculation Agent in its sole discretion.  Our current intention is to provide holders with a cash
payment for their partials in an amount equal to the appropriate percentage of the closing intraday indicative value of
the notes on a specified Index Business Day following the announcement date.

A split or reverse split of the notes will not affect the aggregate stated principal amount of notes held by an investor,
other than to the extent of any “partial” notes, but it will affect the number of notes an investor holds, the denominations
used for trading purposes on the exchange and the trading price, and may affect the liquidity, of the notes on the
exchange.
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THE INDEX

We have derived all information contained in this pricing supplement regarding the DWA MLP Select™ Index,
including, without limitation, its make-up, performance, method of calculation and changes in its constituents, from
publicly available sources.  Such information reflects the policies of and is subject to change by DWA (the “Index
Sponsor”).  We have not undertaken any independent review or due diligence of such information.  The Index is
calculated by Nasdaq and maintained by the Index Sponsor.  The Index Sponsor has no obligation to continue to
publish, and may discontinue the publication of, the Index.  The description of the Index is summarized from the
methodology governing the Index, which is available at https://indexes.nasdaqomx.com/docs/
Methodology_DWAMLP.pdf.  Neither the methodology nor any other information included on that website is
included or incorporated by reference into this pricing supplement.

Introduction

The Index includes 15 MLPs based on the proprietary Dorsey Wright Relative Strength Ranking Methodology. 
Relative strength measures how one security is performing in relation to another in an effort to identify which security
is outperforming the other.  By comparing the price relationship between each MLP, the Index seeks to determine
which MLPs are currently showing outperformance relative to their peers within the Index universe.  The top 15
MLPs meeting the eligibility criteria are included in the Index.  The Index is an equally-weighted index.  The Index is
a price return index and is ordinarily calculated without regard to dividends on the Index Constituents.  All Index
calculations, however, reflect extraordinary cash dividends.

Index Universe

To be eligible for initial inclusion in the Index, an Index constituent must meet the following criteria:

· it must be a MLP structured as a limited partnership;
· it must be listed on a United States stock exchange;
· it must have a minimum market capitalization of $1 billion;

· it must have a minimum one month average daily dollar trading volume of $2 million per day on its primaryexchange;
· the security may not be issued by an issuer currently in bankruptcy proceedings; and

·the issuer of the security may not have entered into a definitive agreement or other arrangement which would likelyresult in the security no longer being Index eligible.

MLPs classified as Financials according to the Industry Classification Benchmark (ICB) are ineligible for inclusion in
the Index.

Index Constituent Selection Process

Relative strength.  Using solely price data for the MLPs, the Index Sponsor determines whether the MLP has ”positive
relative strength,” which generates a ”buy” signal, or ”negative relative strength,” which generates a ”sell” signal. All such
calculations are based on the MLP’s Last Sale Price (as defined below).

On a daily basis, the Index Sponsor computes the ratio of the Last Sale Price of each MLP as compared to each other
MLP (“MLPA” versus “MLPB”) as follows:

Relative strength of MLPA versus MLPB = (MLPA Last Sale Price/MLPB Last Sale Price) x 100
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The relative strength of each MLP, as compared to each other MLP, is tracked over time.  Any MLP that has positive
relative strength as compared to another MLP over time generates a buy signal.  Conversely, any MLP that has
negative relative strength as compared to another MLP over times generates a sell signal.  Buy or sell signals are
generated on a daily basis.  The MLP with the highest number of buy signals is ranked #1, and appears at the top of
the Relative Strength Matrix. The MLP with the lowest number of buy signals is ranked last and appears on the
bottom of the Relative Strength Matrix.
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Index evaluation.  The eligibility criteria are applied using market data five business days prior to the end of each
calendar month. The top 15 MLPs meeting the criteria are included in the Index. Security additions and deletions are
made effective after the closing of trading on the last business day of each calendar month.

Calculating the Index

The value of the Index equals the aggregate value of the Index share weights, also known as the Index Shares, of each
of the Index constituents multiplied by each such security’s Last Sale Price, and divided by the Divisor of the Index. 
The Divisor is designed to scale such aggregate value to a lower order of magnitude, which may be more desirable for
reporting purposes.  The Divisor is adjusted to help ensure that changes in Index constituents either by corporate
actions or index participation occurring outside of trading hours do not affect the value of the Index.  All divisor
changes occur after the close of the Index Markets (as defined below) represented in the Index.

The formula for index value is as follows:

Aggregate Adjusted Market Value/Divisor

The Index began at a base value of 1,000.00 on May 1, 2015.

The formula for the divisor is as follows:

(Market Value after Adjustments/Market Value before Adjustments) x Divisor before Adjustments

Index Shares are based on the shares assigned to each Index constituent in the equal weighted share calculation
process.  Index Shares are calculated by dividing the equal-dollar value determined after a rebalancing for each Index
constituent by the corresponding Last Sale Price of the Index constituent at the close of trading on the last business
day of each calendar month.

The Index constituent Market Value is the Last Sale Price of the Index constituent multiplied by its Index Shares.  The
Index Market Value is the aggregate of each of the Index constituent’s Market Values.

Index levels are calculated and are disseminated once per second each day on which any U.S. stock exchange on
which an Index constituent is listed is open for trading during its regular trading session, notwithstanding whether one
of such exchanges closes prior to its scheduled weekday closing time.

Last Sale Price

The last sale price refers to the closing price reported on each Index constituent’s Index Market. The Index Market is
the primary stock exchange on which an Index constituent is listed for which the Index constituent’s prices are
received and used by Nasdaq in the Index calculation.

If an Index constituent does not trade on its Index Market on a given day or the Index Market has not opened for
trading, the most recent last sale price from the Index Market (adjusted for corporate actions, if any) is used. If an
Index constituent is halted during the trading day, the most recent last sale price is used until trading resumes.

Index Maintenance
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Rebalancings.  The Index employs an equal-dollar weighting methodology such that each Index constituent’s Market
Value is rebalanced when a change is made to the holdings of the Index to an equal dollar value corresponding to an
equal percent weight of the Index Market Value.  Rebalancings and evaluations of the Index occur simultaneously on
a monthly basis.
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Index constituent changes.  If, at any time during the year other than the monthly Index evaluation, an Index
constituent is determined to have become ineligible for continued inclusion in the Index due to bankruptcy, delisting,
or a definitive agreement that would likely result in the Index constituent no longer being Index eligible, the Index
constituent is removed from the Index and is not replaced.  If an Index constituent is removed from the Index, it will
ordinarily be removed at its Last Sale Price.  If, however, at the time of its removal the Index constituent is halted
from trading on its Index Market and a Last Sale Price cannot readily be determined, the Index constituent may, at
Nasdaq’s discretion, be removed at a price of $0.00000001 (“zero price”). This price will be applied to the Index
constituent after the close of all the trading markets in the Index but prior to the time the official closing value of the
Index is disseminated.

Bankruptcy.  If an MLP files for bankruptcy, the Index constituent will be removed from the Index as soon as
practicable thereafter. The value of the Index constituent will be considered zero price, if no other applicable price can
be observed on the Index constituent’s primary exchange.

Index Share changes.  Index Share changes are not made during the month; however, changes arising from stock
dividends and stock splits are made to the Index on the evening prior to the effective date of such corporate action. In
the case of certain spin-offs or rights issuances, the price of the Index constituent is adjusted and a corresponding
adjustment is made to the Index Shares such that the weight of the Index constituent does not change as a result of the
action.

A special cash dividend announced by the listing exchange will result in an adjustment to the last sale price of an
Index constituent prior to market open on the ex-date for the special amount distributed. A corresponding adjustment
will be made to the Index Shares of the Index constituent, such that the weight of the Index constituent will not change
as a result of the action.  A special dividend may also be referred to as extra, extraordinary, non-recurring, one-time,
unusual, etc.

In the case of a special cash dividend, a determination is made on an individual basis as to whether to make a change
to the price of an Index constituent in accordance with its index dividend policy. If it is determined that a change will
be made, a corresponding adjustment will be made to the Index Shares of the Index constituent such that the weight of
the Index constituent will not change as a result of the action. Any such change will become effective on the ex-date.

Corporate Actions

The following corporate actions will be made effective in the Index on the ex-date.  If there is no ex-date announced
by the primary stock exchange on which an Index constituent is listed, there will be no adjustment to the Index as a
result of a corporate action.

Stock split and stock dividend.  A stock split and stock dividend is the action of an Index constituent in increasing its
Index Shares and decreasing the par value in proportion. There is no flow of capital into or out of the company. The
number of Index Shares increases but the market capitalization of the company remains unchanged. The price of the
Index constituent is adjusted to reflect the ratio of a stock split and stock dividend and a corresponding inverse
adjustment to the Index Shares is made.

Reverse stock split.  A reverse stock split is the action of an Index constituent in decreasing its Index Shares and
increasing the par value in proportion. There is no flow of capital into or out of the company. The number of Index
Shares decreases but the market capitalization of the company remains unchanged. The price of the Index constituent
is adjusted to reflect the ratio of the reverse stock split and a corresponding inverse adjustment to the Index Shares is
made.
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Special cash dividends.  A dividend is considered special if the information provided by the primary stock exchange
on which an Index constituent is listed in their announcement of the ex-date indicates that the dividend is special.
Other nomenclature for a special dividend may be (but not limited to) extra, extraordinary, non-recurring, one-time,
unusual, etc.  The price of the Index constituent is adjusted for the amount of the special cash dividend.
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Cash and stock dividends.  If an Index constituent is paying a cash and stock dividend on the same date, the cash
dividend is applied before the stock dividend unless otherwise indicated in the information provided by the primary
stock exchange on which the Index constituent is listed. Additionally, in the case of an optional dividend which allows
the holder to choose between receiving cash or stock, the adjustment will be made in the manner the dividend has
been announced by the primary stock exchange on which the Index constituent is listed.

Stock distribution of another security.  If an Index constituent is distributing shares of a different security, the value of
the Index constituent will be reduced to reflect the ratio of the distribution. There is no adjustment to Index Shares.

Spin-offs.  If an Index constituent is spinning off a security, the value of the Index constituent will be reduced to
reflect the ratio of the distribution. There is no adjustment to Index Shares. If a when-issued market is established for
the spun-off security, the price of the Index constituent is reduced by the value of the spinoff. The value of the spin-off
is determined by multiplying the spin-off ratio by the when-issued price.  In the event the value of the spinoff has not
been established as indicated above then no price adjustment is made to the Index constituent.  The new security
resulting from the spin-off transaction is not added to the Index.

Rights offerings.  The price of an Index constituent is adjusted on the ex-date for rights offerings if the rights are
transferable and have a subscription price on an equivalent per share basis that is less than the closing price of the
Index constituent the right entitles a holder to purchase (the “Underlying  Security”) on the day prior to the ex-date
(in-the-money). The price of the Index constituent is adjusted downward for the value of the right.  The value of the
right is determined by the previous Last Sale Price of the Underlying Security minus the sum of the Subscription Price
of the right plus the cash dividend of the Underlying Security, if any, divided by the number of rights required to
purchase one share, plus one.

Announcements

Nasdaq announces Index-related information via Global Index Watch at http://indexes.nasdaqomx.com.  Corporate
actions are implemented in the Index in accordance with the Index maintenance rules. Announcement is made prior to
the effective date of the corporate actions.  In the event that a change has been made to an Index intraday, an
announcement will be made by Nasdaq to inform market participants of the change.

Discretionary Adjustments

Nasdaq may, from time to time, exercise reasonable discretion as it deems appropriate in order to ensure Index
integrity, including but not limited to, the quantitative inclusion criteria. Nasdaq may also, due to special
circumstances, if deemed essential, apply discretionary adjustments to ensure and maintain the quality of the index
construction and calculation.

Historical Information

Any historical upward or downward trend in value of the Index during any period shown below is not an indication
that the value of the Index is more or less likely to increase or decrease at any time during the term of the notes.  The
historical Index returns do not give an indication of the future performance of the Index.  We cannot make any
assurance that the future performance of the Index will result in holders of the notes receiving a positive return on
their investment.

The graph below shows the historical performance of the Index from May 1, 2015, its commencement date, through
September 28, 2018. The Index Closing Level on September 28, 2018 was 882.005.
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Historical results are not indicative of future results.

License Agreement

We have entered into an agreement with DWA, which provides us and our affiliates with a non-transferable license,
for a fee, with the right to use the Index in connection with certain securities.

The notes are not sponsored, endorsed, sold or promoted by DWA or its affiliates (DWA, with its affiliates, are
referred to as the “Corporations”). The Corporations have not passed on the legality or suitability of, or the accuracy or
adequacy of descriptions and disclosures relating to, the notes. The Corporations make no representation or warranty,
express or implied to the owners of the notes or any member of the public regarding the advisability of investing in
securities generally or in the notes particularly, or the ability of the Index to track general stock market performance.
The Corporations' only relationship to Bank of Montreal is in the licensing of the Index, and certain trade names of the
Corporations and the use of the Index, which is determined, composed and calculated by DWA without regard to
Bank of Montreal or the notes. DWA has no obligation to take the needs of Bank of Montreal or the owners of the
notes into consideration in determining, composing or calculating the Index. The Corporations are not responsible for,
and have not participated in, the determination of the timing of, prices at or quantities of the notes to be issued, or in
the determination or calculation of the equation by which the notes is to be converted into cash. The Corporations
have no liability in connection with the administration, marketing or trading of the notes.

The Corporations do not guarantee the accuracy and/or uninterrupted calculation of the Index or any data
included therein. The Corporations make no warranty, express or implied, as to results to be obtained by Bank
of Montreal, owners of the notes, or any other person or entity from the use of the Index or any data included
therein. The Corporations make no express or implied warranties, and expressly disclaim all warranties of
merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose or use with respect to the Index or any data included
therein. Without limiting any of the foregoing, in no event shall the Corporations have any liability for any lost
profits or special, incidental, punitive, indirect, or consequential damages, even if notified of the possibility of
such damages.
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USE OF PROCEEDS AND HEDGING

The net proceeds we receive from the sale of the notes will be used for general corporate purposes and, in part, by us
or by one or more of our affiliates in connection with hedging our obligations under the notes.

We expect to enter into transactions to hedge our obligations under the notes.  Such transactions may involve
purchases or sales of the Index constituents or financial instruments linked to the Index and/or the Index constituents
prior to or on the Initial Issue Date.  In addition, from time to time after we issue the notes, we may enter into
additional hedging transactions or unwind those hedging transactions previously entered into.  In this regard, we may:

·acquire or dispose of or otherwise repurchase long or short positions in some or all of the Index constituents;

·acquire or dispose of long or short positions in listed or over-the-counter options, futures, or other instruments linkedto some or all of the constituent issuers, the Index constituents or the Index;

·acquire or dispose of long or short positions in listed or over-the-counter options, futures, or other instruments linkedto the level of other similar market indices; or

·engage in any combination of the above activities.

We or our affiliates may acquire a long or short position in securities similar to the notes from time to time and may,
in our sole discretion, hold or resell those securities.

We may close out our hedge positions on or before the last Index Business Day in the Final Measurement Period or
Call Measurement Period. That step may involve sales or purchases of the Index constituents, listed or
over-the-counter options or futures on Index constituents or listed or over-the-counter options, futures, or other
instruments linked to the level of the Index, as well as other instruments designed to track the performance of the
Index.

While we cannot predict an outcome, any of these hedging activities or other trading activities of ours could
potentially decrease the Index level, which could adversely affect your payment at maturity, call or upon early
repurchase.  It is possible that these hedging or trading activities could result in substantial returns for us or our
affiliates while the value of the notes declines.  See “Risk Factors — Risks Relating to the Notes Generally — We or our
affiliates may have economic interests that are adverse to those of the holders of the notes as a result of our hedging
and other trading activities” above.

We have no obligation to engage in any manner of hedging activity and will do so solely at our discretion and for our
own account.  We may hedge our exposure on the notes directly or we may aggregate this exposure with other
positions taken by us and our affiliates with respect to our exposure to the Index or one or more constituent issuers or
the Index constituents.  No noteholder will have any rights or interest in our hedging activity or any positions that we
or any unaffiliated counterparties may take in connection with our hedging activity.
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SUPPLEMENTAL TAX CONSIDERATIONS

The following is a general description of certain tax considerations relating to the notes.  It does not purport to be a
complete analysis of all tax considerations relating to the notes.  Prospective purchasers of the notes should consult
their tax advisors as to the consequences under the tax laws of the country of which they are resident for tax purposes
and the tax laws of Canada and the U.S. of acquiring, holding and disposing of the notes and receiving payments
under the notes.  This summary is based upon the law as in effect on the date of this pricing supplement and is subject
to any change in law that may take effect after such date.

Supplemental Canadian Tax Considerations

For a summary of Canadian tax considerations relevant to an investment in the notes, please see the sections entitled
“Canadian Taxation” in the accompanying prospectus and the section entitled “Certain Income Tax Consequences—Certain
Canadian Income Tax Considerations ” in the accompanying prospectus supplement.

With respect to any interest payable on the notes, or any portion of the principal amount of the notes in excess of the
issue price, such interest or principal, as the case may be, will not be subject to Canadian Non-Resident withholding
tax.

U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations

The following is a general description of the material U.S. federal income tax considerations relating to the notes.  It
does not purport to be a complete analysis of all tax considerations relating to the notes.  Prospective purchasers of the
notes should consult their tax advisors as to the consequences under the tax laws of the country of which they are
resident for tax purposes and the tax laws of Canada and the U.S. of acquiring, holding and disposing of the notes and
receiving payments under the notes.  This summary is based upon the law as in effect on the date of this pricing
supplement and is subject to any change in law that may take effect after such date.

The following section supersedes the discussion of U.S. federal income taxation in the accompanying prospectus and
prospectus supplement in its entirety.  This section is based on the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”), its legislative history, existing and proposed regulations under the Code, published rulings and court decisions,
all as currently in effect.  These laws are subject to change, possibly on a retroactive basis.

This summary applies only to holders who are initial investors and hold their notes as capital assets for U.S. federal
income tax purposes and are not excluded from this discussion. This section does not apply to classes of holders
subject to special rules, such as partnerships, subchapter S corporations, other pass-through entities, governments (or
instrumentalities or agencies thereof), dealers in securities or currencies, traders in securities that elect to use a
mark-to-market method of accounting for their notes, banks, financial institutions, insurance companies, tax-exempt
organizations, regulated investment companies, real estate investment trusts, persons that hold notes as part of a
straddle or a hedging or conversion transaction, persons liable for alternative minimum tax, persons subject to Section
451(b) of the Code, U.S. expatriates or persons whose functional currency for tax purposes is not the U.S. dollar. In
addition, the discussion below assumes that an investor in the notes will be subject to a significant risk that it will lose
a significant amount of its investment in the notes.

If a partnership holds the notes, the U.S. federal income tax treatment of a partner will generally depend on the status
of the partner and the tax treatment of the partnership.  A partner in a partnership holding the notes should consult its
tax advisor with regard to the U.S. federal income tax treatment of an investment in the notes.

Edgar Filing: BANK OF MONTREAL /CAN/ - Form 424B2

92



A U.S. holder is a beneficial owner of a note and that, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, is (i) a citizen or
individual resident of the United States, (ii) a domestic corporation, (iii) an estate whose income is subject to U.S.
federal income tax regardless of its source, or (iv) a trust if a U.S. court can exercise primary supervision over the
trust’s administration and one or more U.S. persons are authorized to control all substantial decisions of the trust.  A
non-U.S. holder is a beneficial owner of a note that, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, is a non-resident alien
individual, a foreign corporation, or a foreign estate or trust.
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Tax Treatment of the Notes

NO STATUTORY, JUDICIAL OR ADMINISTRATIVE AUTHORITY DIRECTLY DISCUSSES HOW THE
NOTES SHOULD BE TREATED FOR U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX PURPOSES.  AS A RESULT, THE U.S.
FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES OF AN INVESTMENT IN THE NOTES ARE UNCERTAIN. 
BECAUSE OF THE UNCERTAINTY, HOLDERS SHOULD CONSULT THEIR TAX ADVISORS IN
DETERMINING THE U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX AND OTHER TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THEIR
INVESTMENT IN THE NOTES, INCLUDING THE APPLICATION OF STATE, LOCAL OR OTHER TAX
LAWS AND THE POSSIBLE EFFECTS OF CHANGES IN U.S. FEDERAL OR OTHER TAX LAWS.

In the opinion of our counsel, Morrison & Foerster LLP, it would generally be reasonable to treat a note with terms
described in this pricing supplement as a contingent income-bearing derivative contract linked to the Index for U.S.
federal income tax purposes, and the terms of the notes require a holder and us (in the absence of a change in law or
an administrative or judicial ruling to the contrary) to treat the notes for all tax purposes in accordance with such
characterization.  In addition, we intend to treat the Coupon Amounts (which, for purposes of this discussion under
“Supplemental Tax Considerations – U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations,” includes any Adjusted Coupon Amount
and/or Stub Reference Distribution Amount) as U.S. source income for U.S. federal income tax purposes.  The
following discussion assumes that the notes constitute contingent income-bearing derivative contracts linked to the
Index for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

U.S. Holders

Although the U.S. federal income tax treatment of the Coupon Amounts is uncertain, we intend to take the position,
and the following discussion assumes, that any such Coupon Amounts (including any Coupon Amounts paid on or
with respect to the maturity date) constitute taxable ordinary income to a U.S. holder at the time received or accrued in
accordance with the holder’s regular method of accounting.  Subject to the discussion below concerning the potential
application of the “constructive ownership” rules under Section 1260 of the Code, a U.S. holder should generally
recognize capital gain or loss upon the sale, exchange, redemption or settlement of the notes in an amount equal to the
difference between the amount a holder receives at such time (other than amounts properly attributable to any Coupon
Amount, which would be taxed, as described above, as ordinary income) and the holder’s tax basis in the notes.  In
general, a U.S. holder’s tax basis in the notes will be equal to the price the holder paid for the notes.  Capital gain
recognized by an individual U.S. holder is generally taxed at preferential rates where the property is held for more
than one year and is generally taxed at ordinary income rates where the property is held for one year or less.  The
deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations.

Potential Application of Section 1260 of the Code.  Because the Index constituents are the type of financial assets
described under Section 1260 of the Code (i.e., equity interests in partnerships, a “Section 1260 Financial Asset”), while
the matter is not entirely clear, an investment in the notes will likely be treated as a “constructive ownership transaction”
to which Section 1260 of the Code applies.  If Section 1260 of the Code applies, all or a portion of any long-term
capital gain recognized by a U.S. holder in respect of the notes will be recharacterized as ordinary income (the “Excess
Gain”).  In addition, an interest charge will also apply to any deemed underpayment of tax in respect of any Excess
Gain to the extent such gain would have resulted in gross income inclusion for the U.S. holder in taxable years prior to
the taxable year of the sale, exchange, redemption or settlement (assuming such income accrued at a constant rate
equal to the applicable federal rate as of the date of sale, exchange, redemption or settlement).
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If an investment in the notes is treated as a constructive ownership transaction, it is not clear to what extent any
long-term capital gain of a U.S. holder in respect of the notes will be recharacterized as ordinary income.  It is
possible, for example, that the amount of the Excess Gain (if any) that would be recharacterized as ordinary income in
respect of the notes will equal the excess of (i) any long-term capital gain recognized by the U.S. holder in respect of
the notes and attributable to Section 1260 Financial Assets, over (ii) the “net underlying long-term capital gain” (as
defined in Section 1260 of the Code) such holder would have had if such holder had acquired an amount of the
corresponding Section 1260 Financial Assets at fair market value on the original issue date for an amount equal to the
portion of the issue price of the notes attributable to the corresponding Section 1260 Financial Assets and sold such
amount of Section 1260 Financial Assets upon the date of sale, exchange, redemption or settlement of the notes (or the
next rebalancing date of the Index) at fair market value, or it may be possible that Section 1260 of the Code would
apply separately to each Index constituent. To the extent any gain is treated as long-term capital gain after application
of the recharacterization rules of Section 1260 of the Code, such gain would be subject to U.S. federal income tax at
the rates that would have been applicable to the net underlying long-term capital gain. Holders should consult their tax
advisors regarding the potential application of Section 1260 of the Code to an investment in the notes.

Under Section 1260 of the Code, there is a presumption that the net underlying long-term capital gain is zero (with the
result that the recharacterization and interest charge described above would apply to all of the gain from the notes that
otherwise would have been long-term capital gain), unless the contrary is demonstrated by clear and convincing
evidence. Holders will be responsible for obtaining information necessary to determine the net underlying long-term
capital gain with respect to the Index constituents, as we do not intend to supply holders with such information. 
Holders should consult with their tax advisor regarding the application of the constructive ownership rules to their
notes and the calculations necessary to comply with Section 1260 of the Code.

Information With Respect to Foreign Financial Assets.  An individual U.S. holder who, during any taxable year, holds
any interest in “specified foreign financial assets” with an aggregate value in excess of $50,000 (and in some
circumstances, a higher threshold) may be required to file an information report with respect to such assets with his or
her tax returns.  “Specified foreign financial assets” may include financial accounts maintained by foreign financial
institutions, as well as any of the following, but only if they are not held in accounts maintained by financial
institutions: (i) stocks and securities issued by non-U.S. persons, (ii) financial instruments and contracts held for
investment that have non-U.S. issuers or counterparties, and (iii) interests in foreign entities.  Under these rules, the
notes may be treated as “specified foreign financial assets.”  Holders are urged to consult their tax advisors regarding the
application of this reporting requirement to their ownership of the notes.

Additional Medicare Tax on Unearned Income.  Certain U.S. holders will be subject to an additional 3.8% Medicare
tax on unearned income.  For individual U.S. holders, the additional Medicare tax applies to the lesser of (i) “net
investment income” or (ii) the excess of “modified adjusted gross income” over $200,000 ($250,000 if married and filing
jointly or $125,000 if married and filing separately).  “Net investment income” generally equals the taxpayer’s gross
investment income reduced by the deductions that are allocable to such income.  Investment income generally
includes passive income such as dividends and capital gains.  U.S. holders are urged to consult their own tax advisors
regarding the implications of the additional Medicare tax resulting from an investment in the notes.

Alternative Treatments.  Alternative tax treatments of the notes are possible and the Internal Revenue Service might
assert that a treatment other than that described above is more appropriate.  For example, it would be possible to treat
the notes, and the Internal Revenue Service might assert that the notes should be treated, as a single debt instrument. 
Such a debt instrument would be subject to the special tax rules governing contingent payment debt instruments.  If
the notes are so treated, a U.S. holder would generally be required to accrue interest currently over the term of the
notes irrespective of the Coupon Amounts, if any, paid on the notes.  In addition, any gain a U.S. holder might
recognize upon the sale, exchange, redemption or settlement of the notes would be ordinary income and any loss
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recognized by a U.S. holder at such time would be ordinary loss to the extent of interest that same holder included in
income in the current or previous taxable years in respect of the notes, and thereafter, would be capital loss.  It is also
possible that the Internal Revenue Service could seek to tax the notes by reference to a holder’s deemed ownership of
the Index constituents.  In such case, a U.S. holder could be required to recognize amounts of income, gain or loss as
if such holder had actually owned interests in the Index constituents.  Under this alternative treatment, a U.S. holder
could also be required to currently recognize gain or loss, at least some of which could be short-term capital gain (and
possibly loss), each time the Index rebalances.

PS-50

Edgar Filing: BANK OF MONTREAL /CAN/ - Form 424B2

96



The Internal Revenue Service could also assert that a holder should be required to treat any amounts attributable to the
Accrued Tracking Fee and any Redemption Fee Amount as separate investment expenses. For taxable years beginning
after December 31, 2017 and beginning on or before December 31, 2025, the deduction of any such deemed expenses
would not generally be permitted to a holder who is an individual, trust or estate. For taxable years beginning on or
before December 31, 2017 or after December 31, 2025, the deduction of any such deemed expenses would generally
be subject to a 2% floor on miscellaneous itemized deductions applicable to a holder who is an individual, trust or
estate. Such amount would correspondingly increase the amount of gain and income or decrease the amount of loss
recognized by a holder with respect to an investment in the notes.

In addition to and separate from an alternative tax treatment of deemed ownership of the Index constituents, it is
possible that a deemed taxable exchange has occurred on one or more of the Index rebalancing dates or that the notes
could be treated as a series of derivative contracts, each of which matures on the next rebalancing date.  If the notes
were properly characterized in such a manner, a U.S. holder would be treated as disposing of the notes on each
rebalancing date in return for new notes that mature on the next rebalancing date, and a U.S. Holder would
accordingly likely recognize capital gain or loss on each rebalancing date equal to the difference between the holder’s
tax basis in the notes (which would be adjusted to take into account any prior recognition of gain or loss) and the fair
market value of the notes on such date.

Because of the absence of authority regarding the appropriate tax characterization of the notes, it is also possible that
the Internal Revenue Service could seek to characterize the notes in a manner that results in other tax consequences
that are different from those described above.  For example, the Internal Revenue Service could possibly assert that
any gain or loss that a holder may recognize upon the sale, exchange, redemption or settlement of the notes should be
treated as ordinary gain or loss.

The Internal Revenue Service has released a notice that may affect the taxation of holders of the notes.  According to
the notice, the Internal Revenue Service and the Treasury Department are actively considering whether the holder of
an instrument such as the notes should be required to accrue ordinary income on a current basis irrespective of any
Coupon Amounts, and they sought comments on the subject.  It is not possible to determine what guidance they will
ultimately issue, if any.  It is possible, however, that under such guidance, holders of the notes will ultimately be
required to accrue income currently irrespective of any Coupon Amounts; such treatment could be applied on a
retroactive basis.  The Internal Revenue Service and the Treasury Department are also considering other relevant
issues, including whether additional gain or loss from such instruments should be treated as ordinary or capital and
whether the special “constructive ownership rules” of Section 1260 of the Code might be applied to such instruments. 
Holders are urged to consult their tax advisors concerning the significance, and the potential impact, of the above
considerations.  We intend to treat the notes for U.S. federal income tax purposes in accordance with the treatment
described in this pricing supplement unless and until such time as the Treasury Department and Internal Revenue
Service determine that some other treatment is more appropriate.

Non-U.S. Holders

The notes are not intended for purchase by any investor that is not a United States person, as that term is defined for
U.S. federal income tax purposes, and no dealer may make offers of the notes to any such investor.  If, however, a
note is transferred to a non-U.S. holder in the secondary market, because the U.S. federal income tax treatment of the
notes (including proper characterization of any Coupon Amounts for U.S. federal income tax purposes) is uncertain,
U.S. federal income tax at a 30% rate (or at a lower rate under an applicable income tax treaty) will be withheld in
respect of any Coupon Amounts paid to a non-U.S. holder unless such payments are effectively connected with the
conduct by the non-U.S. holder of a trade or business in the U.S. (in which case, to avoid withholding, the non-U.S.
holder will be required to provide a Form W-8ECI).  We will not pay any additional amounts in respect of such
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withholding.  To claim benefits under an income tax treaty, a non-U.S. holder must obtain a taxpayer identification
number and certify as to its eligibility under the appropriate treaty’s limitations on benefits article, if applicable (which
certification may generally be made on a Form W-8BEN or W-8BEN-E, or a substitute or successor form).  In
addition, special rules may apply to claims for treaty benefits made by corporate non-U.S. holders.  A non-U.S. holder
that is eligible for a reduced rate of U.S. federal withholding tax pursuant to an income tax treaty may obtain a refund
of any excess amounts withheld by filing an appropriate claim for refund with the Internal Revenue Service.  The
availability of a lower rate of withholding or an exemption from withholding under an applicable income tax treaty
will depend on the proper characterization of any Coupon Amounts under U.S. federal income tax laws and whether
such treaty rate or exemption applies to such Coupon Amounts.  No assurance can be provided on the proper
characterization of any Coupon Amounts for U.S. federal income tax purposes and, accordingly, no assurance can be
provided on the availability of benefits under any income tax treaty.  Non-U.S. holders should consult their tax
advisors in this regard.
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Except as described below, a non-U.S. holder will generally not be subject to U.S. federal income or withholding tax
on any gain (not including for the avoidance of doubt any amounts properly attributable to any Coupon Amounts
which would be subject to the rules discussed in the previous paragraph) upon the sale, exchange, redemption or
settlement of the notes, provided that (i) the holder complies with any applicable certification requirements (which
certification may generally be made on a Form W-8BEN or W-8BEN-E, or a substitute or successor form), (ii) the
payment is not effectively connected with the conduct by the holder of a U.S. trade or business, and (iii) if the holder
is a non-resident alien individual, such holder is not present in the U.S. for 183 days or more during the taxable year of
the sale, exchange, redemption or settlement of the notes.  In the case of (ii) above, the holder generally would be
subject to U.S. federal income tax with respect to any income or gain in the same manner as if the holder were a U.S.
holder and, in the case of a holder that is a corporation, the holder may also be subject to a branch profits tax equal to
30% (or such lower rate provided by an applicable U.S. income tax treaty) of a portion of its earnings and profits for
the taxable year that are effectively connected with its conduct of a trade or business in the U.S., subject to certain
adjustments.  Payments made to a non-U.S. holder may be subject to information reporting and to backup withholding
unless the holder complies with applicable certification and identification requirements as to its foreign status.
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A “dividend equivalent” payment is treated as a dividend from sources within the U.S. and such payments generally
would be subject to a 30% U.S. withholding tax if paid to a non-U.S. holder.  Under U.S. Treasury Department
regulations, certain payments (including deemed payments) on certain equity linked instruments (“ELI’s”) that are
“specified ELIs,” including the notes, that are contingent upon or determined by reference to actual or estimated U.S.
source dividends and that reference an interest in an “underlying security” would be treated as U.S. source dividends. 
An “underlying security,” is any interest in an entity taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes if a
payment with respect to such interest could give rise to a U.S. source dividend. Withholding on “dividend equivalent”
payments will apply to instruments linked to an interest in a partnership if the relevant partnership holds, directly or
indirectly, stock of domestic corporations meeting a minimum size threshold. Because we are unable to determine
whether the Index constituents underlying the notes hold corporate stock satisfying this requirement, we intend to treat
the notes as being subject to withholding on any “dividend equivalent” payments.However, Internal Revenue service
guidance provide that withholding on dividend equivalent payments will apply to specified ELIs that are delta-one
instruments issued on or after January 1, 2017 and to all specified ELIs issued on or after January 1, 2019. Based on
our determination that the delta of the notes with respect to the Index will be one, notes issued to a non-U.S. holder on
or after January 1, 2017 will be subject to withholding on  “dividend equivalent” payments. 

The amount of a “dividend equivalent” payment in respect of each Index constituent, if any, will be unclear, and
therefore the amount that is required to be withheld on any Coupon Amounts, or possibly from proceeds of sale or
other disposition of the notes, will be uncertain.  However, we expect that the Coupon Amounts will be in excess of
any potential “dividend equivalent” payments on the notes. As discussed above, we intend to withhold U.S. federal
income tax at a 30% rate on Coupon Amounts paid on the notes. Therefore, we do not expect the notes to require
additional withholding tax on account of any “dividend equivalent” payments. However, although unlikely, the potential
exists for “dividend equivalent” payments on the notes to exceed the Coupon Amounts paid. If that were the case, U.S.
federal income tax may be withheld in excess  of 30% of the Coupon Amounts and a non-U.S. holder of the notes may
be liable for additional U.S. federal income tax at a 30% rate on the difference between the Coupon Amount and the
“dividend equivalent” payments.

The U.S. Treasury Department regulations are not clear as to whether the 30% withholding on the Coupon Amounts
described above can be credited against any potential withholding required for “dividend equivalent” payments.
Therefore, the Internal Revenue Service could take a different position from that described above. If that were the
case, a non-U.S. holder would be subject to an additional 30% withholding tax on “dividend equivalent” payments made
on the notes, or may have to file a U.S. federal tax return if the non-U.S. holder’s U.S. federal tax liability for the
payment of any Coupon Amount is not fully satisfied by the withholding tax. 

The notes could be treated as “United States real property interests” under Section 897 of the Code.  If the notes were so
treated, certain adverse U.S. federal income tax consequences may apply to a non-U.S. holder that owns or is treated
as owning more than 5% of the notes (or if the notes are not considered regularly traded on an established securities
market), upon the sale, exchange, redemption or settlement of the notes (including treatment of any gain recognized in
respect of the notes as income effectively connected with the conduct of a U.S. trade or business and the imposition of
a 15% U.S. withholding tax on gross proceeds).  We currently do not intend to withhold on payments made with
respect to the notes to non-U.S. holders (other than the payment of any Coupon Amounts) provided that such non-U.S.
holders comply with the applicable certification requirements. However, in the event of a change of law or any formal
or informal guidance by the Internal Revenue Service, Treasury Department or Congress, or if we determine
withholding is appropriate under current law, we may withhold on payments made with respect to the notes (in
addition to the withholding on the Coupon Amounts), and we will not be required to pay any additional amounts with
respect to any such amounts withheld. Non-U.S. holders must consult with their tax advisor with regard to the
consequences to them of an investment in the notes, including under Section 897 of the Code.
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As discussed above, alternative characterizations of the notes for U.S. federal income tax purposes are possible. 
Should an alternative characterization, by reason of change or clarification of the law, by regulation or otherwise,
cause payments on the notes to become subject to withholding tax in addition to the withholding tax on Coupon
Amounts described above, we will withhold tax at the applicable statutory rate.  If we determine withholding is
appropriate with respect to the notes, we will withhold tax at the applicable statutory rate, and we will not pay any
additional amounts in respect of such withholding.  The Internal Revenue Service has also indicated that it is
considering whether income in respect of instruments such as the notes should be subject to withholding tax. 
Prospective investors should consult their own tax advisors in this regard.
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Backup Withholding and Information Reporting

Holders may be subject to information reporting.  Holders may also be subject to backup withholding on payments in
respect of their notes unless they provide proof of an applicable exemption or a correct taxpayer identification number
and otherwise comply with applicable requirements of the backup withholding rules.  Non-U.S. holders will not be
subject to backup withholding if they provide a properly completed Form W-8 appropriate to their circumstances. 
Amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules are not additional taxes and may be refunded or credited
against U.S. federal income tax liability, provided the required information is furnished to the Internal Revenue
Service.

The Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act

The Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (“FATCA”) imposes a 30% U.S. withholding tax on certain U.S. source
payments, including interest (and original issue discount), dividends, other fixed or determinable annual or periodical
gain, profits, and income, and on the gross proceeds from a disposition of property of a type which can produce U.S.
source interest or dividends (“Withholdable Payments”), if paid to a foreign financial institution (including amounts paid
to a foreign financial institution on behalf of a holder), unless such institution enters into an agreement with the
Treasury Department to collect and provide to the Treasury Department substantial information regarding U.S.
account holders, including certain account holders that are foreign entities with U.S. owners, with such institution. 
Account holders subject to information reporting requirements pursuant to FATCA may include holders of the notes. 
FATCA also generally imposes a withholding tax of 30% on Withholdable Payments made to a non-financial foreign
entity unless such entity provides the withholding agent with a certification that it does not have any substantial U.S.
owners or a certification identifying the direct and indirect substantial U.S. owners of the entity.

The U.S. Treasury Department and the IRS have announced that withholding on payments of gross proceeds from a
sale or redemption of the notes will only apply to payments made after December 31, 2018.  If we determine
withholding is appropriate with respect to the notes, we will withhold tax at the applicable statutory rate, and we will
not pay any additional amounts in respect of such withholding.  Foreign financial institutions and non-financial
foreign entities located in jurisdictions that have an intergovernmental agreement with the United States governing
FATCA may be subject to different rules.  Holders are urged to consult with their own tax advisors regarding the
possible implications of FATCA on their investment in the notes.
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EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT INCOME SECURITY ACT

A fiduciary of a pension, profit-sharing or other employee benefit plan (a “plan”) subject to the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”), should consider the fiduciary standards of ERISA in the context
of the plan’s particular circumstances before authorizing an investment in the notes.  Accordingly, among other factors,
the fiduciary should consider whether the investment would satisfy the prudence and diversification requirements of
ERISA and would be consistent with the documents and instruments governing the plan, and whether the investment
would involve a prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code
(the “Code”).

Section 406 of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code prohibit plans, as well as individual retirement accounts and
Keogh plans subject to Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code (also “plans”), from engaging in certain transactions
involving “plan assets” with persons who are “parties in interest” under ERISA or “disqualified persons” under the Code
(“parties in interest”) with respect to the plan or account.  A violation of these prohibited transaction rules may result in
civil penalties or other liabilities under ERISA and/or an excise tax under Section 4975 of the Code for those persons,
unless exemptive relief is available under an applicable statutory, regulatory or administrative exemption.  Certain
employee benefit plans and arrangements including those that are governmental plans (as defined in section 3(32) of
ERISA), certain church plans (as defined in Section 3(33) of ERISA) and foreign plans (as described in Section 4975
of the Code but may be subject to similar provisions under applicable federal, state, local, foreign or other regulations,
rules or laws (“similar laws”).

The acquisition of the notes by a plan with respect to which Bank of Montreal or certain of our affiliates is or becomes
a party in interest may constitute or result in a prohibited transaction under ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code, unless
those notes are acquired pursuant to and in accordance with an applicable exemption.  Section 408(b)(17) of ERISA
and Section 4975(d)(20) of the Code provide an exemption for the purchase and sale of securities and related lending
transactions where neither Bank of Montreal nor any of its affiliates have or exercise any discretionary authority or
control or render any investment advice with respect to the assets of the plan involved in the transaction and the plan
pays no more and receives no less than “adequate consideration” in connection with the transaction (the “service provider
exemption”).  Moreover, the United States Department of Labor has issued five prohibited transaction class
exemptions, or “PTCEs”, that may provide exemptive relief if required for direct or indirect prohibited transactions that
may arise from the purchase or holding of the notes.  Those exemptions are:

·PTCE 84-14, an exemption for certain transactions determined or effected by independent qualified professional assetmanagers;

·PTCE 90-1, an exemption for certain transactions involving insurance company pooled separate accounts;

·PTCE 91-38, an exemption for certain transactions involving bank collective investment funds;

·PTCE 95-60, an exemption for transactions involving certain insurance company general accounts; and

·PTCE 96-23, an exemption for plan asset transactions managed by in-house asset managers.

The notes may not be purchased or held by (1) any plan, (2) any entity whose underlying assets include “plan assets” by
reason of any plan’s investment in the entity (a “plan asset entity”) or (3) any person investment “plan assets” of any plan,
unless in each case the purchaser or holder is eligible for the exemptive relief under one or more of the PTCEs listed
above, the service provider exemption or another applicable similar exemption.  Any purchaser or holder of the notes
or any interest in the notes will be deemed to have represented by its purchase and holding of the notes that it either
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(1) is not a plan or a plan asset entity and is not purchasing those notes on behalf of or with “plan assets” of any plan or
plan asset entity or (2) with respect to the purchase or holding, is eligible for the exemptive relief available under any
of the PTCEs listed above, the service provider exemption or another applicable exemption.  In addition, any
purchaser or holder of the notes or any interest in the notes which is a non-ERISA arrangement will be deemed to
have represented by its purchase and holding of the notes that its purchase and holding will not violate the provisions
of any similar law.

PS-55

Edgar Filing: BANK OF MONTREAL /CAN/ - Form 424B2

104



In addition, any purchaser that is a plan or plan asset entity or that is acquiring notes on behalf of a plan or a plan asset
entity, including any fiduciary purchasing on behalf of a plan or plan asset entity, will be deemed to have represented,
in its corporate and its fiduciary capacity, by its purchase and holding of the notes that (a) neither the issuer, nor any
agent or underwriter, nor any of their respective affiliates (collectively the “Seller”) is a “fiduciary” (under Section 3(21)
of ERISA, or under any final or proposed regulations thereunder, or with respect to a governmental, church, or
non-U.S. plan under any substantially similar applicable law or regulation) with respect to the acquisition, holding or
disposition of the notes, or as a result of any exercise by the Seller of any rights in connection with the notes, (b) no
advice provided by the Seller has formed a primary basis for any investment decision by or on behalf of such
purchaser in connection with the notes and the transactions contemplated with respect to the notes, and (c) such
purchaser recognizes and agrees that any communication from the Seller to the purchaser with respect to the notes is
not intended by the Seller to be impartial investment advice and is rendered in its capacity as a seller of such notes and
not a fiduciary to such purchaser.

Due to the complexity of these rules and the penalties that may be imposed upon persons involved in non-exempt
prohibited transactions, it is important that fiduciaries or other persons considering purchasing the notes on behalf of
or with “plan assets” of any plan, plan asset entity or non-ERISA arrangement consult with their counsel regarding the
availability of exemptive relief under any of the PTCEs listed above, the service provider exemption or any other
applicable exemption, or the potential consequences of any purchase or holding under similar laws, as applicable.

If you are an insurance company or the fiduciary of a pension plan or an employee benefit plan, and propose to invest
in the notes, you should consult your legal counsel.
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SUPPLEMENTAL PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION (CONFLICTS OF INTEREST)

The terms and conditions set forth in the Distribution Agreement dated June 27, 2014 between Bank of Montreal and
the Agents party thereto, including BMOCM, govern the sale and purchase of the notes.

We sold $50,000,000 in principal amount on the Initial Trade Date and $2,500,000 in principal amount on January 19,
2018, each through BMOCM and through one or more dealers purchasing as principal through BMOCM for $50 per
note (collectively, 1,050,000 notes), which is the stated principal amount per note. We received proceeds equal to
100% of the offering price of the notes issued and sold on each date of issuance. Additional notes may be offered and
sold from time to time through BMOCM and one or more dealers at a price that is higher or lower than the stated
principal amount, based on the indicative value of the notes at that time. Sales of the notes after the Initial Trade Date
will be made at market prices prevailing at the time of sale, at prices related to market prices or at negotiated prices.
We will receive proceeds equal to 100% of the price that the notes are sold to the public, less any commissions paid to
BMOCM or any other dealer. We may not sell the full amount of notes offered by this pricing supplement, and may
discontinue sales of the notes at any time.

We may deliver notes against payment therefor on a date that is greater than two business days following the date of
sale of any notes.  Under Rule 15c6-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, trades in the secondary market
generally are required to settle in two business days, unless parties to any such trade expressly agree otherwise. 
Accordingly, purchasers who wish to transact in notes that are to be issued more than two business days after the
related trade date will be required to specify alternative settlement arrangements to prevent a failed settlement.

BMOCM and any other agent and dealer in the initial and any subsequent distribution are expected to charge normal
commissions for the purchase of the notes.

Broker-dealers may make a market in the notes, although none of them are obligated to do so and any of them may
stop doing so at any time without notice. This prospectus (such term includes this pricing supplement and the
accompanying prospectus supplement and prospectus) may be used by such dealers and our affiliates in connection
with market-making transactions. In these transactions, dealers may resell notes covered by this prospectus that they
acquire from us, BMOCM or other holders after the original offering and sale of the notes, or they may sell an note
covered by this prospectus in short sale transactions. This prospectus will be deemed to cover any short sales of notes
by market participants who cover their short positions with notes borrowed or acquired from us or our affiliates in the
manner described above.

Broker-dealers and other market participants are cautioned that some of their activities, including covering short sales
with notes borrowed from us or one of our affiliates, may result in their being deemed participants in the distribution
of the notes in a manner that would render them statutory underwriters and subject them to the prospectus delivery and
liability provisions of the Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”).  A determination of whether a particular market
participant is an underwriter must take into account all the facts and circumstances pertaining to the activities of the
participant in the particular case, and the example mentioned above should not be considered a complete description
of all the activities that would lead to designation as an underwriter and subject a market participant to the prospectus
delivery and liability provisions of the Securities Act.

BMOCM or another FINRA member will provide certain services relating to the distribution of the notes and may be
paid a fee for its services equal to all, or a portion of, the Investor Fee.  BMOCM may also pay fees to other dealers
pursuant to one or more separate agreements.  Any portion of the Investor Fee paid to BMOCM or such other FINRA
member will be paid on a periodic basis over the term of the notes.  Although BMOCM will not receive any discounts
in connection with such sales, BMOCM is expected to charge normal commissions for the purchase of any such
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notes. 

BMOCM will act as our agent in connection with any redemptions at the investor’s option, and the Redemption Fee
Amount applicable to any such redemptions will be paid to us.  Additionally, it is possible that BMOCM and its
affiliates may profit from expected hedging activities related to this offering, even if the value of the notes declines.
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The notes are not intended for purchase by any investor that is not a United States person, as that term is defined for
U.S. federal income tax purposes, and no dealer may make offers of the notes to any such investor.

No Prospectus (as defined in Directive 2003/71/EC, as amended (the “Prospectus Directive”)) will be prepared in
connection with these notes. Accordingly, these notes may not be offered to the public in any member state of the
European Economic Area (the “EEA”), and any purchaser of these notes who subsequently sells any of these notes in
any EEA member state must do so only in accordance with the requirements of the Prospectus Directive, as
implemented in that member state.

The notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to, and should not be offered, sold or
otherwise made available to, any retail investor in the EEA. For these purposes, the expression “offer" includes the
communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the notes to be
offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe the notes, and a “retail investor” means a person
who is one (or more) of: (a) a retail client, as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU, as
amended (“MiFID II”); or (b) a customer, within the meaning of Insurance Distribution Directive 2016/97/EU, as
amended, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of
MiFID II; or (c) not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive. Consequently, no key information
document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014, as amended (the “PRIIPs Regulation”), for offering or selling the
notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared, and therefore, offering or
selling the notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the
PRIIPs Regulation.

Conflicts of Interest

BMOCM is an affiliate of Bank of Montreal and, as such, has a “conflict of interest” in this offering within the meaning
of FINRA Rule 5121.  Consequently, the offering is being conducted in compliance with the provisions of Rule 5121. 
BMOCM is not permitted to sell notes in this offering to an account over which it exercises discretionary authority
without the prior specific written approval of the account holder.

VALIDITY OF THE NOTES

In connection with the most recent issuance of the notes, the following paragraphs were provided in the prior pricing
supplement:

In the opinion of Osler, Hoskin & Harcourt LLP, the issue and sale of the notes has been duly authorized by all
necessary corporate action of the Bank in conformity with the Senior Indenture, and when the notes have been validly
executed, authenticated and issued and, to the extent validity of the notes is a matter governed by the laws of the
Province of Ontario, or the laws of Canada applicable therein, will be valid obligations of the Bank, subject to the
following limitations (i) the enforceability of the Senior Indenture may be limited by the Canada Deposit Insurance
Corporation Act (Canada), the Winding-up and Restructuring Act (Canada) and bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, receivership, moratorium, arrangement or winding-up laws or other similar laws affecting the
enforcement of creditors’ rights generally; (ii) the enforceability of the Senior Indenture may be limited by equitable
principles, including the principle that equitable remedies such as specific performance and injunction may only be
granted in the discretion of a court of competent jurisdiction; (iii) pursuant to the Currency Act (Canada) a judgment
by a Canadian court must be awarded in Canadian currency and that such judgment may be based on a rate of
exchange in existence on a day other than the day of payment; and (iv) the enforceability of the Senior Indenture will
be subject to the limitations contained in the Limitations Act, 2002 (Ontario), and such counsel expresses no opinion
as to whether a court may find any provision of the Senior Debt Indenture to be unenforceable as an attempt to vary or
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exclude a limitation period under that Act.  This opinion is given as of the date hereof and is limited to the laws of the
Provinces of Ontario and the federal laws of Canada applicable thereto.  In addition, this opinion is subject to
customary assumptions about the Trustee’s authorization, execution and delivery of the Indenture and the genuineness
of signatures and certain factual matters, all as stated in the letter of such counsel dated April 27, 2017, which has
been filed as Exhibit 5.3 to Bank of Montreal’s Form 6-K filed with the SEC and dated April 27, 2017.
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In the opinion of Morrison & Foerster LLP, when the notes have been issued and sold as contemplated by the
prospectus supplement and the prospectus, the notes will be valid, binding and enforceable obligations of Bank of
Montreal, entitled to the benefits of the Senior Indenture, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency and similar
laws affecting creditors’ rights generally, concepts of reasonableness and equitable principles of general applicability
(including, without limitation, concepts of good faith, fair dealing and the lack of bad faith).  This opinion is given as
of the date hereof and is limited to the laws of the State of New York.  This opinion is subject to customary
assumptions about the Trustee’s authorization, execution and delivery of the Senior Indenture and the genuineness of
signatures and to such counsel’s reliance on the Bank and other sources as to certain factual matters, all as stated in the
legal opinion dated April 27, 2017, which has been filed as Exhibit 5.4 to the Bank’s Form 6-K dated April 27, 2017.
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ANNEX A

NOTICE OF EARLY REDEMPTION

To: [     ].com

Subject: Notice of Early Redemption, CUSIP No.: 063679104

[BODY OF EMAIL]

Name of broker: [ ]

Name of beneficial holder: [ ]

Number of Notes to be redeemed: [ ]

Applicable Redemption Valuation Date: [ ], 20[ ]*

Broker Contact Name: [ ]

Broker Telephone #: [ ]

Broker DTC # (and any relevant sub-account): [ ]

The undersigned acknowledges that in addition to any other requirements specified in the pricing supplement relating
to the notes being satisfied, the notes will not be redeemed unless (i) this notice of redemption is delivered to BMO
Capital Markets Corp. (“BMO Capital Markets”) by 2:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the Index Business Day prior to
the applicable Redemption Measurement Date; (ii) the confirmation, as completed and signed by the undersigned is
delivered to BMO Capital Markets by 5:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the same day the notice of redemption is
delivered; (iii) the undersigned has booked a delivery vs. payment (“DVP”) trade on the applicable Redemption
Measurement Date, facing BMO Capital Markets DTC 5257 and (iv) the undersigned instructs DTC to deliver the
DVP trade to BMO Capital Markets as booked for settlement via DTC at or prior to 10:00 a.m. (New York City time)
on the applicable Redemption Date.

The undersigned further acknowledges that the undersigned has read the section “Risk Factors — You will not know the
Redemption Amount at the time you elect to request that we redeem your notes” in the pricing supplement relating to
the notes and the undersigned understands that it will be exposed to market risk on the Redemption Measurement
Date.

 __________________________
*Subject to adjustment as described in the pricing supplement relating to the notes.

A-1
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ANNEX B

BROKER’S CONFIRMATION OF REDEMPTION

[TO BE COMPLETED BY BROKER]

Dated:

BMO Capital Markets Corp.

BMO Capital Markets, as Calculation Agent

e-mail: [        ]

To Whom It May Concern:

The holder of $[ ] Dorsey Wright MLP Index ETNs due December 10, 2036, CUSIP No. 063679104, redeemable for
a cash amount based on the performance of the Morningstar MLP Composite Index (the “notes”) hereby irrevocably
elects to receive a cash payment on the Redemption Date of [holder to specify]2 ⃰with respect to the number of notes
indicated below, as of the date hereof, the redemption right as described in the pricing supplement relating to the notes
(the “Prospectus”). Terms not defined herein have the meanings given to such terms in the Prospectus.

The undersigned certifies to you that it will (i) book a DVP trade on the applicable Redemption Measurement Date
with respect to the number of notes specified below at a price per note equal to the Redemption Amount, facing BMO
Capital Markets DTC 5257 and (ii) deliver the trade as booked for settlement via DTC at or prior to 10:00 a.m. (New
York City time) on the applicable Redemption Date.

The undersigned acknowledges that in addition to any other requirements specified in the Prospectus being satisfied,
the notes will not be redeemed unless (i) this confirmation is delivered to BMO Capital Markets by 5:00 p.m. (New
York City time) on the same day the notice of redemption is delivered; (ii) the undersigned has booked a DVP trade
on the applicable Redemption Measurement Date, facing BMO Capital Markets DTC 5257; and (iii) the undersigned
will deliver the DVP trade to BMO Capital Markets as booked for settlement via DTC at or prior to 10:00 a.m. (New
York City time) on the applicable Redemption Date.

Very truly yours,
[NAME OF DTC PARTICIPANT HOLDER]

Name:
Title:
Telephone:
Fax:
E-mail:

Number of notes surrendered for redemption: ________

DTC # (and any relevant sub-account): ________
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Contact Name: ________

Telephone: ________

Fax: ________

E-mail: ________

(At least 50,000 notes must be redeemed at one time to receive a cash payment on any Redemption Date.)

____________________________
*Subject to adjustment as described in the pricing supplement relating to the notes.

 B-1

nesses and entities in which the Company holds an interest as may be determined by the Board, and (3) such other
matters as agreed upon by Mr. Weiss and the Board; (ii) advising the Board and senior management of the Company
with respect to other significant restructuring matters, and (iii) such other duties and responsibilities on which the
Board and the Consultant shall mutually agree.

The Consulting Agreement provided for compensation in the form of stock options and cash.  The stock option
compensation under the Agreement was 550,000 options to acquire Company common stock with an exercise price of
$0.70 per share and expiring in ten years.  250,000 options vested during the term of the Agreement and 300,000
options would vest at the end of the Agreement unless the Board determined that Mr. Weiss’ performance was not
satisfactory, in which case the number of options awarded was at the discretion of the Board.  The reported closing
price of the Company’s stock on October 31, 2008 was $0.28.  The board concluded that Mr. Weiss’ performance was
more than
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satisfactory and thus 300,000 options vested at the end of the Consulting Agreement (for a total of 550,000 options as
provided under the agreement).  The cash compensation under the Agreement was $100,000 during the term of the
Consulting Agreement plus a bonus of up to $100,000, the award of which was dependent on a Board determination
as to whether Mr. Weiss’ performance was satisfactory and the amount of such bonus was at the discretion of the
Board.  The board determined that Mr. Weiss’ performance was more than satisfactory thus the amount of the cash
bonus was $100,000 and the Board and Mr. Weiss agreed the amount would be payable in six monthly installments.

In addition, on May 1, 2009, Mr. Weiss agreed to review the documentation to be generated in connection with the
negotiation of the final settlement agreements in the class action in which the Company was a defendant and the
insurance coverage litigation involving the Company.  As compensation for such services, the Board granted
Mr. Weiss 100,000 options to acquire Company common stock with an exercise price of $0.70 per share, expiring in
ten years, and vesting on completion of the final settlement agreements.  The reported closing price of the Company’s
stock on April 30, 2009 was $0.49.

(8)  Ms. Suveg entered into a three-year employment contract dated August 8, 2007 to serve as Chief Financial
Officer at a salary of $168,000.  The employment contract called for the grant of options to purchase 250,000
shares at $2.41 per share, 100,000 of which vested on the grant date and 100,000 and 50,000 were to vest on the
first and second anniversaries.  No options were exercised.  The employment contract provided that in the event
of termination by the Company for reasons other than theft of fraud, Ms. Suveg would be entitled to two years
salary, health benefits and vesting of unvested options and the ability to exercise options for two years after
termination.  We treated Ms. Suveg’s voluntary resignation as a breach of her employment agreement and we
recognized no amounts for financial statement reporting purposes in accordance with SFAS 123(R) with respect
to the option grants.

(9)  Pursuant to her employment agreement, Ms. Suveg was designated as Chief Financial Officer from August 8,
2007 until November 13, 2007.  She was not employed during the period from November 14, 2007 until
November 30, 2007.  While she was employed in 2007 and 2008, she functioned as principal financial
officer.  She resigned as interim corporate secretary on January 11, 2008.  She terminated as an employee on
March 31, 2009 although she continues as a consultant.

Outstanding Equity Awards at December 31, 2008
The following table provides information on the holdings as of December 31, 2008 of stock options granted to the
named executive officers.  This table includes unexercised and unvested option awards. Each equity grant is shown
separately for each named executive officer.
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OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT FISCAL YEAR END

Name Grant Date

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options

Exercisable

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options

Unexercisable

Equity
Incentive
Plan

Awards
Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Unearned
Options

Option
Exercise
Price

Option
Expiration Date

Michael T. Lyon 06/30/2008 50,000 - 0 - - 0 - $0.65 06/30/2013
09/08/2008 25,000 - 0 - - 0 - $0.71 09/08/2013

William T. Jacobson - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Ronald Price - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Morris D. Weiss (1) 11/01/2008 83,334 466,666 300,000 $0.70 10/31/2019
Barbara S. Suveg - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Ronald Price - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -

(1)  See information in footnote 7 to the Summary Compensation Table
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

PMB Helin Donovan, LLP was selected by our Board of Directors as the Company’s independent accountant for the
fiscal year ending December 31, 2008 and for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2009.  Representatives of PMB
Helin Donovan will not be attending the shareholder meeting.

Changes in Registrant’s Certifying Accountant
As noted in the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 27, 2008, on August 20, 2008, Company
dismissed Chisholm, Bierwolf & Nilson, LLC (“Chisholm”) as independent auditors.

The decision to change accountants was approved by the Board of Directors.  Chisholm was not the auditor with
respect to and hence rendered no report on Company financials for the years ended December 31, 2007 or 2008.  With
respect to financial statements for periods for which Chisholm acted as independent auditor, it did not render a report
containing an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of opinion, or an opinion that was qualified or modified as to
uncertainty, audit scope, or accounting principles.

The decision to dismiss Chisholm was approved by the Board of Directors of the Company on recommendation of a
special committee of the Board of Directors.

There were no disagreements with Chisholm on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement
disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure, which disagreement, if not resolved to the satisfaction of Chisholm, would
have caused it to make reference to the subject matter of the disagreement in connection with its report.

On August 21, 2008, the Company retained PMB Helin Donovan LLP (“PMB”) as independent auditors for the
purposes of auditing the financial statements.  PMB’s reports on the financial statements for the periods ending
December 31, 2007 and 2008 were included in the Annual Reports for the periods ending December 31, 2007 and
2008.

The Company provided Chisholm with a copy of the disclosures made above in the accounting section hereof and in a
letter addressed to the Securities and Exchange Commission, Chisholm stated that it was “in agreement with only those
statements...as they relate to our firm.”

The Company has provided PMB Helin Donovan with a copy of the disclosures made in the Accounting section
hereof and requested that Chisholm furnish it with a letter addressed to the Securities and Exchange Commission
stating whether it agrees with such statements and, if not, stating the respects in which it does not agree.

Fees payable to PMB
The following table presents fees for audit services rendered by PMB Helin Donovan, the independent auditor for the
audit of the Company’s annual consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007.

PMB Helin Donovan,
LLC

December
31, 2008

December
31, 2007

Audit Fees (1) $44,338 $48,912
Audit-Related Fees - 0 - - 0 -
Tax Fees (2) - 0 - - 0 -
All Other Fees (3) - 0 - - 0 -
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Total $44,338 $48,912

54

Edgar Filing: BANK OF MONTREAL /CAN/ - Form 424B2

117



(1)  Fees for audit services billed or expected to be billed relating to fiscal 2007 consisted of (a) audit of the
Company’s financial statements, (b) reviews of the Company’s quarterly financial statements, statutory and
regulatory audits, consents and other services related to SEC matters, (c) audit of the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting with the objective of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether effective control over
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects, and (d) attestation of management’s assessment of
internal control, as required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Section 404.

Fees for audit services billed or expected to be billed relating to fiscal 2008 consisted of (a) audit of the Company’s
financial statements, and (b) reviews of the Company’s quarterly financial statements, statutory and regulatory audits,
consents and other services related to SEC matters.

(2)  Tax fees represent the aggregate fees paid for professional services, principally including fees for tax compliance
and tax advice.

(3)  All other fees represent the aggregate fees paid for products and services that are not included in the “Audit fees,”
“Audi-related fees,” and “Tax fees” sections.  The Audit Committee has considered whether the provision of
non-audit services is compatible with maintaining the principal registered public accounting firm’s independence.

PROPOSALS OF SHAREHOLDERS FOR 2010 ANNUAL MEETING
Shareholders who, in accordance with SEC Rule 14a-8, wish to present proposals for inclusion in the proxy materials
to be distributed in connection with next year’s Annual Meeting Proxy Statement must submit such shareholder’s
proposals so that they are received at the Company’s principal executive offices no later than the close of business on
December 1, 2009.  As the rules of the SEC make clear, simply submitting a proposal does not guarantee that it will
be included.

Shareholders who wish make nominations not pursuant to SEC Rule 14a-8 must provide notice within 10 days after
the public announcement of the 2010 annual meeting date.  To be in proper form, a shareholder’s notice must include
the specified information concerning the proposal or nominee as described in our Bylaws.  A shareholder who wishes
to submit a proposal or nomination is encouraged to seek independent counsel about our Bylaw and SEC
requirements.

The Company will not consider any proposal or nomination that does not meet the Bylaw and SEC requirements for
submitting a proposal or nomination.

OTHER MATTERS
The Board of Directors knows of no other business that will be presented at the meeting.  If any other business is
properly brought before the meeting, it is intended that proxies in the enclosed form will be voted in respect thereof in
accordance with the judgment of the persons voting the proxies.

Whether you intend to be present at this meeting or not, you are urged to return your proxy promptly.

INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE

The SEC allows us to “incorporate by reference” the information we file with it, which means that we can disclose
important information to you by referring you to those documents. The information incorporated by reference is
considered to be part of this proxy statement.

The information set forth under the following captions and on the following pages in the Company’s Annual Report of
10-K/A (Amendment No. 2) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008 is incorporated herein by reference thereto:
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Item 7.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Financial Statements:
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2008 and 2007
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
for Years Ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for Years Ended
December 31, 2008 and 2007

Item 9.
Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting
and Financial Disclosure

In addition, the information set forth under the following captions and on the following pages in the Company’s
Quarterly Report of 10-Q/A for the three and six months ended June 30, 2009 is incorporated herein by reference
thereto:

Item 1. Consolidated Financial Statements
Consolidated Balance Sheets at June 30, 2009 (unaudited) and
December 31, 2008
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
(unaudited) for the Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2009
and 2008
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (unaudited) for the
Three and Six Months Ended June 230, 2009 and 2008
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)

Item 2.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The reports identified above are available at on the following website:  www.proxyvote.com and are without charge to
security holders upon written or oral request. Requests should be directed to: Atlas Mining Company, 110 Greene
Street, Suite 1101, New York, NY, 10012, (208) 556-1181.  The reports will be mailed no later than one business day
after the request.  The reports are also available on the website of the SEC, www.sec.gov.

By order of the Board of Directors.

Andre Zeitoun, President and CEO
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Appendix A

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

THIS AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER (this “Merger Agreement”) is entered into as of the ___ day of
_________, 2009 by and between Atlas Mining Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Surviving Corporation”), and
Atlas Mining Company, an Idaho corporation (“Merging Corporation”). Surviving Corporation and Merging
Corporation are sometimes collectively referred to hereinafter as the “Constituent Corporations.”

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Surviving Corporation is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of Delaware and is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Merging Corporation;

WHEREAS, Merging Corporation is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of Idaho; and

WHEREAS, Surviving Corporation and Merging Corporation and their respective Boards of Directors deem it
advisable and in the best interests of the corporations and their respective stockholders to merge Merging Corporation
with and into Surviving Corporation pursuant to the Idaho Business Corporation Act and the Delaware General
Corporate Law upon the terms and conditions set forth herein;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, the mutual covenants, herein contained, and other valuable
consideration the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree that Merging
Corporation shall be merged with and into Surviving Corporation (the “Merger”) pursuant to the terms and conditions
herein set forth.

AGREEMENT

1.General.

1.1           The Merger. On the Effective Date (as herein defined) of the Merger, Merging Corporation shall be merged
with and into Surviving Corporation and the separate existence of Merging Corporation shall cease and Surviving
Corporation shall survive such Merger. The name of Surviving Corporation shall be Atlas Mining Company if
Proposal 2 in the Proxy Statement for the 2009 Annual Meeting is not approved by shareholders of the Merging
Corporation and Applied Minerals, Inc. if it is approved by shareholders.

1.2           Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws. The certificate of incorporation of Surviving Corporation as in
effect immediately prior to the Effective Date in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A shall be the certificate of
incorporation of Surviving Corporation after consummation of the Merger.  If after the shareholder vote at the 2009
Annual Meeting, any of Proposals 2, 3, 4, or 5 is not approved by shareholders, the certificate will be amended to
include corresponding provisions from the articles of incorporation of the Merging Corporation, all as set forth in the
Proxy Statement.  The Bylaws of Surviving Corporation as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Date shall be
the Bylaws of Surviving Corporation after consummation of the Merger.

1.3           Directors and Officers. The directors and officers of Merging Corporation shall, from and after the Effective
Date, be the directors and officers of Surviving Corporation, until the earlier of their resignation or removal or until
their respective successors are duly elected or appointed and qualified.
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1.4           Property and Liabilities of Constituent Corporations. On the Effective Date, the separate existence of
Merging Corporation shall cease and Merging Corporation shall be merged into Surviving Corporation. Surviving
Corporation, from and after the Effective Date, shall possess all the rights, privileges, powers and franchises of
whatsoever nature and description, of a public as well as of a private nature, and be subject to all the restrictions,
disabilities and duties of each of the Constituent Corporations; all rights, privileges, powers and franchises of each of
the Constituent Corporations, and all property, real, personal and mixed,
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of and debts due to either of the Constituent Corporations on whatever account as well for stock subscriptions as all
other things in action or belonging to each of the Constituent Corporations shall be vested in Surviving Corporation;
and all property, rights, privileges, powers and franchises, and all other interests shall be thereafter as effectually the
property of Surviving Corporation as they were of the several and respective Constituent Corporations and the title to
any real estate vested by deed or otherwise in either of the Constituent Corporations shall not revert or be in any way
impaired by reason of the Merger. All rights of creditors and all liens upon the property of the Constituent
Corporations shall be preserved unimpaired, and all debts, liabilities and duties of the Constituent Corporations
thenceforth shall attach to Surviving Corporation, and may be enforced against it to the same extent as if said debts,
liabilities and duties had been incurred or contracted by it. Any claim existing or action or proceeding, whether civil,
criminal or administrative, pending by or against either Constituent Corporation may be prosecuted to judgment or
decree as if the Merger had not taken place, or Surviving Corporation may be substituted in such action or proceeding.

1.5           Further Assurances. Merging Corporation agrees that, at any time, or from time to time, as and when
requested by Surviving Corporation, or by its successors and assigns, it will execute and deliver, or cause to be
executed and delivered in its name by its last acting officers, or by the corresponding officers of Surviving
Corporation, all such conveyances, assignments, transfers, deeds or other instruments, and will take or cause to be
taken such further or other action as Surviving Corporation, its successors or assigns may deem necessary or desirable
in order to evidence the transfer, vesting or devolution of any property, right, privilege or franchise or to vest or
perfect in or confirm to Surviving Corporation, its successors and assigns, title to and possession of all the property,
rights, privileges, powers, franchises and interests referred to in this Section 1 herein and otherwise to carry out the
intent and purposes hereof.

1.6           Effective Date. The Merger shall become effective on the later of (a) the day on which an executed copy of
a Certificate of Ownership and Merger is filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware in the manner
required by the Delaware General Corporation Law and (b) the day on which an executed copy of Articles of Merger
are filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Idaho in the manner required by the Idaho Business Corporation
Act (the “Effective Date”).

2.           Conversion of Securities on Merger.

2.1           Effect of Merger on Capital Stock. Each share of Merging Corporation’s common stock, no par value per
share (other than shares (“Dissenting Shares”) that are owned by shareholders (“Dissenting Shareholders”) that are entitled
to and properly exercise appraisal rights pursuant Chapter 13 of the Idaho Business Corporation Act), issued and
outstanding immediately before the Effective Date shall, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of
the holder thereof, be converted into and become one (1) validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable share of
Surviving Corporation’s common stock, $0.001 par value per share (the “Surviving Corporation Stock”). Each share of
Surviving Corporation’s common stock issued and outstanding immediately before the Effective Date of the Merger
shall be canceled without any consideration being issued or paid therefore, without any further action on the part of
the holder thereof.

2.2           Effect of Merger on Options and PIK Notes. Each option of the Merging Corporation issued and outstanding
immediately prior to the Effective Date shall be (a) converted into and shall be an identical security of the Surviving
Corporation subject to the same agreement and terms as then exist with respect thereto, and (b) in the case of
securities to acquire common stock of the Merging Corporation, converted into the identical right to acquire the same
number of shares of Surviving Corporation Stock as the number of shares of common stock of the Merging
Corporation that were acquirable pursuant to such option, warrant or other security. Each 10% PIK Election
Convertible Note due 2018 of the Merging Corporation issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective
Date shall be (a) converted into and shall be an identical security of the Surviving Corporation subject to the same
agreement and terms as then exist with respect thereto, and (b) in the case of securities to acquire common stock of the
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Corporation Stock as the number of shares of common stock of the Merging Corporation that were acquirable
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2.3           Certificates. At and after the Effective Date, all of the outstanding certificates which immediately prior
thereto represented shares of Merging Corporation stock (other than Dissenting Shares), or options, warrants or other
securities of the Merging Corporation, shall be deemed for all purposes to evidence ownership of and to represent the
shares of Surviving Corporation Stock, or options, warrants or other securities of Surviving Corporation, as the case
may be, into which the shares of Merging Corporation stock, or options, warrants or other securities of the Surviving
Corporation, as the case may be, represented by such certificates have been converted as herein provided and shall be
so registered on the books and records of the Surviving Corporation or its transfer agent. The registered owner of any
such outstanding certificate shall, until such certificate shall have been surrendered for transfer or otherwise accounted
for to the Surviving Corporation or its transfer agent, have and be entitled to exercise any voting and other rights with
respect to, and to receive any dividends and other distributions upon, the shares of Surviving Corporation Stock, or
options, warrants or other securities of Surviving Corporation, as the case may be, evidenced by such outstanding
certificate, as above provided.

2.4           Appraisal Rights. No Dissenting Shareholder shall be entitled to shares of Surviving Corporation Stock
hereunder if the holder thereof shall have failed to perfect or shall have effectively withdrawn or lost such holder’s
right to appraisal under the Idaho Business Corporation Act, and any Dissenting Shareholder shall be entitled to
receive only the payment provided by the Idaho Business Corporation Act with respect to Dissenting Shares owned by
such Dissenting Shareholder. If any person or entity who otherwise would be deemed a Dissenting Shareholder shall
have failed to properly perfect or shall have effectively withdrawn or lost the right to appraisal with respect to any
shares which would be Dissenting Shares but for that failure to perfect or withdrawal or loss of the right to appraisal,
such Dissenting Shares shall thereupon be treated as though such Dissenting Shares had been converted into shares of
Surviving Corporation Stock.

3.           Foreign Qualification. Surviving Corporation covenants and agrees, to the extent required by applicable law,
to register or qualify, as applicable, to do business as a foreign corporation in those states in which Merging
Corporation is qualified to do business immediately prior to the Effective Date.

4.           Conditions to the Obligations of the Constituent Corporations to Effect the Merger.

4.1           Approval by Stockholders. The stockholders of Merging Corporation shall have approved the Merger and
this Merger Agreement in accordance with Idaho law.

4.2           Appraisal Rights.  Holders of no more than 0.5% of the outstanding shall deliver written notice of such
shareholder’s intent to demand payment for such shareholder’s shares if the proposed action is effectuated

4.3           Governmental Approvals; No Restraints. No statute, rule, regulation, executive order, decree, ruling,
injunction or other order (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) shall have been enacted, entered,
promulgated or enforced by any court or governmental authority of competent jurisdiction that prohibits, restrains,
enjoins or restricts the consummation of the Merger.

5.           Amendment. The respective Boards of Directors of the Constituent Corporations may amend this Merger
Agreement at any time prior to the Effective Date, provided that an amendment made subsequent to the approval of
the Merger by the stockholders of Merging Corporation shall not (a) alter or change the amount or kind of shares,
securities, cash, property or rights to be received under this Merger Agreement by the shareholders of Merging
Corporation; (b) alter or change any term of the Certificate of Incorporation of Surviving Corporation; or (c) alter or
change any of the terms and conditions of this Merger Agreement if such alteration or change would adversely affect
the shareholders of Merging Corporation.
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6.           Miscellaneous.

6.1           Counterparts. This Merger Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and via facsimile or
other similar electronic transmission, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, and all of which taken together
shall constitute one Merger Agreement.

6.2           Termination. This Merger Agreement may be terminated and the Merger abandoned at any time prior to the
Effective Date, whether before or after stockholder approval of this Merger Agreement, by the consent of the Board of
Directors of either of the Constituent Corporations.

6.3           Governing Law.  The Merger and this Merger Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance
with, the laws of the State of Delaware.

6.4           No Third Party Beneficiaries. This Merger Agreement is for the sole benefit of the parties hereto and is not
intended to and shall not confer upon any person other than the parties hereto any rights or remedies hereunder.

6.5           Severability. If any provision of this Merger Agreement (or any portion thereof) or the application of any
such provision (or any portion thereof) to any person or circumstance shall be held invalid, illegal or unenforceable in
any respect by a court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any
other provision hereof (or the remaining portion thereof) or the application of such provision to any other person or
circumstances.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Constituent Corporations have executed this Merger Agreement as of the date and year
first above written.

MERGING CORPORATION:
Atlas Mining Company
an Idaho corporation
110 Green St – Ste 1101
New York, NY  10012

By:
Its:

SURVIVING CORPORATION:
Atlas Mining Sub, Inc.
a Delaware corporation
110 Greene St – Ste 1101
New York, NY  10012

By:
Its:
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Appendix B Certificate of Incorporation of Atlas Mining Sub, Inc. (“Delaware Corporation”), into which Atlas Mining
Company will be merged if Reincorporation Proposal is Approved, with variations depending of shareholder votes on
Proposals 2, 3, 4, and 5

CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

OF

Alternative #1 (If Proposal 2 is Approved) Applied Minerals, Inc.

Alternative #2 (If Proposal 2 is NOT Approved) Atlas Mining Company

FIRST:

Alternative #1 (If Proposal 2 is Approved)

The name of the Corporation is and shall be Applied Minerals, Inc. (hereinafter in this Certificate of Incorporation
called the “Corporation”).

Alternative #2 (If Proposal 2 is NOT Approved) Atlas Mining Company

The name of the Corporation is and shall be Atlas Mining Company (hereinafter in this Certificate of Incorporation
called the “Corporation”).

SECOND: The principal office and place of business of the Corporation in the State of Delaware is located at 1209
Orange Street, in the City of Wilmington, County of New Castle; and the name and post office address of the
registered agent of the Corporation in the State of Delaware is The National Registered Agents, Inc., 160 Greentree
Drive, Suite 101, in the City of Dover, County of Kent, Delaware.

THIRD: The nature of the business, or objects or purposes to be transacted, promoted or carried on are as follows:

To engage in, conduct, perform or participate in every kind of commercial, agricultural, mercantile, manufacturing,
mining, transportation, industrial or other enterprise, business, work, contract, undertaking, venture or operation.

To buy, sell, manufacture, refine, import, export and deal in all products, goods, wares, merchandise, substances,
apparatus, and property of every kind, nature and description, and to construct, maintain, and alter any buildings,
works or mines.

To enter into, make and perform contracts of every kind with any person, firm or corporation.
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To do all and everything necessary, suitable, convenient or proper for the accomplishment of any of the purposes or
the attainment of one or more of the objects herein enumerated, or of the powers herein named, or which shall at any
time appear conducive to or expedient for the protection, or benefit of the Corporation, either as holder of, or
interested in, any property or otherwise, to the same extent as natural persons might or could do, in any part of the
world.
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To conduct any of its business in the State of Delaware and elsewhere, including in the term "elsewhere" any of the
states, districts, territories, colonies or dependencies of the United States, and in any and all foreign countries and to
have one or more offices, and to hold, purchase, mortgage and convey real and personal property, without limit as to
amount, within or (except as and when forbidden by local laws) without the State of Delaware.

To carry on any other business to any extent and in any manner not prohibited by the laws of Delaware or, where the
Corporation may seek to do such business elsewhere, by local laws.

The foregoing clauses shall be construed both as objects and powers, but no recitation or declaration of specific or
special objects or powers herein enumerated shall be deemed to be exclusive; but in each and every instance it is
hereby expressly declared that all other powers, not inconsistent therewith, now or hereafter permitted or granted
under the laws of Delaware, or by the laws of any other state or country into which the Corporation may go or seek to
do business, are hereby expressly included as if such other or general powers were herein set forth.

FOURTH:

Alternative #1 (If Proposal 2 is Approved and Proposal 4 is Approved)

A.  Authorized Shares and Classes of Stock.

The total number of shares and classes of stock that the Company shall have authority to issue is 130,000,000 million
shares, which shall be divided into two classes, as follows:  10,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, par value of $0.001
per share, and 120,000,000 shares of Common Stock, the par value of $0.001 per share.

B.  Designations, Powers, Preferences and Rights, in Respect of the Shares of Preferred Stock.

(1) Shares of the Preferred Stock may be issued in one or more series at such time or times and for such consideration
or considerations as the Board of Directors may determine.  All shares of any one series shall be of equal rank and
identical in all respects.

(2) Authority is hereby expressly granted to the Board of Directors to fix from time to time, by resolution or
resolutions providing for the issue of any series of Preferred Stock, the designation of such series, and the powers,
preferences and rights of the shares of such series, and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, including
the following:

(a) The distinctive designation and number of shares comprising such series, which number may (except where
otherwise provided by the Board of Directors in creating such series) be increased or decreased (but not below the
number of shares then outstanding) from time to time by like action of the Board of Directors;

(b) The dividend rate or rates on the shares of such series and the preferences, if any, over any other series (or of any
other series over such series) with respect to dividends, the terms and conditions upon which and the periods in
respect of which dividends shall be payable, whether and upon what conditions such dividends shall be cumulative
and, if cumulative, the date or dates from which dividends shall accumulate;

(c) Whether or not the shares of such series shall be redeemable, the limitations and restrictions with respect to such
redemptions, the time or times when, the price or prices at which and the manner in which such shares shall be
redeemable, including the manner of selecting shares of such series for redemption if less than all shares are to be
redeemed;
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(d) The rights to which the holders of shares and such series shall be entitled, and the preferences, if any, over any
other series (or of any other series over such series), upon the voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution,
distribution of assets or winding-up of the Corporation, which rights may vary depending on whether such liquidation,
dissolution, distribution or winding-up is voluntary or involuntary, and, if voluntary, may vary at different dates;

(e) Whether or not the shares of such series shall be subject to the operation of a purchase, retirement or sinking fund,
and, if so, whether and upon what conditions such purchase, retirement or sinking fund shall be cumulative or
noncumulative, the extent to which and the manner in which such fund shall be applied to the purchase or redemption
of the shares of such series for retirement or to other corporate purposes and the terms and provisions relative to the
operation thereof;

(f) Whether or not the shares of such series shall be convertible into or exchangeable for shares of stock of any other
class or classes, or any other series of the same class and, if so convertible or exchangeable, the price or prices or the
rate or rates of conversion or exchange and the method, if any, of adjusting the same, and any other terms and
conditions of such conversion or exchange;

(g) The voting powers, full and/or limited, if any, of the shares of such series; and if the certificate of incorporation
provides that the number of directors shall be fixed from time to time solely by resolution of the Board of Directors,
acting by not less than a majority of the directors then in office, whether or not and under what conditions the shares
of such series (alone or together with the shares of one or more other series having similar provisions) shall be entitled
to vote separately as a single class, for the election of one or more additional directors of the Corporation in case of
dividend arrearages or other specified events, or upon other matters;

(h) Whether or not the issuance of any additional shares of such series, or of any shares of any other series, shall be
subject to restrictions as to issuance, or as to the powers, preferences or rights of any such other series;

(i) Whether or not the holders of shares of such series shall be entitled, as a matter of right, to subscribe for or
purchase any part of any new or additional issue of stock of any class or of securities convertible into stock of any
class and, if so entitled, the qualifications, conditions, limitations and restrictions of such right; and

(j) Any other preferences, privileges and powers, and relative, participating, optional or other special rights, and
qualifications, limitations or restrictions of such series, as the Board of Directors may deem advisable and as shall not
be inconsistent with the provisions of this Certificate of Incorporation.

C.  Limitations, Relative Rights and Powers in Respect of Shares of Common Stock.

(l) After the requirements with respect to preferential dividends, if any, on the Preferred Stock (fixed pursuant to
Section B) shall have been met and after the Corporation shall have complied with all the requirements, if any, with
respect to the setting aside of sums as purchase, retirement or sinking funds (fixed pursuant to Section B), then and not
otherwise the holders of Common Stock shall be entitled to receive such dividends as may be declared from time to
time by the Board of Directors.

(2) After distribution in full of the preferential amount, if any, (fixed pursuant to Section B) to be distributed to the
holders of Preferred Stock in the event of the voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution, distribution of assets or
winding-up of the Corporation, the holders of the Common Stock shall be entitled to receive all the remaining assets
of the Corporation of whatever kind available for the distribution to stockholders ratably in proportion to the number
of shares of Common Stock held by them respectively.
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(3) Except as may be otherwise required by law or by this Certificate of Incorporation, each holder of Common Stock
shall have one vote in respect of each share of stock held by him on all matters voted upon by the stockholders.

D.  Other Provisions.

(l) Except as may be provided in the resolution or resolutions of the Board of Directors pursuant to Section B with
respect to any series of Preferred Stock, no holder of stock of any class of the Corporation shall be entitled as of right
to purchase or subscribe for any part of any unissued stock of any class, or of any additional stock of any class of
Capital Stock of the Corporation, or to any bonds, certificates of indebtedness, debentures, or other securities
convertible into stock of the Corporation, now or hereafter authorized, but any such stock or other securities
convertible into stock may be issued and disposed of pursuant to resolution by the Board of Directors to such persons,
firms, corporations or associations and upon such terms and for such consideration as the Board of Directors in the
exercise of its discretion may determine and as may be permitted by law.  Any and all shares of stock so issued for
which the consideration so fixed has been paid or delivered to the Corporation shall be fully paid and not liable to any
further call.

(2) In no case shall fractions of shares of any class of stock be issued by the Corporation, but in lieu thereof the
Corporation shall, at its option, make a cash adjustment or issue fractional Scrip Certificates, in such form and in such
denominations as shall from time to time be determined by the Board of Directors.  Such Scrip Certificates shall be
exchangeable on or before such date or dates as the Board of Directors may determine, when surrendered with other
similar Scrip Certificates in sufficient aggregate amounts, for certificates for fully paid and non-assessable full shares
of the respective stocks for which such Scrip Certificates are exchangeable, and new Scrip Certificates of a like tenor
for the remaining fraction of a share, if any.  Such Scrip Certificates shall not entitle any holder thereof to voting
rights, dividend rights or any other rights of a stockholder or any rights other than the rights therein set forth, and no
dividend or interest shall be payable or shall accrue with respect to Scrip Certificates or the interests represented
thereby.  All such Scrip Certificates which are not surrendered in exchange for shares of stock on or before their
respective expiration dates shall thereafter be void and of no effect whatever.

Alternative#2 (If Proposals 3and 4 are NOT Approved)

The total authorized capital stock of this corporation shall be sixty million (60,000,000) no par, common shares, and
ten million (10,000,000) of one dollar ($1.00) par value noncumulative nonvoting nonconvertible preferred shares

Alternative #3 (If Proposal 3 is Approved and Proposal 4 is NOT Approved)

The total number of shares and classes of stock that the Company shall have authority to issue is 110,000,000 shares,
which shall be divided into two classes, as follows:  10,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, one dollar ($1.00) par value
noncumulative nonvoting nonconvertible preferred shares, and 120,000,000 shares of Common Stock, the par value of
$0.001 per share.

Alternative#4 (If Proposal 3is NOT Approved and Proposal 4 is Approved)

A.  Authorized Shares and Classes of Stock

The total number of shares and classes of stock that the Company shall have authority to issue is 70,000,000 shares,
which shall be divided into two classes, as follows:  10,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value
noncumulative nonvoting nonconvertible preferred shares, and 60,000,000 shares of Common Stock, the par value of
$0.001 per share.

Edgar Filing: BANK OF MONTREAL /CAN/ - Form 424B2

135



B - 64

Edgar Filing: BANK OF MONTREAL /CAN/ - Form 424B2

136



B.  Designations, Powers, Preferences and Rights, in Respect of the Shares of Preferred Stock.

(1) Shares of the Preferred Stock may be issued in one or more series at such time or times and for such consideration
or considerations as the Board of Directors may determine.  All shares of any one series shall be of equal rank and
identical in all respects.

(2) Authority is hereby expressly granted to the Board of Directors to fix from time to time, by resolution or
resolutions providing for the issue of any series of Preferred Stock, the designation of such series, and the powers,
preferences and rights of the shares of such series, and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, including
the following:

(a)  The distinctive designation and number of shares comprising such series, which number may (except where
otherwise provided by the Board of Directors in creating such series) be increased or decreased (but not below the
number of shares then outstanding) from time to time by like action of the Board of Directors;

(b)  The dividend rate or rates on the shares of such series and the preferences, if any, over any other series (or of any
other series over such series) with respect to dividends, the terms and conditions upon which and the periods in
respect of which dividends shall be payable, whether and upon what conditions such dividends shall be
cumulative and, if cumulative, the date or dates from which dividends shall accumulate;

(c)  Whether or not the shares of such series shall be redeemable, the limitations and restrictions with respect to such
redemptions, the time or times when, the price or prices at which and the manner in which such shares shall be
redeemable, including the manner of selecting shares of such series for redemption if less than all shares are to be
redeemed;

(d)  The rights to which the holders of shares and such series shall be entitled, and the preferences, if any, over any
other series (or of any other series over such series), upon the voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution,
distribution of assets or winding-up of the Corporation, which rights may vary depending on whether such
liquidation, dissolution, distribution or winding-up is voluntary or involuntary, and, if voluntary, may vary at
different dates;

(e)  Whether or not the shares of such series shall be subject to the operation of a purchase, retirement or sinking fund,
and, if so, whether and upon what conditions such purchase, retirement or sinking fund shall be cumulative or
noncumulative, the extent to which and the manner in which such fund shall be applied to the purchase or
redemption of the shares of such series for retirement or to other corporate purposes and the terms and provisions
relative to the operation thereof;

(f)  Whether or not the shares of such series shall be convertible into or exchangeable for shares of stock of any other
class or classes, or any other series of the same class and, if so convertible or exchangeable, the price or prices or
the rate or rates of conversion or exchange and the method, if any, of adjusting the same, and any other terms and
conditions of such conversion or exchange;

(g)  The voting powers, full and/or limited, if any, of the shares of such series; and if the articles provide that the
number of directors whether or not and under what conditions the shares of such series (alone or together with the
shares of one or more other series having similar provisions) shall be entitled to vote separately as a single class,
for the election of one or more additional directors of the Corporation in case of dividend arrearages or other
specified events, or upon other matters;

(h)  Whether or not the issuance of any additional shares of such series, or of any shares of any other series, shall be
subject to restrictions as to issuance, or as to the powers, preferences or rights of any such other series;

(i)  Whether or not the holders of shares of such series shall be entitled, as a matter of right, to subscribe for or
purchase any part of any new or additional issue of stock of any class or of securities convertible into stock of any
class and, if so entitled, the qualifications, conditions, limitations and restrictions of such right; and

(j)  Any other preferences, privileges and powers, and relative, participating, optional or other special rights, and
qualifications, limitations or restrictions of such series, as the Board of Directors may deem advisable and as shall
not be inconsistent with the provisions of this Certificate of Incorporation.
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C.  Limitations, Relative Rights and Powers in Respect of Shares of Common Stock.

(l) After the requirements with respect to preferential dividends, if any, on the Preferred Stock (fixed pursuant to
Section B) shall have been met and after the Corporation shall have complied with all the requirements, if any, with
respect to the setting aside of sums as purchase, retirement or sinking funds (fixed pursuant to Section B), then and not
otherwise the holders of Common Stock shall be entitled to receive such dividends as may be declared from time to
time by the Board of Directors.

(2) After distribution in full of the preferential amount, if any, (fixed pursuant to Section B) to be distributed to the
holders of Preferred Stock in the event of the voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution, distribution of assets or
winding-up of the Corporation, the holders of the Common Stock shall be entitled to receive all the remaining assets
of the Corporation of whatever kind available for the distribution to stockholders ratably in proportion to the number
of shares of Common Stock held by them respectively.
39
(3) Except as may be otherwise required by law or by this Certificate of Incorporation, each holder of Common Stock
shall have one vote in respect of each share of stock held by him on all matters voted upon by the stockholders.

D.  Other Provisions.

(l) Except as may be provided in the resolution or resolutions of the Board of Directors pursuant to Section B with
respect to any series of Preferred Stock, no holder of stock of any class of the Corporation shall be entitled as of right
to purchase or subscribe for any part of any unissued stock of any class, or of any additional stock of any class of
Capital Stock of the Corporation, or to any bonds, certificates of indebtedness, debentures, or other securities
convertible into stock of the Corporation, now or hereafter authorized, but any such stock or other securities
convertible into stock may be issued and disposed of pursuant to resolution by the Board of Directors to such persons,
firms, corporations or associations and upon such terms and for such consideration as the Board of Directors in the
exercise of its discretion may determine and as may be permitted by law.  Any and all shares of stock so issued for
which the consideration so fixed has been paid or delivered to the Corporation shall be fully paid and not liable to any
further call.

(2) In no case shall fractions of shares of any class of stock be issued by the Corporation, but in lieu thereof the
Corporation shall, at its option, make a cash adjustment or issue fractional Scrip Certificates, in such form and in such
denominations as shall from time to time be determined by the Board of Directors.  Such Scrip Certificates shall be
exchangeable on or before such date or dates as the Board of Directors may determine, when surrendered with other
similar Scrip Certificates in sufficient aggregate amounts, for certificates for fully paid and non-assessable full shares
of the respective stocks for which such Scrip Certificates are exchangeable, and new Scrip Certificates of a like tenor
for the remaining fraction of a share, if any.  Such Scrip Certificates shall not entitle any holder thereof to voting
rights, dividend rights or any other rights of a stockholder or any rights other than the rights therein set forth, and no
dividend or interest shall be payable or shall accrue with respect to Scrip Certificates or the interests represented
thereby.  All such Scrip Certificates which are not surrendered in exchange for shares of stock on or before such date
as the Board of Directors may fix, shall thereafter be void and of no effect whatever, except that the holders thereof
shall be entitled to receive their pro rata share of the proceeds resulting from the sale of the full shares of stock for
which such Scrip Certificates are exchangeable, together with their pro rata share of dividends theretofore paid upon
such full shares; such sale (which may be effected either publicly or privately at the current market price, and as to
which the Corporation may be the purchaser) to be made by the Corporation or by an agent of the Corporation (which
agent may be a transfer agent or registrar of the shares for which such Scrip Certificates are exchangeable), as agent
and on behalf of the holders of the Scrip Certificates.
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FIFTH: The following provisions are inserted for the management of the business and for the conduct of the affairs of
the Corporation, and it is expressly provided that the same are intended to be in furtherance and not in limitation or
exclusion of the powers conferred by statute:

Alternative #1 (If Proposal 5 is Approved and Proposal 4 is NOT Approved):

The number of directors of the Corporation shall be fixed from time to time solely by resolution of the Board of
Directors, acting by not less than a majority of the directors then in office.

Alternative #2 (If Proposal 5 is Approved and Proposal 4 is Approved):

The number of directors of the Corporation (exclusive of directors (the "Preferred Stock Directors") who may be
elected by the holders of any one or more series of Preferred Stock which may at any time be outstanding, voting
separately as a class or classes) shall be fixed from time to time solely by resolution of the Board of Directors, acting
by not less than a majority of the directors then in office.

Alternative #3 (If Proposal 5 is NOT Approved):

(1) The number of directors shall be five.
(2) Election of directors need not be by ballot unless the Bylaws so provide.

(3)The Board of Directors shall have power to determine from time to time whether and if allowed under what
conditions and regulations the accounts, and except as otherwise provided by statute or by this Certificate of
Incorporation, the books of the Corporation shall be open to the inspection of the shareholders, and the
shareholders' rights in this respect are and shall be restricted or limited accordingly, and no shareholder shall have
any right to inspect any account or book or document of the Corporation except as conferred by statute or by this
Certificate of Incorporation, or authorized by the Board of Directors or by a resolution of the shareholders.
(4) The Board of Directors shall have the power to adopt, amend or repeal the Bylaws of the Corporation.

(5)Except as may be otherwise provided by statute or in this Certificate of Incorporation, the business and affairs of
this Corporation shall be managed under the direction of the Board of Directors.

(6)No director shall be personally liable to the Corporation or its stockholders for any monetary damages for
breaches of fiduciary duty as a director; provided that this provision shall not eliminate or limit the liability of a
director, to the extent that such liability is imposed by applicable law, (i) for any breach of the director's duty of
loyalty to the Corporation or its stockholders; (ii) for acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve
intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law; (iii) under Section 174 or successor provisions of the
Delaware General Corporation Law; or (iv) for any transaction from which the director derived an improper
personal benefit. No amendment to or repeal of this provision shall apply to or have any effect on the liability or
alleged liability of any director for or with respect to any acts or omissions of such director occurring prior to such
amendment or repeal. If the Delaware General Corporation Law is amended to authorize corporate action further
eliminating or limiting the personal liability of directors, then the liability of a director of the Corporation shall be
eliminated or limited to the fullest extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law, as so amended.

(7)Subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock then outstanding, any action required or
permitted to be taken by the shareholders of the Corporation must be effected solely at a duly called annual or
special meeting of such holders and may not be effected by any consent in writing by such holders.

SIXTH:  The Corporation expressly elects to be governed by Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law.
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Appendix C

BY-LAWS OF ATLAS MINING SUB, INC.,
the Delaware corporation into which Atlas Mining Company will be merged if the Reincorporation Proposal is

Approved

ARTICLE I.

Stockholders' Meeting

1.  Place of Meeting.  Meetings of the stockholders shall be held at the registered office of the Corporation in
Delaware, or at such other place within or without the State of Delaware as may be designated by the Board of
Directors or the stockholders.

2.  Annual Meeting.  The annual meeting of the stockholders shall be held on such date and at such time and place as
the Board of Directors may designate. The date, place and time of the annual meeting shall be stated in the notice
of such meeting delivered to or mailed to stockholders. At such annual meeting the stockholders shall elect
directors, in accordance with the requirements of the Certificate of Incorporation, and transact such other business
as may properly be brought before the meeting.

3.  Quorum.  The holders of stock representing a majority of the voting power of all shares of stock issued and
outstanding and entitled to vote, present in person or by proxy, shall be requisite for and shall constitute a quorum
of all meetings of the stockholders, except as otherwise provided by law, by the Certificate of Incorporation or by
these By-laws. If a quorum shall not be present at any meeting of the stockholders, the stockholders present in
person or by proxy and entitled to vote shall, by the vote of holders of stock representing a majority of the voting
power of all shares present at the meeting, have the power to adjourn the meeting from time to time in the manner
provided in paragraph 4 of Article I of these By-laws until a quorum shall be present.

4.  Adjournments.  Any meeting of stockholders, annual or special, may adjourn from time to time to reconvene at the
same or some other place, and notice need not be given of any such adjourned meeting if the time and place
thereof are announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken. At the adjourned meeting the Corporation
may transact any business which might have been transacted at the original meeting. If the adjournment is for more
than thirty days, or if after the adjournment a new record date is fixed for the adjourned meeting, a notice of the
adjourned meeting shall be given to each stockholder of record entitled to vote at the meeting.

5.  Voting; Proxies.  At each meeting of the stockholders of the Corporation, every stockholder having the right to
vote may authorize another person to act for him or her by proxy. Such authorization must be in writing and
executed by the stockholder or his or her authorized officer, director, employee, or agent. To the extent permitted
by law, a stockholder may authorize another person or persons to act for him or her as proxy by transmitting or
authorizing the transmission of a telegram, cablegram or other means of electronic transmission to the person who
will be the holder of the proxy or to a proxy solicitation firm, proxy support service organization or like agent duly
authorized by the person who will be the holder of the proxy to receive such transmission provided that the
telegram, cablegram or electronic transmission either sets forth or is submitted with information from which it can
be determined that the telegram, cablegram or other electronic transmission was authorized by the stockholder. A
copy, facsimile transmission or other reliable reproduction of a writing or transmission authorized by this
paragraph 5 of Article I may be substituted for or used in lieu of the original writing or electronic transmission for
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facsimile transmission or other reproduction shall be a complete reproduction of the entire original writing or
transmission.

No proxy authorized hereby shall be voted or acted upon more than three years from its date, unless the proxy
provides for a longer period. No ballot, proxies or votes, nor any revocations thereof or changes thereto shall be
accepted after the time set for the closing of the polls pursuant to paragraph 11 of Article I of these By-laws unless the
Court of Chancery upon application of a stockholder shall determine otherwise. Each proxy shall be delivered to the
inspectors of election prior to or at the meeting. A duly executed proxy shall be irrevocable if it states that it is
irrevocable and if, and only as long as, it is coupled with an interest sufficient in law to support an irrevocable power.
A stockholder may revoke any proxy which is not irrevocable by attending the meeting and voting in person or by
filing an instrument in writing revoking the proxy or by filing a subsequent duly executed proxy with the Secretary of
the Corporation. Unless a greater number of affirmative votes is required by the Certificate of Incorporation, these
By-laws, the rules or regulations of any stock exchange applicable to the Corporation, or as otherwise required by law
or pursuant to any regulation applicable to the Corporation, if a quorum exists at any meeting of stockholders,
stockholders shall have approved any matter, other than the election of directors, if the votes cast by stockholders
present in person or represented by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote on the matter in favor of such matter
exceed the votes cast by such stockholders against such matter. A nominee for director shall be elected to the Board of
Directors by a plurality of the votes cast at any meeting of stockholders.

6.  Notice.  Written notice of an annual or special meeting shall be given to each stockholder entitled to vote thereat,
not less than ten nor more than sixty days prior to the meeting. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be given
when deposited in the mail, postage prepaid, directed to the stockholder at his or her address as it appears on the
records of the Corporation.

7.  Inspectors of Election.  The Corporation shall, in advance of any meeting of stockholders, appoint one or more
inspectors of election to act at the meeting and make a written report thereof. The Corporation may designate one
or more persons as alternate inspectors to replace any inspector who fails to act. In the event that no inspector so
appointed or designated is able to act at a meeting of stockholders, the person presiding at the meeting shall
appoint one or more inspectors to act at the meeting. Each inspector, before entering upon the discharge of his or
her duties, shall take and sign an oath faithfully to execute the duties of inspector with strict impartiality and
according to the best of his or her ability. The inspector or inspectors so appointed or designated shall (i) ascertain
the number of shares of capital stock of the Corporation outstanding and the voting power of each such share, (ii)
determine the shares of capital stock of the Corporation represented at the meeting and the validity of proxies and
ballots, (iii) count all votes and ballots, (iv) determine and retain for a reasonable period a record of the disposition
of any challenges made to any determination by the inspectors, and (v) certify their determination of the number of
shares of capital stock of the Corporation represented at the meeting and such inspectors' count of all votes and
ballots. Such certification shall specify such other information as may be required by law. In determining the
validity and counting of proxies and ballots cast at any meeting of stockholders of the Corporation, the inspectors
may consider such information as is permitted by applicable law. No person who is a candidate for an office at an
election may serve as an inspector at such election.

8.  Stock List.  At least ten days before every meeting of the stockholders a complete list of the stockholders entitled
to vote at said meeting, arranged in alphabetical order, with the post office address of each, and the number of
shares held by each, shall be prepared by the Secretary. Such list shall be open to the examination of any
stockholder for any purpose germane to the meeting, during ordinary business hours at a place within the city
where the meeting is to be held, which place shall be specified in the notice of the meeting, or, if not so specified,
at the place where the meeting is to be held for said ten days, and shall be produced and kept at the time and place
of meeting during the whole time thereof and subject to the inspection of any stockholder who may be present. The
original or duplicate stock ledger shall be provided at the time and place of each
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meeting and shall be the only evidence as to who are the stockholders entitled to examine the list of stockholders or to
vote in person or by proxy at such meeting.

9.  Special Meetings.  Special meetings of the stockholders for any purpose or purposes may be called by the Chair of
the Board, and shall be called by the Chair of the Board, if any, the President, or the Secretary at the request in
writing of a majority of the Board of Directors or one or more record holders of shares of stock of the Corporation
representing in the aggregate not less than twenty percent (20%) of the total number of shares of stock entitled to
vote on the matter or matters to be brought before the proposed special meeting. A stockholder request for a
special meeting shall be directed to the Secretary and shall be signed by each stockholder, or a duly authorized
agent of such stockholder, requesting the special meeting and shall be accompanied by a notice setting forth the
information required by paragraph 13 of this Article or paragraph 12 of Article II of these By-laws, as applicable,
as to any nominations proposed to be presented and any other business proposed to be conducted at such special
meeting and as to the stockholder(s) requesting the special meeting, as well as the written questionnaire and
written representation and agreement required by paragraph 14 of Article II of these By-laws from any nominee for
election as a director of the Corporation. A special meeting requested by stockholders shall be held at such date,
time and place within or without the state of Delaware as may be designated by the Board of Directors; provided,
however, that the date of any such special meeting shall be not more than ninety (90) days after the request to call
the special meeting by one or more stockholders who satisfy the requirements of this paragraph 9 of Article I is
received by the Secretary. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a special meeting requested by stockholders shall not be
held if: (i) the stated business to be brought before the special meeting is not a proper subject for stockholder
action under applicable law, or (ii) the Board of Directors has called or calls for an annual meeting of stockholders
to be held within ninety (90) days after the Secretary receives the request for the special meeting and the Board of
Directors determines in good faith that the business of such annual meeting includes (among any other matters
properly brought before the annual meeting) the business specified in the stockholder's request. A stockholder may
revoke a request for a special meeting at any time by written revocation delivered to the Secretary, and if,
following such revocation, there are un-revoked requests from stockholders holding in the aggregate less than the
requisite number of shares entitling the stockholders to request the calling of a special meeting, the Board of
Directors, in its discretion, may cancel the special meeting. If none of the stockholders who submitted the request
for a special meeting appears or sends a qualified representative to present the nominations proposed to be
presented or other business proposed to be conducted at the special meeting, the Corporation need not present such
nominations or other business for a vote at such meeting. Business transacted at all special meetings shall be
confined to the matters stated in the notice of special meeting. Business transacted at a special meeting requested
by stockholders shall be limited to the matters described in the special meeting request; provided, however, that
nothing herein shall prohibit the Board of Directors from submitting matters to the stockholders at any special
meeting requested by stockholders. The Chair of a special meeting shall determine all matters relating to the
conduct of the meeting, including, but not limited to, determining whether any nomination or other item of
business has been properly brought before the meeting in accordance with these By-laws, and if the Chair should
so determine and declare that any nomination or other item of business has not been properly brought before the
special meeting, then such business shall not be transacted at such meeting.

10.  Organization.  Meetings of stockholders shall be presided over by the Chair of the Board, if any, or in his or her
absence by a Chair designated by the Board of Directors, or in the absence of such designation by a Chair chosen
at the meeting. The Secretary shall act as secretary of the meeting, but in his or her absence the Chair of the
meeting may appoint any person to act as secretary of the meeting.
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11.  Conduct of Meetings. The date and time of the opening and the closing of the polls for each matter upon which
the stockholders will vote at a meeting shall be announced at such meeting by the person presiding over the
meeting. The Board of Directors of the Corporation may adopt by resolution such rules or regulations for the
conduct of meetings of stockholders as it shall deem appropriate. Except to the extent inconsistent with such rules
and regulations as adopted by the Board of Directors, the chair of any meeting of stockholders shall have the right
and authority to prescribe such rules, regulations and procedures and to do all such acts as, in the judgment of
such chair, are appropriate for the proper conduct of the meeting. Such rules, regulations or procedures, whether
adopted by the Board of Directors or prescribed by the chair of the meeting, may include, without limitation, the
following:

(1) the establishment of an agenda or order of business for the meeting;
(2) rules and procedures for maintaining order at the meeting and the safety of those present;

(3)limitations on attendance at or participation in the meeting, to stockholders of record of the Corporation, their duly
authorized and constituted proxies or such other persons as the chair shall permit;

(4) restrictions on entry to the meeting after the time fixed for the commencement thereof, and
(5)limitations on the time allotted to questions or comments by participants. Unless, and only to the extent,

determined by the Board of Directors or the chair of the meeting, meetings of stockholders shall not be required to
be held in accordance with rules of parliamentary procedure.

12.  Fixing Date for Determination of Stockholders of Record.  In order that the Corporation may determine the
stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting of the stockholders or any adjournment thereof, or
entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or allotment of any rights, or entitled to exercise
any rights in respect of any change, conversion or exchange of stock or for the purpose of any other lawful action,
the Board of Directors may fix a record date, which record date shall not precede the date upon which the
resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the Board of Directors and which record date: (1) in the case of
determination of stockholders entitled to vote at any meeting of stockholders or adjournment thereof, shall, unless
otherwise required by law, not be more than sixty nor less than ten days before the date of such meeting; and (2)
in the case of any other action, shall not be more than sixty days prior to such other action. If no record date is
fixed: (1)(a) the record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of
stockholders shall be at the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which notice is given, or, if
notice is waived, at the close of business on the date next preceding the day on which the meeting is held; and
(1)(b) the record date for determining stockholders for any other purpose shall be at the close of business on the
day on which the of Board of Directors adopts the resolution relating thereto. A determination of stockholders of
record entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall apply to any adjournment of the meeting;
provided, however, that the Board of Directors may fix a new record date for the adjourned meeting.

13.  Notice of Stockholder Proposal.  At an annual meeting of the stockholders, only such business shall be conducted
as shall have been properly brought before the meeting. To be properly brought before an annual meeting
business must be: (a) specified in the notice of meeting (or any supplement thereto) given by or at the direction of
the Board of Directors, (b) otherwise properly brought before the meeting by or at the direction of the Board of
Directors, or (c) otherwise properly brought before the meeting by a stockholder. For business to be properly
brought before an annual meeting by a stockholder (other than the nomination of a person for election as a
director, which is governed by paragraphs 12, 13, and 14 of Article II of these By-laws), the stockholder
intending to propose the business (the "Proponent") must have given timely notice thereof in writing to the
Secretary of the Corporation. To be timely, a Proponent's notice must be delivered to or mailed and received at
the principal executive offices of the Corporation: (1) by the close of business 60 days in advance of the
anniversary of the previous year's annual meeting if such meeting is to be held on a day which is more than 7 and
within 30 days preceding the anniversary of the previous year's annual meeting, (2) 90 days in advance of the
anniversary of the previous year's annual meeting if such meeting is to be held (a) less than 7 days preceding the
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anniversary of the previous year's annual meeting or (b) on or after the anniversary of the previous year's annual
meeting; and (3) with respect to any other annual meeting of stockholders, the close of business on the tenth day
following the date of public disclosure of the date of such meeting. (For purposes of these By-laws, public disclosure
shall be deemed to include a disclosure made in a press release reported by the Dow Jones News Services, Associated
Press or a comparable national news service or in a document filed by the Corporation with the Securities and
Exchange Commission pursuant to Section  13, 14 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
"Exchange Act")). A Proponent's notice to the Secretary shall set forth as to each matter the Proponent proposes to
bring before the annual meeting: (a) a brief description of the business desired to be brought before the annual meeting
and the reasons for conducting such business at the annual meeting, (b) the name and address of the Proponent, and of
any holder of record of the Proponent's shares as they appear on the Corporation's books, (c) the class and number of
shares of the Corporation which are owned by the Proponent (beneficially and of record) and owned by any holder of
record of the Proponent's shares, as of the date of the Proponent's notice, and a representation that the Proponent will
notify the Corporation in writing of the class and number of such shares owned of record and beneficially as of the
record date for the meeting promptly following the later of the record date or the date notice of the record date is first
publicly disclosed, (d) any material interest of the Proponent in such business, (e) a description of any agreement,
arrangement or understanding with respect to such business between or among the Proponent and any of its affiliates
or associates, and any others (including their names) acting in concert with any of the foregoing, and a representation
that the Proponent will notify the Corporation in writing of any such agreement, arrangement or understanding in
effect as of the record date for the meeting promptly following the later of the record date or the date notice of the
record date is first publicly disclosed, (f) a description of any agreement, arrangement or understanding (including any
derivative or short positions, profit interests, options, hedging transactions, and borrowed or loaned shares) that has
been entered into as of the date of the Proponent's notice by, or on behalf of, the Proponent or any of its affiliates or
associates, the effect or intent of which is to mitigate loss to, manage risk or benefit of share price changes for, or
increase or decrease the voting power of the Proponent or any of its affiliates or associates with respect to shares of
stock of the Corporation, and a representation that the Proponent will notify the Corporation in writing of any such
agreement, arrangement or understanding in effect as of the record date for the meeting promptly following the later
of the record date or the date notice of the record date is first publicly disclosed, (g) a representation that the
Proponent is a holder of record or beneficial owner of shares of the Corporation entitled to vote at the annual meeting
and intends to appear in person or by proxy at the meeting to propose such business, and (h) a representation whether
the Proponent intends to deliver a proxy statement and/or form of proxy to holders of at least the percentage of the
Corporation's outstanding shares required to approve the proposal and/or otherwise to solicit proxies from
stockholders in support of the proposal.

14.  Compliance with Procedures.  Notwithstanding anything in these By-laws to the contrary: (a) no business shall be
conducted at any annual meeting except in accordance with the procedures set forth in paragraph 13 of this
Article I, and (b) unless otherwise required by law, if a Proponent intending to propose business at an annual
meeting pursuant to paragraph 13 of this Article I does not provide the information required under subparagraphs
(c), (e) and (f) of paragraph 13 to the Corporation promptly following the later of the record date or the date
notice of the record date is first publicly disclosed, or the Proponent (or a qualified representative of the
Proponent) does not appear at the meeting to present the proposed business, such business shall not be transacted,
notwithstanding that proxies in respect of such business may have been received by the Corporation. The chair of
the annual meeting shall, if the facts warrant, determine and declare to the meeting that business was not properly
brought before the meeting in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 13 of this Article I, and if he or she
should so determine, he or she shall so declare to the meeting and any such business not properly brought before
the meeting shall not be transacted. The requirements of paragraph 13 and paragraph 14 of this Article I shall
apply to any business to be brought before an annual meeting by a stockholder (other than the nomination of a
person for election as a director, which is governed by paragraphs 13, 14 and 15 of Article II of these By-laws)
including business to be presented to stockholders by means of an independently
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financed proxy solicitation but not business to be included in the Corporation's proxy statement pursuant to Rule 14a-8
of the Exchange Act or presented to stockholders by means of an independently financed proxy solicitation. The
requirements of paragraph 13 of this Article I are included to provide the Corporation notice of a stockholder's
intention to bring business before an annual meeting and shall in no event be construed as imposing upon any
stockholder the requirement to seek approval from the Corporation as a condition precedent to bringing any such
business before an annual meeting.

Article II

Directors.

1.  Number; Election; Term.  The number of directors which shall constitute the whole Board shall be fixed
from time to time solely by resolution of the Board, acting by the vote of not less than a majority of the
directors then in office.  The remaining directors of the Corporation shall cause any such vacancy to be
filled in accordance with these By-laws within a reasonable period of time. At the annual meeting or a
special meeting at which directors are to be elected in accordance with the Corporation's notice of meeting,
directors shall be elected in accordance with the requirements of these By-laws and the Certificate of
Incorporation.

2.  Place of Meetings, Records.  The directors may hold their meetings and keep the books of the Corporation
inside or outside of the State of Delaware at such places as they may from time to time determine.

3.  Vacancies.  Subject to the rights of the holders of any one or more series of Preferred Stock then outstanding, if the
office of any director becomes vacant for any reason or any new directorship is created by any increase in the
authorized number of directors, a majority of the directors then in office, although less than a quorum, may choose
a successor or successors or fill the newly created directorship. Any director so chosen shall hold office until the
next election of the class for which such director shall have been chosen and until his successor shall be elected
and qualified.

4.  Organizational Meeting.  The Board of Directors shall meet for the purpose of organization, the election of officers
and the transaction of other business, after each annual election of directors on the day and at the place of the
annual meeting or at next regular or special meeting of the Board. Notice of such meeting need not be given. Such
meeting may be held at any other time or place which shall be specified in a notice given as hereinafter provided
for special meetings of the Board of Directors or in a consent and waiver of notice thereof signed by all of the
directors.

5.  Regular Meetings.  Regular meetings of the Board may be held without notice at such time and place either within
or without the State of Delaware as shall from time to time be determined by the Board.

6.  Special Meetings.  Special meetings of the Board may be called by the Chair of the Board,  a majority of the
directors then in office, or the President by the mailing of notice to each director at least 48 hours before the
meeting or by notification to each director of the meeting at least 12 hours prior thereto either personally, by
telephone or by electronic transmission.

7.  Quorum.  At all meetings of the Board the presence of one third of the total number of directors determined by
resolution pursuant to paragraph 1 of this Article II to constitute the Board of Directors shall be necessary and
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8.  Committees.  The Board of Directors may, by resolution passed by a majority of the whole Board, designate one or
more committees, each committee to consist of one or more of the directors of the Corporation. The Board may
designate one or more directors as alternate members of any such additional committee, who may replace any
absent or disqualified member at any meeting of the committee. Any such committee shall have such powers as are
granted to it by the resolution of the Board or by subsequent resolutions passed by a majority of the whole Board.
Nothing herein shall limit the authority of the Board of Directors to appoint other committees consisting in whole
or in part of persons who are not directors of the Corporation to carry out such functions as the Board may
designate. Unless otherwise provided for in any resolution of the Board of Directors designating a committee
pursuant to this paragraph 8 of Article II: (i) a quorum for the transaction of business of such committee shall be
fifty percent or more of the authorized number of members of such committee; and (ii) the act of a majority of the
members of such committee present at any meeting of such committee at which there is a quorum shall be the act
of the committee (except as otherwise specifically provided by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or by these
By-laws).

9.  Presence at Meeting.  Members of the Board of Directors or any committee designated by such Board may
participate in the meeting of said Board or committee by means of conference telephone or similar
communications equipment by means of which all persons in the meeting can hear each other and participate. The
ability to participate in a meeting in the above manner shall constitute presence at said meeting for purposes of a
quorum and any action thereat.

10.  Action Without Meetings.  Any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Directors
or any committee designated by such Board may be taken without a meeting, if all members of the Board or
committee consent thereto in writing and the writing or writings are filed with the minutes of the proceedings of
the Board or committee.

11.  Eligibility to Make Nominations.  Nominations of candidates for election as directors at an annual meeting of
stockholders or a special meeting of stockholders at which directors are to be elected pursuant to the
Corporation's notice of meeting (an "Election Meeting") may be made (1) by any stockholder entitled to vote at
such Election Meeting only in accordance with the procedures established by paragraph 12 of this Article II, or
(2) by the Board of Directors. In order to be eligible for election as a director, any director nominee must first be
nominated in accordance with the provisions of these By-laws.

12.  Procedure for Nominations by Stockholders.  Any stockholder entitled to vote for the election of a director at an
Election Meeting may nominate one or more persons for such election only if written notice of such stockholder's
intent to make such nomination is delivered to or mailed and received by the Secretary of the Corporation. Such
notice must be received by the Secretary not later than the following dates: (1) with respect to an annual meeting
of stockholders, by the close of business 60 days in advance of the anniversary of the previous year's annual
meeting if such meeting is to be held on a day which is more than 7 and within 30 days preceding the anniversary
of the previous year's annual meeting, (2) 90 days in advance of the anniversary of the previous year's annual
meeting if such meeting is to be held (a) less than 7 days preceding the anniversary of the previous year's annual
meeting or (b) on or after the anniversary of the previous year's annual meeting; and (3) with respect to any other
annual meeting of stockholders or a special meeting of stockholders at which directors are to be elected pursuant
to the Corporation's notice of meeting, by the close of business on the tenth day following the date of public
disclosure of the date of such meeting. The written notice of the stockholder intending to make the nomination
(the "Proponent") shall set forth: (i) the name, age, business address and residence address of each nominee
proposed in such notice, (ii) the principal occupation or employment of each such nominee, (iii) the number of
shares of capital stock of the Corporation which are owned of record and beneficially by each such nominee, (iv)
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such nominee as would be required to be disclosed in a proxy statement soliciting proxies for the election of such
nominee as a director in an election contest (even if an election contest is not involved), or that is otherwise required
to be disclosed, under the rules of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, and (vi) as to the
Proponent: (a) the name and address of the Proponent, and of any holder of record of the Proponent's shares as they
appear on the Corporation's books, (b) the class and number of shares of the Corporation which are owned by the
Proponent (beneficially and of record) and owned by any holder of record of the Proponent's shares, as of the date of
the Proponent's notice, and a representation that the Proponent will notify the Corporation in writing of the class and
number of such shares owned of record and beneficially as of the record date for the meeting promptly following the
later of the record date or the date notice of the record date is first publicly disclosed, (c) a description of any
agreement, arrangement or understanding with respect to such nomination between or among the Proponent and any
of its affiliates or associates, and any others (including their names) acting in concert with any of the foregoing, and a
representation that the Proponent will notify the Corporation in writing of any such agreement, arrangement or
understanding in effect as of the record date for the meeting promptly following the later of the record date or the date
notice of the record date is first publicly disclosed, (d) a description of any agreement, arrangement or understanding
(including any derivative or short positions, profit interests, options, hedging transactions, and borrowed or loaned
shares) that has been entered into as of the date of the Proponent's notice by, or on behalf of, the Proponent or any of
its affiliates or associates, the effect or intent of which is to mitigate loss to, manage risk or benefit of share price
changes for, or increase or decrease the voting power of the Proponent or any of its affiliates or associates with respect
to shares of stock of the Corporation, and a representation that the Proponent will notify the Corporation in writing of
any such agreement, arrangement or understanding in effect as of the record date for the meeting promptly following
the later of the record date or the date notice of the record date is first publicly disclosed, (e) a representation that the
Proponent is a holder of record or beneficial owner of shares of the Corporation entitled to vote at the meeting and
intends to appear in person or by proxy at the meeting to nominate the person or persons specified in the notice, and
(f) a representation whether the Proponent intends to deliver a proxy statement and/or form of proxy to holders of at
least the percentage of the Corporation's outstanding capital stock required to elect the nominee and/or otherwise to
solicit proxies from stockholders in support of the nomination. The Corporation may require any proposed nominee to
furnish such other information as it may reasonably required to determine the eligibility of such proposed nominee to
serve as an independent director of the Corporation or that could be material to a reasonable stockholder's
understanding of the independence, or lack thereof, of such nominee.

13.  Compliance with Procedures.  If the Chair of the Election Meeting determines that a nomination of any candidate
for election as a director was not made in accordance with the applicable provisions of these By-laws, such
nomination shall be void, provided, however, that nothing in these By-laws shall be deemed to limit any class
voting rights upon the occurrence of dividend arrearages provided to holders of Preferred Stock. Notwithstanding
anything in these By-laws to the contrary, unless otherwise required by law, if a Proponent intending to make a
nomination at an annual or special meeting pursuant to paragraph 12 of this Article II does not provide the
information required under clauses (b) through (d) of subparagraph (vi) of paragraph 12 of this Article II to the
Corporation promptly following the later of the record date or the date notice of the record date is first publicly
disclosed, or the Proponent (or a qualified representative of the Proponent) does not appear at the meeting to
present the nomination, such nomination shall be disregarded, notwithstanding that proxies in respect of such
nomination may have been received by the Corporation.

C - 75

Edgar Filing: BANK OF MONTREAL /CAN/ - Form 424B2

155



14.  Submission of Questionnaire, Representation and Agreement.  To be eligible to be a nominee for election or
reelection as a director of the Corporation, a person must deliver (in accordance with the time periods prescribed
for delivery of notice under paragraph 12 of this Article II of these By-laws) to the Secretary of the Corporation at
the principal executive offices of the Corporation a written questionnaire with respect to the background and
qualification of such person and the background of any other person or entity on whose behalf the nomination is
being made (which questionnaire shall be provided by the Secretary upon written request) and a written
representation and agreement (in the form provided by the Secretary upon written request) that such person (i) is
not and will not become a party to (A) any agreement, arrangement or understanding with, and has not given any
commitment or assurance to, any person or entity as to how such person, if elected as a director of the
Corporation, will act or vote on any issue or question (a "Voting Commitment") that has not been disclosed to the
Corporation or (B) any Voting Commitment that could limit or interfere with such person's ability to comply, if
elected as a director of the Corporation, with such person's fiduciary duties under applicable law, (ii) is not and
will not become a party to any agreement, arrangement or understanding with any person or entity other than the
Corporation with respect to any direct or indirect compensation, reimbursement or indemnification in connection
with service or action as a director that has not been disclosed therein, and (iii) in such person's individual
capacity and on behalf of any person or entity on whose behalf the nomination is being made, would be in
compliance, if elected as a director of the Corporation, and will comply with, applicable law and all applicable
publicly disclosed corporate governance, conflict of interest, corporate opportunities, confidentiality and stock
ownership and trading policies and guidelines of the Corporation.

Article III

Officers.

1.  Election; Term of Office; Appointments.  The Board of Directors, at its first meeting after each annual meeting, of
stockholders, shall elect at least the following officers: a President and a Secretary. The Board may also elect,
appoint, or provide for the appointment of such other officers and agents as may from time to time appear
necessary or advisable in the conduct of the affairs of the Corporation. Officers of the Corporation shall hold office
until their successors are chosen and qualify in their stead or until their earlier death, resignation or removal, and
shall perform such duties as from time to time shall be prescribed by these By-laws and by the Board and, to the
extent not so provided, as generally pertain to their respective offices. The Board of Directors may fill any vacancy
occurring in any office of the Corporation at any regular or special meeting. Two or more offices may be held by
the same person.

2.  Removal and Resignation.  Any officer elected or appointed by the Board of Directors may be removed at any time
by the affirmative vote of a majority of the whole Board of Directors. If the office of any officer elected or
appointed by the Board becomes vacant for any reason, the vacancy may be filled by the Board. Any officer may
resign at any time upon written notice to the Corporation.

3.  President.  The President, in the absence of a Chair of the Board, if any, shall preside at meetings of the Directors.
He or she shall have such authority and perform such duties in the management of the Corporation as from time to
time shall be prescribed by the Board of Directors and, to the extent not so prescribed, he or she shall have such
authority and perform such duties in the management of the Corporation, subject to the control of the Board, as
generally pertain to the office of President.
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4.  Secretary.  The Secretary or person appointed as secretary at all meetings of the Board and of the stockholders
shall record all votes and the minutes of all proceedings in a book to be kept for that purpose, and he or she shall
perform like duties for any committee when required. He or she shall give, or cause to be given, notice of all
meetings of the stockholders, and of the Board of Directors if required. He or she shall perform such other duties
as may be prescribed by these By-laws or as may be assigned to him or her by the President or the Board of
Directors, and, except as otherwise prescribed by the Board of Directors, he or she shall have such powers and
duties as generally pertain to the office of Secretary.

Article IV

Stock.

1.  Stock.  The shares of the Corporation shall be represented by certificates or shall be uncertificated. Each registered
holder of shares, upon request to the Corporation, shall be provided with a certificate of stock representing the
number of shares owned by such holder. The certificates of stock of the Corporation shall be in the form or forms
from time to time approved by the Board of Directors. Such certificates shall be numbered and registered, shall
exhibit the holder's name and the number of shares, and shall be signed in the name of the Corporation by the
following officers of the Corporation: the Chair of the Board of Directors, or the President or Vice President; and
by the Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer, or the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary. If any certificate is manually
signed (1) by a transfer agent other than the Corporation or its employee, or (2) by a registrar other than the
Corporation or its employee, any other signature on the certificate, including those of the aforesaid officers of the
Corporation, may be a facsimile. In case any officer, transfer agent or registrar who has signed or whose facsimile
signature has been placed upon a certificate shall have ceased to be such officer, transfer agent or registrar before
such certificate is issued, it may be issued by the Corporation with the same effect as if he or she were such officer,
transfer agent or registrar at the date of issue.

2.  Lost Certificates.  The Board of Directors or any officer of the Corporation to whom the Board of Directors has
delegated authority may authorize any transfer agent of the Corporation to issue, and any registrar of the
Corporation to register, at any time and from time to time unless otherwise directed, a new certificate or
certificates of stock in the place of a certificate or certificates theretofore issued by the Corporation, alleged to have
been lost or destroyed, upon receipt by the transfer agent of evidence of such loss or destruction, which may be the
affidavit of the applicant; a bond indemnifying the Corporation and any transfer agent and registrar of the class of
stock involved against claims that may be made against it or them on account of the lost or destroyed certificate or
the issuance of a new certificate, of such kind and in such amount as the Board of Directors shall have authorized
the transfer agent to accept generally or as the Board of Directors or an authorized officer shall approve in
particular cases; and any other documents or instruments that the Board of Directors or an authorized officer may
require from time to time to protect adequately the interest of the Corporation. A new certificate may be issued
without requiring any bond when, in the judgment of the directors, it is proper to do so.

3.  Transfers of Stock.  Transfers of stock shall be made upon the books of the Corporation: (1) upon presentation of
the certificates by the registered holder in person or by duly authorized attorney, or upon presentation of proper
evidence of succession, assignment or authority to transfer the stock, and upon surrender of the appropriate
certificate(s), or (2) in the case of uncertificated shares, upon receipt of proper transfer instructions from the
registered owner of such uncertificated shares, or from a duly authorized attorney or from an individual presenting
proper evidence of succession, assignment or authority to transfer the stock.
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4.  Holder of Record.  The Corporation shall be entitled to treat the holder of record of any share or shares of
stock as the holder in fact thereof and accordingly shall not be bound to recognize any equitable or other
claim to or interest in such share on the part of any other person whether or not it shall have express or other
notice thereof, save as expressly provided by the laws of the State of Delaware.

Article V

Indemnification.

1.  Right to Indemnification.  The Corporation shall indemnify and hold harmless, to the fullest extent permitted by
applicable law as it presently exists or may hereafter be amended, any person who was or is made or is threatened
to be made a party or is otherwise involved in any action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal,
administrative or investigative (a "proceeding") by reason of the fact that he or she, or a person for whom he or she
is the legal representative, is or was a director or officer, employee or agent of the Corporation or is or was serving
at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation or of a
partnership, joint venture, trust, nonprofit entity, or other enterprise, including service with respect to employee
benefit plans, against all liability and loss suffered and expenses (including attorneys' fees) reasonably incurred by
such person. The Corporation shall be required to indemnify a person in connection with a proceeding (or part
thereof) initiated by such person only if the proceeding (or part thereof) was authorized by the Board of Directors
of the Corporation.

2.  Prepayment of Expenses.  The Corporation shall pay the expenses (including attorneys' fees) incurred by an officer
or director of the Corporation in defending any proceeding in advance of its final disposition, provided, however,
that the payment of such expenses shall be made only upon receipt of an undertaking by the director or officer to
repay all amounts advanced if it shall ultimately be determined that the director or officer is not entitled to be
indemnified. Payment of such expenses incurred by other employees and agents of the Corporation may be made
by the Board of Directors in its discretion upon such terms and conditions, if any, as it deems appropriate.

3.  Claims.  If a claim for indemnification or payment of expenses (including attorneys' fees) under this Article is not
paid in full within sixty days after a written claim therefor has been received by the Corporation the claimant may
file suit to recover the unpaid amount of such claim and, if successful in whole or in part, shall be entitled to be
paid the expense of prosecuting such claim. In any such action the Corporation shall have the burden of proving
that the claimant was not entitled to the requested indemnification or payment of expenses under applicable law.

4.  Nonexclusivitiy of Rights.  The right conferred on any person by this Article V shall not be exclusive of any other
rights which such person may have or hereafter acquire under any statute, provision of the Certificate of
Incorporation, these By-laws, agreement, vote of stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise.

5.  Other Indemnification.  The Corporation's obligation, if any, to indemnify any person who was or is serving at its
request as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, enterprise
or non-profit entity shall be reduced by any amount such person may collect as indemnification from such other
corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, non-profit entity, or other enterprise.
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6.  Amendment or Repeal.  Any repeal or modification of the foregoing provisions of this Article V shall not
adversely affect any right or protection hereunder of any person in respect of any act or omission occurring prior to
the time of such repeal or modification.

Article VI

Section 203 of the General Corporation Law.

1.  Election to be Governed.  The Corporation expressly elects to be governed by Section 203 of the Delaware General
Corporation Law.

Article VII

Miscellaneous.

1.  Seal.  The corporate seal shall be in the form adopted by the Board of Directors. Said seal may be used by causing
it or a facsimile thereof to be impressed or affixed or reproduced or otherwise. The seal may be affixed by any
officer of the Corporation to any instrument executed by authority of the Corporation, and the seal when so affixed
may be attested by the signature of any officer of the Corporation.

2.  Notice.  Whenever notice is required to be given by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-laws, a
written waiver signed by the person entitled to notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be
deemed equivalent to notice. Attendance of a person at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such
meeting except when the person attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting, at the beginning of the
meeting, to the transaction of any business because the meeting, is not lawfully called or convened.

3.  Amendments.  The Board of Directors shall have the power to adopt, amend or repeal the Bylaws of the
Corporation by the affirmative action of a majority of its members. The By-laws may be adopted, amended or
repealed by shareholders if notice of such proposed adoption, amendment or repeal be contained in the notice of
such special meeting.

4.  Form of Records.  Any records maintained by the Corporation in the regular course of its business, including its
stock ledger, books of account, and minutes books, may be kept on, or be in the form of, punch cards, magnetic
tape, photographs, microphotographs, or any other information storage device, provided that the records so kept
can be converted into clearly legible form within a reasonable time. The Corporation shall so convert any records
so kept upon the request of any person entitled to inspect the same.

5.  Checks.  All checks, drafts, notes and other orders for the payment of money shall be signed by such officer or
officers or agents as from time to time may be designated by the Board of Directors or by such officers of the
Corporation as may be designated by the Board to make such designation.

6.  Fiscal Year.  The fiscal year shall begin the first day of January in each year.
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APPENDIX D

Set forth below are the provisions of the Idaho Business Corporation Act relating to Appraisal Rights

30-1-1301. DEFINITIONS. In this part:
(1)  "Affiliate" means a person that directly or indirectly through one (1) or more intermediaries controls, is controlled

by, or is under common control with another person or is a senior executive thereof. For purposes of section
30-1-1302(2)(d), Idaho Code, a person is deemed to be an affiliate of its senior executives.

(2)  "Beneficial shareholder" means a person who is the beneficial owner of shares held in a voting trust or by a
nominee on the beneficial owner’s behalf.

(3)  "Corporation" means the issuer of the shares held by a shareholder demanding appraisal and, for matters covered
in sections 30-1-1322 through 30-1-1331, Idaho Code, includes the surviving entity in a merger.

(4)  "Fair value" means the value of the corporation’s shares determined:
(a)  Immediately before the effectuation of the corporate action to which the shareholder objects;

(b)  Using customary and current valuation concepts and techniques generally employed for similar businesses in the
context of the transaction requiring appraisal; and

(c)  Without discounting for lack of marketability or minority status except, if appropriate, for amendments to the
articles pursuant to section 30-1-1302(1)(e), Idaho Code.

(5)  "Interest" means interest from the effective date of the corporate action until the date of payment, at the rate of
interest on judgments in this state on the effective date of the corporate action.

(6)  "Preferred shares" means a class or series of shares whose holders have preference over any other class or series
with respect to distributions.

(7)  "Record shareholder" means the person in whose name shares are registered in the records of the corporation or
the beneficial owner of shares to the extent of the rights granted by a nominee certificate on file with the
corporation.

(8)  "Senior executive" means the chief executive officer, chief operating officer, chief financial officer, and anyone in
charge of a principal business unit or function.

(9)  "Shareholder" means both a record shareholder and a beneficial shareholder.

30-1-1302. RIGHT TO APPRAISAL.
(1)  A shareholder is entitled to appraisal rights, and to obtain payment of the fair value of that shareholder’s shares, in

the event of, any of the following corporate actions:
(a)  Consummation of a merger to which the corporation is a party:

(i)  If shareholder approval is required for the merger by section 30-1-1104, Idaho Code, and the shareholder is
entitled to vote on the merger, except that appraisal rights shall not be available to any shareholder of the
corporation with respect to shares of any class or series that remain outstanding after consummation of the merger;
or

(ii)  If the corporation is a subsidiary and the merger is governed by section 30-1-1105, Idaho Code;
(b)  Consummation of a share exchange to which the corporation is a party as the corporation whose shares will be

acquired, if the shareholder is entitled to vote on the exchange, except that appraisal rights shall not be available
to any shareholder of the corporation with respect to any class or series of shares of the corporation that is not
exchanged;

(c)  Consummation of a disposition of assets pursuant to section 30-1-1202, Idaho Code, if the shareholder is entitled
to vote on the disposition;

(d)  An amendment of the articles of incorporation with respect to a class or series of shares that reduces the number
of shares of a class or series owned by the shareholder to a fraction of a share if the corporation has the obligation
or right to repurchase the fractional share so created; or

(e)  Any other amendment to the articles of incorporation, merger, share exchange or disposition of assets to the
extent provided by the articles of incorporation, bylaws or a resolution of the board of directors.
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(2)  Notwithstanding subsection (1) of this section, the availability of appraisal rights under subsections (1)(a), (b), (c)
and (d) shall be limited in accordance with the following provisions:

(a)  Appraisal rights shall not be available for the holders of shares of any class or series of shares which are:
(i)  Listed on the New York stock exchange or the American stock exchange or designated as a national market

system security on an interdealer quotation system by the national association of securities dealers, inc.; or
(ii)  Not so listed or designated, but have at least two thousand (2,000) shareholders and the outstanding shares of such

class or series have a market value of at least twenty million dollars ($20,000,000), exclusive of the value of such
shares held by its subsidiaries, senior executives, directors and beneficial shareholders owning more than ten
percent (10%) of such shares.

(b)  The applicability of subsection (2)(a) of this section shall be determined as of:
(i)  The record date fixed to determine the shareholders entitled to receive notice of, and vote at, the meeting of

shareholders to act upon the corporate action requiring appraisal rights; or
(ii)  The day before the effective date of such corporate action if there is no meeting of shareholders.

(c)  Subsection (2)(a) of this section shall not be applicable and appraisal rights shall be available pursuant to
subsection (1) of this section for the holders of any class or series of shares who are required by the terms of the
corporate action requiring appraisal rights to accept for such shares anything other than cash or shares of any class
or any series of shares of any corporation, or any other proprietary interest of any other entity, that satisfies the
standards set forth in subsection (2)(a) of this section at the time the corporate action becomes effective.

(d)  Subsection (2)(a) of this section shall not be applicable and appraisal rights shall be available pursuant to
subsection (1) of this section for the holders of any class or series of shares where:

(i)  Any of the shares or assets of the corporation are being acquired or converted, whether by merger, share exchange
or otherwise, pursuant to the corporate action by a person, or by an affiliate of a person, who:

(A)  Is, or at any time in the one (1) year period immediately preceding approval by the board of directors of the
corporate action requiring appraisal rights was, the beneficial owner of twenty percent (20%) or more of the
voting power of the corporation, excluding any shares acquired pursuant to an offer for all shares having voting
power if such offer was made within one (1) year prior to the corporate action requiring appraisal rights for
consideration of the same kind and of a value equal to or less than that paid in connection with the corporate
action; or

(B)  Directly or indirectly has, or at any time in the one (1) year period immediately preceding approval by the board
of directors of the corporation of the corporate action requiring appraisal rights had, the power, contractually or
otherwise, to cause the appointment or election of twenty-five percent (25%) or more of the directors to the board
of directors of the corporation; or

(ii)  Any of the shares or assets of the corporation are being acquired or converted, whether by merger, share exchange
or otherwise, pursuant to such corporate action by a person, or by an affiliate of a person, who is, or at any time in
the one (1) year period immediately preceding approval by the board of directors of the corporate action requiring
appraisal rights was, a senior executive or director of the corporation or a senior executive of any affiliate thereof,
and that senior executive or director will receive, as a result of the corporate action, a financial benefit not
generally available to other shareholders as such, other than:

(A)  Employment, consulting, retirement or similar benefits established separately and not as part of or in
contemplation of the corporate action; or
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(B)  Employment, consulting, retirement or similar benefits established in contemplation of, or as part of, the
corporate action that are not more favorable than those existing before the corporate action or, if more favorable,
that have been approved on behalf of the corporation in the same manner as is provided in section 30-1-862,
Idaho Code; or

(C)  In the case of a director of the corporation who will, in the corporate action, become a director of the acquiring
entity in the corporate action or one (1) of its affiliates, rights and benefits as a director that are provided on the
same basis as those afforded by the acquiring entity generally to other directors of such entity or such affiliate.

(e)  For the purposes of subsection (2)(d) of this section only, the term "beneficial owner" means any person who,
directly or indirectly, through any contract, arrangement, or understanding, other than a revocable proxy, has or
shares the power to vote, or to direct the voting of, shares, provided that a member of a national securities
exchange shall not be deemed to be a beneficial owner of securities held directly or indirectly by it on behalf of
another person solely because such member is the record holder of such securities if the member is precluded by
the rules of such exchange from voting without instruction on contested matters or matters that may affect
substantially the rights or privileges of the holders of the securities to be voted. When two (2) or more persons
agree to act together for the purpose of voting their shares of the corporation, each member of the group formed
thereby shall be deemed to have acquired beneficial ownership, as of the date of such agreement, of all voting
shares of the corporation beneficially owned by any member of the group.

(3)  Notwithstanding any other provision of this section, the articles of incorporation as originally filed or any
amendment thereto may limit or eliminate appraisal rights for any class or series of preferred shares, but any such
limitation or elimination contained in an amendment to the articles of incorporation that limits or eliminates
appraisal rights for any of such shares that are outstanding immediately prior to the effective date of such
amendment or that the corporation is or may be required to issue or sell thereafter pursuant to any conversion,
exchange or other right existing immediately before the effective date of such amendment shall not apply to any
corporate action that becomes effective within one (1) year of that date if such action would otherwise afford
appraisal rights.
(4)  A shareholder entitled to appraisal rights under this part may not challenge a completed corporate action for

which appraisal rights are available unless such corporate action:
(a)  Was not effectuated in accordance with the applicable provisions of part 10, 11 or 12 of this chapter or the

corporation’s articles of incorporation, bylaws or board of directors’ resolution authorizing the corporate action; or
(b)  Was procured as a result of fraud or material misrepresentation

30-1-1303.ASSERTION OF RIGHTS BY NOMINEES AND BENEFICIAL OWNERS.
(1)  A record shareholder may assert appraisal rights as to fewer than all the shares registered in the record

shareholder’s name but owned by a beneficial shareholder only if the record shareholder objects with respect to all
shares of the class or series owned by the beneficial shareholder and notifies the corporation in writing of the
name and address of each beneficial shareholder on whose behalf appraisal rights are being asserted. The rights of
a record shareholder who asserts appraisal rights for only part of the shares held of record in the record
shareholder’s name under this subsection shall be determined as if the shares as to which the record shareholder
objects and the record shareholder’s other shares were registered in the names of different record shareholders.

(2)  A beneficial shareholder may assert appraisal rights as to shares held on behalf of the shareholder only if such
shareholder:

(a)  Submits to the corporation the record shareholder’s written consent to the assertion of such rights no later than the
date referred to in section 30-1-1322(2)(b)(ii), Idaho Code; and

(b)  Does so with respect to all shares of the class or series that are beneficially owned by the beneficial shareholder.
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30-1-1320.NOTICE OF APPRAISAL RIGHTS.
(1)  If proposed corporate action described in section 30-1-1302(1), Idaho Code, is to be submitted to a vote at a

shareholders’ meeting, the meeting notice must state that the corporation has concluded that shareholders are, are
not or may be entitled to assert appraisal rights under this part. If the corporation concludes that appraisal rights
are or may be available, a copy of this part must accompany the meeting notice sent to those record shareholders
entitled to exercise appraisal rights.

(2)  In a merger pursuant to section 30-1-1105, Idaho Code, the parent corporation must notify in writing all record
shareholders of the subsidiary who are entitled to assert appraisal rights that the corporate action became
effective. Such notice must be sent within ten (10) days after the corporate action became effective and include
the materials described in section 30-1-1322, Idaho Code.

30-1-1321.NOTICE OF INTENT TO DEMAND PAYMENT.
(1)  If proposed corporate action requiring appraisal rights under section 30-1-1302, Idaho Code, is submitted to a

vote at a shareholders’ meeting, a shareholder who wishes to assert appraisal rights with respect to any class or
series of shares:

(a)  Must deliver to the corporation before the vote is taken written notice of the shareholder’s intent to demand
payment if the proposed action is effectuated; and

(b)  Must not vote, or cause or permit to be voted, any shares of such class or series in favor of the proposed action.
(2)  A shareholder who does not satisfy the requirements of subsection (1) of this section is not entitled to payment

under this part.

30-1-1322.APPRAISAL NOTICE AND FORM.
(1)  If proposed corporate action requiring appraisal rights under section 30-1-1302, Idaho Code, becomes effective,

the corporation must deliver a written appraisal notice and form required by subsection (2)(a) of this section to all
shareholders who satisfied the requirements of section 30-1-1321, Idaho Code. In the case of a merger under
section 30-1-1105, Idaho Code, the parent must deliver a written appraisal notice and form to all record
shareholders who may be entitled to assert appraisal rights.

(2)  The appraisal notice must be sent no earlier than the date the corporate action became effective and no later than
ten (10) days after such date and must:

(a)  Supply a form that specifies the date of the first announcement to shareholders of the principal terms of the
proposed corporate action and requires the shareholder asserting appraisal rights to certify:

(i)  Whether or not beneficial ownership of those shares for which appraisal rights are asserted was acquired before
that date; and

(ii) That the shareholder did not vote for the transaction;
(b)  State:

(i)  Where the form must be sent and where certificates for certificated shares must be deposited and the date by
which those certificates must be deposited, which date may not be earlier than the date for receiving the required
form under subsection (2)(b)(ii) of this section;

(ii)      A date by which the corporation must receive the form, which date may not be fewer than forty (40) nor more
than sixty (60) days after the date the appraisal notice and form in subsection (1) of this section are sent, and state that
the shareholder shall have waived the right to demand appraisal with respect to the shares unless the form is received
by the corporation by such specified date;

(iii)  The corporation’s estimate of the fair value of the shares;
(iv)  That, if requested in writing, the corporation will provide, to the shareholders so requesting, within ten (10) days

after the date specified in subsection (2)(b)(ii) of this section the number of shareholders who return the forms by
the specified date and the total number of shares owned by them; and

(v)  The date by which the notice to withdraw under section 30-1-1323, Idaho Code, must be received, which date
must be within twenty (20) days after the date specified in subsection (2)(b)(ii) of this section; and

(c)  Be accompanied by a copy of this part.

Edgar Filing: BANK OF MONTREAL /CAN/ - Form 424B2

167



D - 83

Edgar Filing: BANK OF MONTREAL /CAN/ - Form 424B2

168



30-1-1323.PERFECTION OF RIGHTS -- RIGHT TO WITHDRAW.
(1)  A shareholder who receives notice pursuant to section 30-1-1322, Idaho Code, and who wishes to exercise

appraisal rights must certify on the form sent by the corporation whether the beneficial owner of such shares
acquired beneficial ownership of the shares before the date required to be set forth in the notice pursuant to
section 30-1-1322(2)(a), Idaho Code. If a shareholder fails to make this certification, the corporation may elect to
treat the shareholder’s shares as after-acquired shares under section 30-1-1325, Idaho Code. In addition, a
shareholder who wishes to exercise appraisal rights must execute and return the form and, in the case of
certificated shares, deposit the shareholder’s certificates in accordance with the terms of the notice by the date
referred to in the notice pursuant to section 30-1-1322(2)(b)(ii), Idaho Code. Once a shareholder deposits that
shareholder’s certificates or, in the case of uncertificated shares, returns the executed forms, that shareholder loses
all rights as a shareholder, unless the shareholder withdraws pursuant to subsection (2) of this section.

(2)  A shareholder who has complied with subsection (1) of this section may nevertheless decline to exercise appraisal
rights and withdraw from the appraisal process by so notifying the corporation in writing by the date set forth in
the appraisal notice pursuant to section 30-1-1322(2)(b)(v), Idaho Code. A shareholder who fails to so withdraw
from the appraisal process may not thereafter withdraw without the corporation’s written consent.

(3)  A shareholder who does not execute and return the form and, in the case of certificated shares, deposit that
shareholder’s share certificates where required, each by the date set forth in the notice described in section
30-1-1322(2), Idaho Code, shall not be entitled to payment under this part.

30-1-1324.PAYMENT.
(1)  Except as provided in section 30-1-1325, Idaho Code, within thirty (30) days after the form required by section

30-1-1322(2)(b)(ii), Idaho Code, is due, the corporation shall pay in cash to those shareholders who complied
with section 30-1-1323(1), Idaho Code, the amount the corporation estimates to be the fair value of their shares,
plus interest.
(2)  The payment to each shareholder pursuant to subsection (1) of this section must be accompanied by:

(a)  Financial statements of the corporation that issued the shares to be appraised, consisting of a balance sheet as of
the end of a fiscal year ending not more than sixteen (16) months before the date of payment, an income statement
for that year, a statement of changes in shareholders’ equity for that year, and the latest available interim financial
statements, if any;

(b)  A statement of the corporation’s estimate of the fair value of the shares, which estimate must equal or exceed the
corporation’s estimate given pursuant to section 30-1-1322(2)(b)(iii), Idaho Code; and

(c)  A statement that shareholders described in subsection (1) of this section have the right to demand further payment
under section 30-1-1326, Idaho Code, and that if any shareholder does not do so within the time period specified
therein, such shareholder shall be deemed to have accepted such payment in full satisfaction of the corporation’s
obligations under this part.

30-1-1325.AFTER-ACQUIRED SHARES.
(1)  A corporation may elect to withhold payment required by section 30-1-1324, Idaho Code, from any shareholder

who did not certify that beneficial ownership of all of the shareholder’s shares for which appraisal rights are
asserted was acquired before the date set forth in the appraisal notice sent pursuant to section 30-1-1322(2)(a),
Idaho Code.

(2)  If the corporation elected to withhold payment under subsection (1) of this section, it must, within thirty (30) days
after the form required by section 30-1-1322(2)(b)(ii), Idaho Code, is due, notify all shareholders who are
described in subsection (1) of this section:

(a)  Of the information required by section 30-1-1324(2)(a), Idaho Code;
(b)  Of the corporation’s estimate of fair value pursuant to section 39-1-1324(2)(b) [30-1-1324(2)(b)], Idaho Code;
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(c)  That they may accept the corporation’s estimate of fair value, plus interest, in full satisfaction of their demands or
demand appraisal under section 30-1-1326, Idaho Code;

(d)  That those shareholders who wish to accept such offer must so notify the corporation of their acceptance of the
corporation’s offer within thirty (30) days after receiving the offer; and

(d)  That those shareholders who do not satisfy the requirements for demanding appraisal under section 30-1-1326,
Idaho Code, shall be deemed to have accepted the corporation’s offer.

(3)  Within ten (10) days after receiving the shareholder’s acceptance pursuant to subsection (2) of this section, the
corporation must pay in cash the amount it offered under subsection (2)(b) of this section to each shareholder who
agreed to accept the corporation’s offer in full satisfaction of the shareholder’s demand.

(4)  Within forty (40) days after sending the notice described in subsection (2) of this section, the corporation must
pay in cash the amount it offered to pay under subsection (2)(b) of this section to each shareholder described in
subsection (2)(e) of this section.

30-1-1326.PROCEDURE IF SHAREHOLDER DISSATISFIED WITH PAYMENT OR OFFER.
(1)  A shareholder paid pursuant to section 30-1-1324, Idaho Code, who is dissatisfied with the amount of the

payment must notify the corporation in writing of that shareholder’s estimate of the fair value of the shares and
demand payment of that estimate plus interest, less any payment under section 30-1-1324, Idaho Code. A
shareholder offered payment under section 30-1-1325, Idaho Code, who is dissatisfied with that offer must reject
the offer and demand payment of the shareholder’s stated estimate of the fair value of the shares plus interest.

(2)  A shareholder who fails to notify the corporation in writing of that shareholder’s demand to be paid the
shareholder’s stated estimate of the fair value plus interest under subsection (1) of this section within thirty (30)
days after receiving the corporation’s payment or offer of payment under section 30-1-1324 or 30-1-1325, Idaho
Code, respectively, waives the right to demand payment under this section and shall be entitled only to the
payment made or offered pursuant to those respective sections.

30-1-1330.COURT ACTION.
(1)  If a shareholder makes demand for payment under section 30-1-1326, Idaho Code, which remains unsettled, the

corporation shall commence a proceeding within sixty (60) days after receiving the payment demand and petition
the court to determine the fair value of the shares and accrued interest. If the corporation does not commence the
proceeding within the sixty-day period, it shall pay in cash to each shareholder the amount demanded pursuant to
section 30-1-1326, Idaho Code, plus interest.

(2)  The corporation shall commence the proceeding in the appropriate court of the county where the corporation’s
principal office is located, or, if none in this state, Ada county. If the corporation is a foreign corporation, it shall
commence the proceeding in the county in this state where the principal office of the domestic corporation
merged with the foreign corporation was located or, if the domestic corporation did not have its principal office in
this state at the time of the transaction, in Ada county.

(3)  The corporation shall make all shareholders, whether or not residents of this state, whose demands remain
unsettled parties to the proceeding, as in an action against their shares, and all parties must be served with a copy
of the petition. Nonresidents may be served by registered or certified mail or by publication as provided by law.

(4)  The jurisdiction of the court in which the proceeding is commenced under subsection (2) of this section is plenary
and exclusive. The court may appoint one (1) or more persons as appraisers to receive evidence and recommend a
decision on the question of fair value. The appraisers shall have the powers described in the order appointing
them, or in any amendment to it. The shareholders demanding appraisal rights are entitled to the same discovery
rights as parties in other civil proceedings. There shall be no right to a jury trial.

(5)  Each shareholder made a party to the proceeding is entitled to judgment:
(a)  For the amount, if any, by which the court finds the fair value of the shareholder’s shares, plus interest, exceeds the

amount paid by the corporation to the shareholder for such shares; or
(b)  For the fair value, plus interest, of the shareholder’s shares for which the corporation elected to withhold payment

under section 30-1-1325, Idaho Code.
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30-1-1331.COURT COSTS AND COUNSEL FEES.
(1)  The court in an appraisal proceeding commenced under section 30-1-1330, Idaho Code, shall determine all costs

of the proceeding, including the reasonable compensation and expenses of appraisers appointed by the court. The
court shall assess the costs against the corporation, except that the court may assess costs against all or some of
the shareholders demanding appraisal, in amounts the court finds equitable, to the extent the court finds such
shareholders acted arbitrarily, vexatiously, or not in good faith with respect to the rights provided by this part.

(2)  The court in an appraisal proceeding may also assess the fees and expenses of counsel and experts for the
respective parties, in amounts the court finds equitable:

(a)  Against the corporation and in favor of any or all shareholders demanding appraisal if the court finds the
corporation did not substantially comply with the requirements of section 30-1-1320, 30-1-1322, 30-1-1324 or
30-1-1325, Idaho Code; or

(b)  Against either the corporation or a shareholder demanding appraisal, in favor of any other party, if the court finds
that the party against whom the fees and expenses are assessed acted arbitrarily, vexatiously, or not in good faith
with respect to the rights provided by this part.

(3)  If the court in an appraisal proceeding finds that the services of counsel for any shareholder were of substantial
benefit to other shareholders similarly situated, and that the fees for those services should not be assessed against
the corporation, the court may award to such counsel reasonable fees to be paid out of the amounts awarded to
shareholders who were benefited.

(4)  To the extent the corporation fails to make a required payment pursuant to section 30-1-1324, 30-1-1325 or
30-1-1326, Idaho Code, the shareholder may sue directly for the amount owed and, to the extent successful, shall
be entitled to recover from the corporation all costs and expenses of the suit, including counsel fees.
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ATLAS MINING
COMPANY
110 GREENE ST – STE
1101
NEW YORK, NY  10012

VOTE BY INTERNET – www.proxyvote.com
Use the internet to transmit your voting instructions and
for electronic delivery of information up until 11:59 P.M.
Eastern Time the day before the cut-off date or meeting
date.  Have your proxy card in hand when you access the
web site and follow the instructions to obtain your records
and to create an electronic voting instruction form.

ELECTRONIC DELIVERY OF FUTURE PROXY
MATERIALS
If you would like to reduce the costs incurred by our
company in mailing proxy materials, you can consent to
receiving all future proxy statements, proxy cards and
annual reports electronically via e-mail or the Internet.  To
sign up for electronic delivery, please follow the
instructions above to vote using the internet and, when
prompted, indicate that you agree to receive or access
proxy materials electronically in future years.

VOTE BY PHONE — 1-800-690-6903
Use any touch-tone telephone to transmit your voting
instructions up until 11:59 P.M. Eastern Time the day
before the cut-off date or meeting date.  Have your proxy
card in hand when you call and then follow the
instructions.

VOTE BY MAIL
Mark, sign and date your proxy card and return it in the
postage-paid envelope we have provided or return it to
Vote Processing, c/o Broadridge, 51 Mercedes Way,
Edgewood, NY, 11717.
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TO VOTE, MARK BLOCKS IN BLUE OR BLACK INK AS FOLLOWS

ATLAS MINING COMPANY

IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING THE AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIALS FOR THE ANNUAL
MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS TO BE HELD ON OCTOBER 27, 2009: The Notice of Annual Meeting of
Shareholders, Proxy Statement and the Annual Report to Shareholder are available on the following
website:  www.proxyvote.com.

◄ FOLD AND DETACH HERE ►
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Please mark your votes as indicated in this example:

Proposal 1 -                      Election of Directors
The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR five nominees for Director to serve until the 2010 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders

FOR AGAINST WITHHOLD
1.1 ANDRE ZEITOUN o o o
1.2 DAVID TAFT o o o
1.3 MORRIS WEISS o o o
1.4 EVAN STONE o o o
1.5 JOHN LEVY o o o

Proposal 2
-

To approve an amendment of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation to change the name of the Company
to Applied Minerals, Inc.

FOR AGAINST WITHHOLD
Proposal 2 o o o

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR the Amendment.

Proposal 3
-

To approve an amendment of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation to increase the authorized number of
shares of Company Common Stock from 60,000,000 to 120,000,000

FOR AGAINST WITHHOLD
Proposal 3 o o o

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR the Amendment.

Proposal 4
-

To approve an amendment of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation to authorize preferred stock whose
terms can be determined by the board of directors

FOR AGAINST WITHHOLD
Proposal 4 o o o

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR the Amendment

Proposal 5
-

To approve an amendment of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation to provide that the number of
directors is to be fixed from time to time by resolution of the Board of Directors pursuant to a resolution

FOR AGAINST WITHHOLD
Proposal 5 o o o

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR the Amendment.
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Proposal 6
-

To approve the reincorporation of the Company into the State of Delaware through a merger with a
newly-formed, wholly-owned Delaware subsidiary

FOR AGAINST WITHHOLD
Proposal 6 o o o

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR the Reincorporation

Signature must be that of him/herself. If shares are held jointly, each shareholder named should sign. If the signer is a
corporation, please sign the full corporate name by duly authorized officer. If the signer is a partnership, please sign
partnership name by authorized person. Executors, administrators, trustees, guardians, attorneys-in-fact, etc., should
so indicate when signing.

Signature Signature

Date

NOTE: Please sign as name appears hereon. Joint owners should each sign. When signing as attorney, executor,
administrator, trustee or guardian, please give full title as such.

Mark Here for Address Change or Comments (SEE REVERSE)  □

◄ FOLD AND DETACH HERE ►
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SOLICITED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
ATLAS MINING COMPANY

ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
OCTOBER 27, 2009

The undersigned hereby appoints Andre Zeitoun and Christopher T. Carney or either of them, with power of
substitution, proxies for the undersigned and authorizes them to represent and vote, as designated, all the shares of
stock of the Company which the undersigned may be entitled to vote at Grand Hyatt New York, 109 East 42nd Street,
New York, NY, 10017 on October 27, 2009, at 3:00 p.m., Eastern Time Zone, and at any adjournment of such
meeting, for the following purposes and with discretionary authority as to any other matters that may properly come
before the meeting, as recommended by the Board of Directors, all in accordance with and as described in the Notice
and accompanying Proxy Statement.

If this Proxy is executed by you without indicating voting instructions then it will be deemed to grant authority to vote
FOR the nominees for director, FOR each of the amendments to the Articles of Incorporation set forth in Proposals 2,
3, 4, and 5, and FOR the reincorporation.

THIS PROXY IS SOLICITED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS. A majority of said proxies, including any
substitutes, or if only one of them be present then that one, may exercise all powers granted hereunder at said meeting
or any adjournment thereof. This proxy revokes any proxy to vote such shares at such meeting or any adjournment
thereof heretofore given by the undersigned to anyone other than those named above.

Address Change/Comments
(Mark the corresponding box on the reverse side)

(Continued and to be marked, dated and signed, on the other side)
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THE FOLLOWING MATERIALS ARE FILED PURSUANT TO NOTE D.4. OF SCHEDULE 14A. THE
FOLLOWING MATERIALS ARE INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE INTO THE PROXY STATEMENT, BUT
ARE NOT SET FORTH IN THE PROXY STATEMENT.
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